# DEVELOPMENT OF SYNTHETIC ROUTES FOR CARBON-CARBON AND CARBON-HETEROATOM BOND FORMATION UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS

Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

SUBRAHMANYA ISHWAR BHAT



# **DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY**

# NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY KARNATAKA,

# SURATHKAL, MANGALORE - 575 025

JULY, 2013

# DEVELOPMENT OF SYNTHETIC ROUTES FOR CARBON-CARBON AND CARBON-HETEROATOM BOND FORMATION UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS

Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

by

SUBRAHMANYA ISHWAR BHAT



## **DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY**

# NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY KARNATAKA,

# SURATHKAL, MANGALORE - 575 025

JULY, 2013

## DECLARATION

I hereby *declare* that the Research Thesis entitled "DEVELOPMENT OF SYNTHETIC ROUTES FOR CARBON-CARBON AND CARBON-HETEROATOM BOND FORMATION UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS" Which is being submitted to the **National Institute of Technology Karnataka, Surathkal** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the Degree of **Doctor of Philosophy** in Chemistry is a *bonafide report of the research work carried out by me*. The material contained in this Research Thesis has not been submitted to any University or Institution for the award of any degree.

> Subrahmanya Ishwar Bhat Register Number: 092021CY09F06,

Department of Chemistry

Place: NITK, Surathkal

Date:

## CERTIFICATE

This is to *certify* that the Research Thesis entitled "DEVELOPMENT OF SYNTHETIC ROUTES FOR CARBON-CARBON AND CARBON-HETEROATOM BOND FORMATION UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS" submitted by Subrahmanya Ishwar Bhat (Register Number: 092021CY09F06) as the record of the research work carried out by him, is *accepted as the Research Thesis submission* in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**.

> Dr. Darshak R. Trivedi Research Guide

Chairman- DRPC

# DEDICATED TO MY BELOVED PARENTS FAMILY MEMBERS & ALL OF MY FRIENDS

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is my great pleasure to express my acknowledgement to all those who have assisted me directly and indirectly throughout my research work.

First and foremost, I express my whole hearted sincere thanks to my research supervisor, Dr. Darshak R. Trivedi, for his guidance, support, encouragement, and inspiration throughout the research career and I personally feel the present work would not have been possible unless his valuable support. He taught me everything he knows and always encouraged me to think creatively and be prepared to learn new scientific methods. I am grateful to him for all the ways in which he has prepared me to move forward in my career and life.

I am very sincerely obliged to NITK-Surathkal, for providing financial assistance and providing all the necessary facilities to make the research peaceful.

I would like to thank Prof. A.C. Hegde, Head, Department of Chemistry and Chairman DRPC and Members of the RPAC Committee Prof. A. N. Shetty, Department of Chemistry and Dr. I. Regupathi, Department of Chemical Engineering, for spending their precious time to attend my seminars, valuable suggestions and having fruitful discussions.

I thank Prof. A. V. Adhikari, Prof. B. R. Bhat, Prof. D. K. Bhat, Dr. A. M. Isloor and Dr. Udaya Kumar, for their encouragement, help and moral support.

I wish to place on record my sincere thanks to my research colleagues, Mr. Madhuprasad and Mrs. Madhavi and all other research scholars in the department who extended me all round support during my Ph.D. programme. All are hard-working, enthusiastic, thoughtful, and warm-hearted. With them working around, my PhD course got colourful and fruitful.

I am very much thankful to IISc Bangaluru, CSMCRI Bhavnagar, SAIF Panjab University, IISER Mohali, IACS Kolkata, MIT Manipal for providing analytical support. It is well said 'friends in need are friends indeed'. I am truly indebted to all my friends for their extensive help during the difficult time of my life over here which truly facilitated me to overcome the problems.

I am really thankful to Dr. Chinmay Bhat (Goa University), Dr. Harish (JSSM), Dr. M. S. Santosh (Al-Ameen, Bangalore), Dr. Vishnumurthy (IISc) and Dr. Murali M. G. (IISc) who helped tremendously for my literature work.

I will not be complete without mentioning my gratitude to the non-teaching staff members of Chemistry Department Mrs. Kasthuri R., Mr. Prashant, Mrs. Sharmila, Mr. Ashok, Mr. Pradeep, Mr. Harish and Ms. Deepa for their timely help in the department.

Finally, I dedicate this work to my family. Especially, to my mother Smt. Gangu, for devoting herself to our family and giving her children all her care and love. I ever remember the good wishes, constant encouragement and priceless support in each and every ways received from my father Sri Ishwar Bhat, my brother Sri Ganesh Bhat, sister in-law Smt. Chaitra and other family members.

Finally, I thank and remember each and every person who helped me directly or indirectly in my career.

#### Mr. Subrahmanya Ishwar Bhat

#### ABSTRACT

The toxicity and volatile nature of organic solvents that are widely used in huge amounts for chemical transformations have posed a serious threat to the environment. With the growing awareness in industry and academia for the sustainable development, the development of solvent-free reaction has received tremendous attention in recent years under the title "Green Chemistry".

Five different chemical transformations viz., aza-Michael addition of amines to  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated acids, Knoevenagel condensation of salicylaldehydes and *o*-aminobenzaldehydes with malononitrile, cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction of 4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one, aldehydes and several active methylene compounds, one-pot, three-component reactions for the synthesis of quinazolines and densely functionalized pyrroles have been studied under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions during the present investigation.

All the newly synthesized compounds have been characterized using FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, mass spectral and elemental analyses. Also, structures of a few target molecules have been confirmed by X-ray crystallographic analysis.

From the results, it has been observed that, the organic transformations proceed faster and to a high degree of completion when the reaction occurred via homogeneous melt formation. However, the success of the reaction depends on the reactivity of the starting materials. The greener advantages of solvent- and catalyst-free reactions over conventional protocols are: easy reaction of poor soluble reactants, short reaction time, high product yield, avoidance of (i) distillation of solvents for reaction, (ii) hazardous solvents in reaction, (iii) solvent evaporation from the reaction mixture, (iv) tedious synthesis of catalysts, (v) solvent usage for catalyst separation.

**Key-Words:** Green Chemistry; Solvent-free; Catalyst-free; Michael addition; Knoevenagel condensation; One-pot; Multicomponent reaction; Cascade reaction; Mechanical activation; Thermal activation.

# CONTENTS

DECLARATION CERTIFICATE		
ACKNOE	LEDGEMENTS	
ABSTRA	CT	
CONTEN	TS	i
NOMENO	CLATURE	V
CHAPTE	R 1	
<b>GENERA</b> <b>OBJECTI</b>	L INTRODUCTION, LITERATURE REVIEW, SCOPE AND VES	
1.1 INTI	RODUCTION	1
1.2 HIST	TORY	1
1.3 TWE	ELVE PRINCIPLES OF GREEN CHEMISTRY	2
1.3.1	Prevention	2
1.3.2	Atom Economy	2
1.3.3	Less Hazardous Chemical Synthesis	2
1.3.4	Designing Safer Chemicals	2
1.3.5	Safer Solvents and Auxiliaries	2
1.3.6	Design for Energy Efficiency	3
1.3.7	Use of Renewable Feedstock's	3
1.3.8	Reduce Derivatives	3
1.3.9	Catalysis	3
1.3.10	Design for Degradation	3
1.3.11	Real-Time Analysis for Pollution Prevention	3
1.3.12	Inherently Safer Chemistry for Accident Prevention	3
1.4 AN A	ALTERNATE APPROACH TO SOLVENT CHEMISTRY	4
1.4.1	Mechanistic Considerations in Solvent-Free Reactions	5
1.4.2	Microwave Irradiation	6
1.4.3	Ultrasound Irradiation	6
1.4.4	Mechanochemistry	6

1.4.5 Conventional Thermal Heating	9
	)
1.4.6 Work-up of Solvent-Free Reactions	9
1.5 MULTICOMPONENT REACTIONS	10
1.6 LITERATURE REVIEW	10
1.7 SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES OF THE PRESENT WORK	28
CHAPTER 2 A FACILE, SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE SYNTHESIS OF N- SUBSTITUTED $\beta$ -AMINOBUTYRIC ACIDS BY AZA-MICHAEL ADDITI	ON
2.1 INTRODUCTION	31
2.2 EXPERIMENTAL	33
2.2.1 General	33
2.2.2 Typical procedure for the reaction between amines and $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids	33
2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	41
2.4 CONCLUSION	47
CONDENSATION OF MALONONITRILE WITH SALICYLALDEHYDES AND O-AMINOBENZALDEHYDES: SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE SYNTHESIS OF 4H-CHROMENES AND QUINOLINES	,
3.1 INTRODUCTION	49
3.2 EXPERIMENTAL	
	50
3.2.1 General	50 50
<ul><li>3.2.1 General</li><li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li></ul>	50 50 51
<ul> <li>3.2.1 General</li> <li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li> <li>3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>4</li> </ul>	50 50 51 51
<ul> <li>3.2.1 General</li> <li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li> <li>3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>4</li> <li>3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</li> </ul>	50 50 51 51 58
<ul> <li>3.2.1 General</li> <li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li> <li>3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>4</li> <li>3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</li> <li>3.4 CONCLUSION</li> </ul>	50 50 51 51 58 67
<ul> <li>3.2.1 General</li> <li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li> <li>3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>4</li> <li>3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</li> <li>3.4 CONCLUSION</li> <li>CHAPTER 4</li> <li>A HIGHLY EFFICIENT AND GREEN CASCADE SYNTHESIS OF 3- METHYL-SUBSTITUTED-4-HYDROXY-1-METHYL-QUINOLIN-2(1<i>H</i>)- ONES UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS</li> </ul>	50 50 51 51 58 67
<ul> <li>3.2.1 General</li> <li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li> <li>3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>4</li> <li>3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</li> <li>3.4 CONCLUSION</li> <li>CHAPTER 4</li> <li>A HIGHLY EFFICIENT AND GREEN CASCADE SYNTHESIS OF 3- METHYL-SUBSTITUTED-4-HYDROXY-1-METHYL-QUINOLIN-2(1<i>H</i>)- ONES UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS</li> <li>4.1 INTRODUCTION</li> </ul>	50 50 51 51 58 67
<ul> <li>3.2.1 General</li> <li>3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>3</li> <li>3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of S<sub>2</sub>4</li> <li>3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</li> <li>3.4 CONCLUSION</li> <li>CHAPTER 4</li> <li>A HIGHLY EFFICIENT AND GREEN CASCADE SYNTHESIS OF 3- METHYL-SUBSTITUTED-4-HYDROXY-1-METHYL-QUINOLIN-2(1<i>H</i>)- ONES UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS</li> <li>4.1 INTRODUCTION</li> <li>4.2 EXPERIMENTAL</li> </ul>	50 50 51 51 58 67 69 71

4.2.1 General Procedure for the synthesis of MDBHQ derivatives ( $S_34$ )	71
4.2.2 General Procedure for the synthesis of $3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1H)-one derivatives (S35)$	71
4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	83
4.4 CONCLUSION	92
CHAPTER 5 AN EFFICIENT THREE COMPONENT, ONE-POT SYNTHESIS OF QUINAZOLINES UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE REACT CONDITION	ION
5.1 INTRODUCTION	93
5.2 EXPERIMENTAL	95
5.2.1 General	95
5.2.2 General Procedure for the synthesis of quinazoline derivatives	95
5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	107
5.4 CONCLUSION	114
A GREEN AND ONE-POT PROTOCOL FOR THE REGIOSELECTIVE SYNTHESIS OF POLYFUNCTIONALIZED PYRROLES	
6.1 INTRODUCTION	115
6.2 EXPERIMENTAL	117
6.2.1 General	117
6.2.2 General Procedure for the synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles ( $S_54$ )	117
6.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	126
6.4 CONCLUSION	133
CHAPTER 7 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
7.1 SUMMARY	135
7.2 CONCLUSIONS	137
7.3 SCOPE FOR FUTURE WORK	139
REFERENCES	141
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	164
CURRICULUM VITAE	165

#### NOMENCLATURE

#### ABBREVIATIONS

AFM	Atomic Force Microscope
AOCHQ	3-((2-amino-6-oxo-cyclohex-1-enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy1- methylquinolin-2(1 <i>H</i> )-one
ATR	Attenuated Total Reflectance
CDCl <sub>3</sub>	Deuterated Chloroform
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EAA	Ethyl acetoacetate
ESI	Electrospray Ionization
EWG	Electron Withdrawing Group
EtOAc	Ethyl acetate
EtOH	Ethanol
Fig.	Figure
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infra-Red
MCR	Multicomponnent Reaction
MDBHQ	3,3'-methanediylbis(4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin- $2(1H)$ -one
MeOH	Methanol
mp	Melting point
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
ORTEP	Oak ridge thermal ellipsoid plot program
PE	Petroleum Ether (bp 60-80 °C used throughout the work)
RB	Round Bottom
RT	Room Temperature

SCXRD	Single Crystal X-Ray Diffraction
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
TMS	Tetramethylsilane

#### SYMBOLS & UNIT

α	Alpha
Å	angstrom
β	Beta
cm	Centi meter
0	Degree
°C	Degree Celsius
γ	Gamma
g	Gram
Hz	hertz
h	Hour
-1	Inverse
λ	Lamda
<	Less than
L	Liter
m	Milli
М	Mega
min	Minute
μ	Mu
mol	Mole

ppm	Parts per million
%	Percent
θ	Theta
~	Tilde

# **CHAPTER 1**

# GENERAL INTRODUCTION, LITERATURE REVIEW, SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter includes brief Introduction to Green Chemistry and its principles. It also covers a brief account on solvent-free synthesis and activation methods involved in solvent-free reactions. Further, literature survey on solvent- and catalyst- free transformations, scope of the present research work and objectives are explained.

#### **1.1 INTRODUCTION**

Green chemistry is a multi-disciplinary concept that has emerged over the past two decades, initiated in academia and research & development, which has subsequently attracted chemical industry to a great extent. The rapid growth in this area highlights the drive towards less harmful and more energy efficient processes. In particular green chemistry refers to the use of sustainable resources, development of cleaner, non-toxic substances, and reformation of existing industrial processes within a green framework. The increase of interest in green chemistry has been driven in particular by the increasing desire for sustainable developments. This has led to increasing interest in environmentally friendly technologies and the adoption of green chemistry approaches in both academia and industry. Green chemistry was defined by Anastas and Warner (1998) as "the utilisation of a set of principles that reduces or eliminates the use or generation of hazardous substances in the design, manufacture and application of chemical products."

#### **1.2 HISTORY**

With the aim to develop more environmentally acceptable processes in chemical industry, the concept of green or sustainable chemistry was born around 1990. The US Pollution Prevention Act was initiated awareness of the need for innovative chemical technologies that accomplished pollution prevention in a scientifically sound manner. In1991, Paul Anastas coined the term and defined the field of "Green Chemistry". In the same year the first Green chemistry research programme, the "Alternative Synthetic Pathways" was launched. From the theoretical point of view, B. M. Trost proposed the concept of "atom economy" and R. Sheldon introduced "Efactor". These concepts initiated a new way of thinking about chemistry and quantitative support to compare the "greenness" of alternative products and processes. From a practical viewpoint, several endeavours aimed to promote green

chemistry activities got initiated. In 1997, P. T. Anastas and co-workers founded the Green Chemistry Institute, which worked closely with industries and universities on environmental issues, and expanded its international network to association of 27 nations. With the environmental consciousness, the field of green chemistry and its principles spread rapidly throughout the world. Less than two decades after its introduction, green chemistry issues are providing an enormous number of challenges and are the central concern of those who practice chemistry in industry, education and research.

#### 1.3 TWELVE PRINCIPLES OF GREEN CHEMISTRY

#### **1.3.1 Prevention**

It is better to prevent waste than to treat or clean up waste after it has been created.

#### 1.3.2 Atom Economy

Synthetic methods should be designed to maximize the incorporation of all materials used in the process into the final product. Trost (1991) introduced the term atom economy for the first time.

$$Atom Economy = \frac{Mass of desired product}{Total mass of all reagents}$$

#### 1.3.3 Less Hazardous Chemical Synthesis

Wherever practicable, synthetic methods should be designed to use and generate substances that possess little or no toxicity to people or the environment.

#### **1.3.4 Designing Safer Chemicals**

Chemical products should be designed to preserve the efficiency of function while minimizing their toxicity.

#### 1.3.5 Safer Solvents and Auxiliaries

The use of auxiliary substances (*e.g.*, solvents or separation agents) should be made unnecessary whenever possible and innocuous when used.

#### 1.3.6 Design for Energy Efficiency

Energy requirements of chemical processes should be recognised for their environmental and economic impacts and should be minimized. If possible, synthetic methods should be conducted at ambient temperature and pressure.

#### 1.3.7 Use of Renewable Feedstock's

A raw material or feedstock should be renewable rather than depleting whenever technically and economically practicable.

#### **1.3.8 Reduce Derivatives**

Unnecessary derivatization (use of blocking groups, protection/de-protection, and temporary modification of physical/chemical processes) should be minimized or avoided if possible, because such steps require additional reagents and can generate waste.

#### 1.3.9 Catalysis

Catalytic reagents (as selective as possible) are superior to stoichiometric reagents.

#### **1.3.10 Design for Degradation**

Chemical products should be designed so that at the end of their function they break down into innocuous degradation products and do not persist in the environment.

#### 1.3.11 Real-Time Analysis for Pollution Prevention

Analytical methodologies need to be further developed to allow for real-time, inprocess monitoring and control prior to the formation of hazardous substances.

#### 1.3.12 Inherently Safer Chemistry for Accident Prevention

Substances and the form of a substance used in a chemical process should be chosen to minimize the potential for chemical accidents, including releases, explosions, and fires.

The field of Green Chemistry has been emerging at a fast pace over the past two decades. This development may be attributed to the increased awareness regarding the effects of industry on the environment, increasing costs for waste disposal and increased environmental legislation. As a consequence, a drive towards sustainable chemistry is inevitable.

#### 1.4 AN ALTERNATE APPROACH TO SOLVENT CHEMISTRY

Removal of organic solvents in chemical synthesis is important in the drive towards benign chemical technologies. Organic solvents are known to be highly toxic or otherwise eco-damaging compounds because of the large volumes used in industry and difficulties in containing volatile compounds. Replacement of reaction media includes ionic liquids, liquid and supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>, water, and polyethylene and polypropyleneglycol. The most advantageous alternative is not to use a reaction medium, which is known as solventless reactions. From the clarity point of view, The Scott group (Cave et al. 2001; Rothenberg et al. 2001) distinguished between the concept of solvent-free synthesis as : (i) *solid-phase reaction*: the reaction of molecules from a fluid phase with a solid substrate, e.g., polymer-supported peptide syntheses; (ii) *solvent-free reaction*: any system in which neat reagents react together, in the absence of a solvent; and (iii) *solid-state reaction* or *solid-solid reactions*: in which two macroscopic solids interact directly and form a third, solid product without intervention of a liquid or vapour phase. A cartoon of these three processes is shown in Fig. 1.1.



**Fig. 1.1:** Cartoon representation of (a) Solid phase reaction; (b) Solvent-free reaction; and (c) solid state reaction [Source: Cave et al. (2001); Rothenberg et al. 2001].

The choice of solvent-free reaction medium will depend on several issues, including selectivity, stereochemistry, yield, waste, ease of recycling, energy usage, ease of isolation of product and other competing reactions. Advantages of solvent-free reactions, in comparison to reactions in molecular solvents are: (i) reaction of poor soluble reactants can be easily achievable, (ii) avoidance of distillation of solvents for reaction and hazardous solvents usage in reaction, (iii) there is often no need for specialized equipment; (iv) avoidance of solvent evaporation from the reaction mixture, (v) considerable reduction in the reaction time and increase the product yield are possible due to the increased reactant concentration (vi) energy usage may be significantly lower, (vii) considerable batch-size reduction and processing-cost savings are achievable, these advantages making solvent-free protocols not only more environmentally benign but also more economically feasible. This is one of the original considerations in order to bring Green Chemistry to the fore (Cave et al. 2001).

#### 1.4.1 Mechanistic Considerations in Solvent-Free Reactions

One of the requirements for solvent-free conditions is the molecular movement of reactants. If one of the reactants is in the liquid phase at the reaction temperature and is miscible with the other reactant(s), the molecular movement and the contact between reactants are same as that of solution reactions. Reactions in which all or one of the reactants are solid at the temperature of reaction, the mechanism of molecular movement is more complex, however, evidence of this movement has been demonstrated and is considered to be the minimal requirement for the solid-solid reaction to proceed (Toda and Tanaka 2000). Under appropriate conditions of stirring (mechanochemistry, microwave, ultrasound, and magnetic stirring), molecules move from crystal to crystal. For a reaction in solution, one would expect the concentration of substrates to be lower than that of the pure compounds, and even when two molecules collide, the reaction may not take place (depending on reactive cross section and orientation). However, in the case of two solid particles, although substrate "concentration" may be high, the actual number of active substrate molecules would be low because only those molecules on the particle surface would be able to react. This limitation is due to the orientation of the molecules, which is fixed in the solid state, making for a lower cross section, and therefore, considerable energy is often required to disrupt the crystal lattice, enabling the individual molecules to react (Martins et al. 2009). The activation mechanisms involved in solvent-free reactions are: (i) microwave irradiation (MW); (ii) ultrasound irradiation (US); (iii) mechanochemistry (mechanical activation); and (iv) conventional thermal heating.

#### **1.4.2 Microwave Irradiation**

Microwaves act as high frequency electric fields and will generally heat any material containing mobile electric charges, such as polar molecules in a solvent or conducting ions in a solid (Loupy, 2006). The application of microwave irradiation reduces the reaction time, increases the product yield and sometimes results in a different product distribution compared to conventional thermal heating methods. The rate of acceleration observed in microwave irradiation is due to material-wave interactions leading to thermal and non thermal effects. In addition to the environmental interest of this method in terms of use, separation, economy, safe and clean procedures, absorption of microwave irradiation now be limited only to microwave active species (Martins et al. 2009).

#### **1.4.3 Ultrasound Irradiation**

The activation in ultrasound reaction is caused by cavitation, which involves the creation, growth, and collapse of micrometer-sized bubbles that are formed when an acoustic pressure wave propagates through a liquid (Cravotto et al. 2013). The reaction rates are often comparable to those of non-irradiated systems, and the only role of ultrasound is to mix the phases of a heterogeneous system. Thus, the increased yields and reaction rates are due to mechanical effects associated with the sound waves. Chemical effects of ultrasound (true sonochemistry) can only be expected if high-energy species that are released after cavitational collapse act as reaction intermediates. In these cases, changes in product distribution, switching of reaction mechanisms, or changes in regio- or diastereoselectivity may occur (Cravotto and Cintas, 2006).

#### 1.4.4 Mechanochemistry

Mechanochemistry can be grinding two reactants in a pestle and mortar in simple form or more complex, as with the use of ball mills (Stolle et al. 2011). Ball mills have the advantages of requiring no physical effort, supplying greater power, being programmable and allowing more systematic studies of the process. They are readily available commercially, and two types that are appropriate for laboratory scale syntheses are the shaker and planetary mills. With shaker mills, a rapid (e.g., 10-50 Hz) side-to-side motion of the reaction vessel causes a ball within to impact against the sides of the vessel and its contents (Fig. 1.2a). With planetary mills, the reaction vessel follows a circular pathwhile simultaneously spinning in the reverse direction (Fig. 1.2b).



Fig. 1.2: Types of ball mills: (a) Shaker mill; (b) Planetary mill

The kinetic energy supplied during grinding can have several effects on a crystalline solid, including heating, reduction of particle size (with concomitant increase in surface area and the generation of fresh surfaces) and formation of defects and dislocations in crystal lattices, local melting and even phase changes to alternative polymorphs. In chemical synthesis, ball milling modifies the reaction conditions and enhances the reactivity of the reactants (mechanical activation). The latter is generally due to mechanical-induced breaking of molecular bonds (mechanochemistry), but a result of the more efficient mixing and the large increase of reactant surfaces is close contact between the starting materials on a molecular scale. In addition, other factors such as an increased temperature and an enhanced pressure can be responsible for the reactivity changes observed. In most cases, solvent-free reactions between solid

reactants actually proceed through bulk liquid phases (Rothenberg et al. 2001). Such liquid phases are possible due to the formation of eutectics between the reactants and product(s) and any evolution of heat. The solid-solid reactions occurring between two discrete crystalline solids without intervention of a mobile phase and which allows a large number of productive molecular collisions, would be expected to exhibit diffusion-controlled kinetics (slow reaction) (Rothenberg et al. 2001). Thus, the rapid rates exhibited by most of the reactions studied do not support the theory of two solids reacting together without intervention of a new (liquid) phase that would enable higher substrate mobility. Some heat is released upon stirring of the two components, which leads to the complete melting of the mixture. Such heat may be generated by the occurrence of hot spots during initial contact of the solids.

# The general mechanism for solvent-free mechanical activation involves three stages [Kaupp et al. 2001]:

• *Phase rebuilding:* Molecules move and directional long-range migrations of molecules of one reactant into cleavage planes or channels in other crystalline reactant occurs. This is driven by the internal pressure that comes from the formation of product at the interface between the reactants. This distorts the original crystal structures and results in a mixed phase.

• *Phase transformation:* Product crystals are formed, and this is the step in which crystals of product grow from the distorted mixed phase. During this step, the growing product crystals remain spatially discontinuous on the reactant particles.

• *Crystal disintegration or detachment:* A new surface is created, and chemical and geometrical mismatch between the starting phases and the product phase causes disintegration of the particles. This in turn reveals new surfaces of the reactants, and continued agitation then serves to bring these new surfaces into contact for further reaction. If the reaction temperature is above the eutectic temperature of the reactants, product formation begins either by grain-boundary diffusion or surface migration and a liquid phase may again intervene due to the formation of eutectic mixture. Thus, a reaction that begins as a solid-solid reaction may proceed much more rapidly by intervention of a liquid phase arising due to the existence of a lower-melting eutectic formed by the product and the reactants. Solvent-free reactions profit from higher

reactivity because the reactants are not solvated. Thus, it is more common to work at room temperature (RT) or to cool down below eutectic temperatures than to heat up. However, some transformations require minimal energy in order to overcome activation barriers, in these cases, alternative energies can be successfully employed under solvent-free conditions.

#### 1.4.5 Conventional Thermal Heating

In conventional thermal heating, the activation involves magnetic stirring and supply of heat energy by using oil-bath or heating mantle. The thermal solid-state reactions involve standing mixture of powdered reactant and reagents at RT or elevated temperature. It has been reported that, for most reactions that form products in good yields by mechanochemistry, MW, or sonochemistry, the product is either not formed or is isolated in low yields in conventional thermal heating (Martins et al. 2009). The Major drawbacks of thermal activation method include inefficient contact between solid reactants during stirring and the kind of energy (direct heat) furnished to reaction media. It seems that, conventional thermal heating is more adequate for reactions in solution or solvent-free reactions of one or all liquid reactants. However, several solid-solid reactions are known to proceed under thermal conditions and quantitative conversion can also be achievable under heating conditions (Kaupp et al. 2001, 2003).

#### 1.4.6 Work-up of Solvent-Free Reactions

For the environmentally-acceptable preparation of an organic product, the transformations must both be relatively efficient and offer easy workup and purification steps. Although, several quantitative transformations do not require extraction of product or purification (Tanaka and Toda 2000; Kaupp et al. 2001, 2002, 2003), one cannot avoid the use of solvents for extraction or purification, when the formed product contaminated with small amount of unconsumed starting materials and in catalytic transformations. However, the avoidance of distillation and use of hazardous solvents in reaction, increase in synthetic efficiency due to high concentration of reactants are the greener advantages in these solvent-free reactions.

#### 1.5 MULTICOMPONENT REACTIONS

A multicomponent reaction (MCR) is generally defined as any process in which three or more reactants combine in one pot to form a product that incorporates structural features of each reagent (Ganem 2008). Therefore, they lead to the association of three or more starting materials in a single synthetic operation with high atom economy and bond-forming efficiency, thereby increasing molecular diversity and complexity in a fast and often experimentally simple fashion. For this reason, MCR's are particularly well suited for diversity-oriented synthesis and the exploratory power arising from their conciseness makes them also very powerful for library synthesis aimed at carrying out structure-activity relationship studies of bioactive compounds, which are an essential part of the research performed in pharmaceutical and agrochemical companies. For all these reasons, the development of new MCR's is rapidly becoming one of the frontiers of organic synthesis. While a large part of the work developed in this field is focused on reactions using isonitriles as one of the starting materials and leading to peptide-like structures, a steady growth in the development of MCR's that lead directly to heterocycles have observed in recent years, the most important single class of compounds in the development of bioactive substances (Estevez et al. 2010). If such reactions with near quantitative yield could be carried out under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions from readily available starting materials, they would comply with most of the green chemistry principles and closely approach the concept of ideal synthesis. (Kumar and Sharma, 2011).

#### **1.6 LITERATURE REVIEW**

Since 2000, the groups of Toda (Toda 1995; Tanaka and Toda 2000; Tanaka 2003, Toda 2005), Scott (Roothenberg et al. 2001; Cave et al. 2001) and Kaupp (Kaupp et al. 2001; Kaupp 2005) have reported comprehensive work on the stoichiometric conversion of organic compounds in solvent-free reactions. The advantages of solventless synthesis have thereby been persuasively described. Inspired by their work enormous efforts have been made in last decades and reports on solvent- and catalyst-free reactions have become increasingly frequent in recent years. Since the current research work mainly focused on the solvent- and catalyst-free organic synthesis

under simple mechanochemical and/or thermal conditions, only those organic transformations carried out under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions have been discussed.

Tanaka and Toda (2000) reviewed several solid-state organic reactions including the reactions that start with a solid, at least one solid reactant or solid catalyst, the reactions in the inclusion crystals and organic solvent-free reactions and clearly demonstrated that organic reactions can occur by mixing powdered reactant and reagent in the absence of solvent and those reaction products can be obtained efficiently. It was found that, in some cases, organic synthesis is accomplished without using any solvent throughout the processes of reaction and isolation of product. Further, solvent-free thermal organic synthesis reported to be a highly useful technique, especially for industry. According to them, all organic synthesis cannot be carried out in the absence of solvent; some organic reactions proceed explosively in the solid state. In such cases, solvent is useful in order to mediate the reaction rate. Further it was concluded that, for reactions that proceed moderately in the absence of solvent or in a water suspension, solid-state reaction would be the better choice. For reactions that proceed vigorously in the solid state, then solution reaction in a nontoxic solvent would be better.

Cave et al. (2001) reviewed solventless organic synthesis and emphasise that, solventless reactions can lead to improved outcomes, and more benign synthetic procedures. Several transformations such as aldol condensation reactions, sequential aldol and Michael addition reactions route to Kröhnke type pyridines, reactions leading to 3-carboxycoumarins, benzylidenes, 4-aryl-1,4-dihydropyridines and 2-aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinazolines, and oligomerization reactions for the synthesis of cavitands were discussed and concluded that, kinetic considerations for the reaction of two solids can only be explained if an eutectic melt is formed during the reaction.

Rothenberg et al. (2001) investigated the concept of an organic reaction between two macroscopic solid particles. Several organic reactions were revisited and clearly showed that, in most cases, grinding the two solid reactants together results in the formation of a liquid phase. This liquefaction implies the existence of a eutectic mixture with the fusion below ambient temperature. Further, it was shown that, in cases where heating is required, a phase change (from solid to liquid) occurs. On the basis of 19 experimental examples, the possibility of solid-phase organic reactions and the implications of these findings to the reaction between two solid reagents were discussed. A general description of such reactive systems was proposed, based on a consideration of the potential for eutectic (or peritectic) formation between the constituents of the liquid phases that arise during the process of mechanical mixing of the solid reagents and products. It was concluded that, few covalent bond forming bimolecular organic transformations that proceed rapidly and to a high degree of completion between two solid reactants actually not occur in the solid state. Instead, a liquid or melt phase, which imbues the individual molecules with the required mobility for productive (or reactive) collision, intervenes, allowing rapid reaction between the two solid reagents.

Correa et al. (2002) synthesised 2-Aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinazolines by direct reaction of 2-aminobenzylamine and benzaldehyde derivatives by mixing of the reagents either neat, or as an aqueous slurry (Scheme 1.1). Excellent conversion of starting materials was achieved without catalysts, derivatisation or auxiliary reagents. Further, it was observed that, where reaction is sluggish or extent of conversion is poor, application of gentle heating produces a melt phase, which results in rapid and clean conversion to the desired tetrahydroquinazoline product.



Scheme 1.1

Kaupp et al. (2002) reported the waste-free solid-state cascade reactions of crystalline ninhydrin with dimedone, -proline, o-phenylenediamines, o-mercaptoaniline, ureas, thioureas, and methyl 3-aminocrotonate (Scheme 1.2). All the products were obtained quantitatively without any workup and just by milling stoichiometric mixtures of the crystalline reagents. The structures of the products were established/confirmed by spectroscopic data and density functional calculations using the B3LYP/6-31G\* programme. The reaction process was mechanistically

investigated with atomic force microscopy (AFM) techniques on six different faces of crystalline ninhydrin when o-phenylenediamine was the reagent and interpreted on the basis of known crystal structure data. Strict correlations to the crystal packings were observed.



Scheme 1.2

Ranu et al. (2002) carried out Michael-type addition of variety of amines to  $\alpha,\beta$ unsaturated nitriles, carboxylic ester and ketones in a neat mixture without using any solvent and catalyst to produce the corresponding  $\beta$ -amino derivatives (Scheme 1.3). The efficiency, cost-effectiveness and green methodology of this protocol made this protocol very simple and practical alternative to the previous procedures.



Ranu and Hajra (2002) developed a simple, general, efficient and greener method for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -aminophosphonates through a solvent-free and catalyst-free one-pot three-component condensation of carbonyl compound, amine and diethyl phosphate (Scheme 1.4). Interestingly, when the reaction was carried out in a solvent like Tetrahydrofuran (THF) under similar reaction conditions the condensation proceeds to a marginal extent (10–15%) for aldehydes and does not occur at all for ketones. Further, scale up of the reaction has been achieved up to the extent of a batch of 10g without any difficulty and use of any organic solvent in any step.

$$\begin{array}{c} O \\ R^{1-}C^{-}R^{2} + R^{3}NH_{2} + HOP(OEt)_{2} \end{array} \xrightarrow{75 - 80 \ ^{\circ}C} \begin{array}{c} R^{2} \\ R^{1-}C^{-}NHR^{3} \\ O = P(OEt)_{2} \end{array}$$

#### Scheme 1.4

Ren et al. (2002) reported Knoevenagel condensation reaction of aldehydes and malononitrile by grinding at RT in the absence of solvents and catalysts (Scheme 1.5). This process is simple, efficient, economical, and environmentally benign. It was found that, compared to Knoevenagel condensation carried out by microwave irradiation, this procedure is completely free from organic solvents during both the reaction and separation of the product.

ArCHO +  $CH_2(CN)_2$  Grinding ArHC=C(CN)\_2 Scheme 1.5

Kaupp (2003) highlighted that, molecular crystals including salts undergo gassolid, solid–solid, thermal, photochemical and catalyzed reactions if the crystal lattice allows for long-range anisotropic molecular migrations, if the product phase can form fast enough and if crystal disintegration provides fresh surface. This three-step solidstate mechanism was derived from AFM studies. Very detailed solid-state effects that go down to the molecular level emerge from AFM investigations with single crystals on their different faces were discussed. Further, the advantages of these waste-free syntheses are fast, require simple equipment, save resources and are environmentally benign. The reactions were scaled up for industrial application and successfully prepared at the kg level. Numerous selected examples of preparative interest out of more than 1000 transformations were presented in this report.

Kaupp et al. (2003) performed numerous Knoevenagel condensations of solid or liquid aromatic aldehydes with barbituric acids, Meldrum's acid, dimedone,
cyanoacetamide, malodinitrile and methyl cyanoacetate in stoichiometric mixtures of the solids or of stoichiometric melts (Scheme 1.6). The product yields were found quantitative in 23 cases and the products do not require purification or workup. These transformations were found to be highly superior to less productive 'solvent-free' techniques using solid supports and microwave irradiation that require solvents for removal of the support or reagents or side products. Also, quantitative Michael addition reaction by stoichiometric melts in the absence of any auxiliaries or microwave irradiation was demonstrated (Scheme 1.7). It was concluded that, the quantitative yields are most easily obtained if the products are formed in the solidstate or if they crystallize directly from the melt at the reaction temperature.



Ranu et al. (2003) reported a general, simple, efficient, cost-effective and green procedure for acylation of alcohols, amines and thiols by treatment with acid anhydride or acid chloride at 80-85 °C under solvent and catalyst-free conditions (Scheme 1.8). This method is endowed with several unique merits namely, simplicity in operation, mild reaction conditions tolerable to acid sensitive functionalities, wide applicability and cost-efficiency.

$$\begin{array}{r} \text{RXH} & \xrightarrow{(\text{R'CO})_2 \text{O/R'COCI}} \\ \text{X = 0, S, NH} & \xrightarrow{85 \text{°C/RT}} \\ \text{Scheme 1.8} \end{array}$$

Kaupp (2006) performed the scale up of numerous organic and some inorganic quantitative solid state reactions of various types without solvent in the kg- scale. Technical solutions with strongly exothermic and with close to thermoneutral procedures were demonstrated for various circumstances. Further, it was found that, melt reactions also profit from high concentration, but the reaction temperatures are considerably higher in the absence of the favorable crystal effects and they often bear the risk of side reactions. From the results it was concluded that, the single products obtained do not require purifying workup when starting with pure crystalline compounds and their prior dissolution in solvents for waste producing liquid-state reactions should be avoided whenever possible.

Schnurch et al. (2007) developed a facile and high-yielding mechanochemical protocol for the preparation of boronic acid esters (Scheme 1.9). All different types of boronic acids investigated (aryl, heteroaryl, alkyl) were reacted smoothly under present conditions and gave products in excellent yields and purities. The advantages of this protocol include short reaction times (maximum 1 h) and simple work-up conditions (filtration, evaporation and eventually Kugelrohr distillation). From the experimental results it was emphasize that, Mechanochemistry is a powerful alternative to the classical esterification reaction of boronic acids and complements nicely to other methods starting from alternative substrates (e.g. Pd-catalyzed methods starting from halides). Additionally, the current protocol found to be an environmentally benign, atom efficient, and waste free process, since the reaction is carried out under solvent-free conditions with equimolar amounts of reagents.



Scheme 1.9

Zhang et al. (2007) developed a convenient and rapid method for the synthesis of various N-phosphoramino  $\alpha$ -aminoalkylphosphonates under catalyst-free and solvent-free conditions (Scheme 1.10). All types of aromatic aldehydes produced the

corresponding target compounds with excellent yields. Further, advantages of the current protocol are: rapid reaction, clean, atom economical and environmentally benign. The pure products were obtained by flash chromatography on silica gel.





Ballini et al. (2008) demonstrated that, variety of primary and secondary amines give the conjugate reaction with  $\beta$ -nitroacrylates via an anti-Michael addition without any catalyst and/or solvent (Scheme 1.11). This protocol has several advantages such as very mild conditions, short reaction times, good yields, atom economy (100%), minimal production of waste, limited energy consumption, and environmentally benign.



Scheme 1.11

Kumar et al. (2008) reported an efficient synthesis of polyhydroquinolines via a four-component reaction of aldehydes, dimedone, active methylene compounds, and ammonium acetate in one-pot under solvent-free conditions at RT on grinding (Scheme 1.12 and 1.13). This method does not involve any hazardous organic solvent or catalyst. The key advantages of this protocol are the short reaction time, high yields, simple workup, and purification of products by non-chromatographic methods, i.e., by simple recrystallization from ethanol (EtOH).



R= aryl, R'= Me, Ethyl

Scheme 1.12



Movassagh and Beigi (2008) developed a simple and efficient procedure for the synthesis of S-alkyl (aryl) thiocarbamates under solvent- free conditions without the use of a catalyst (Scheme 1.14). The significant features of this protocol are operational simplicity, mild reaction conditions, short reaction times, solventfree conditions, and high product yields. It was concluded that, the catalyst- and solvent-free procedure provides a powerful and versatile method for the preparation of S-aryl (alkyl) thiocarbamates.



Scheme 1.14

Sotoca et al. (2008) reported the stereoselective one-pot synthesis of polysubstituted 1,4-diazepine derivatives via a new solvent- and catalyst-free multicomponent domino reaction from  $\beta$ -ketoamides (Scheme 1.15 and 1.16). The reaction sequence were conducted from easily accessible achiral starting materials, and resulted in a high increase in molecular complexity and diversity. Based on its tolerance to various  $\beta$ -ketoamides, acyclic and cyclic 1,2-diamines, and diverse aromatic aldehydes, it was concluded that, this environmentally friendly procedure constitutes a good substrate directed alternative to other previously known methodologies for the synthesis of these heterocycles.



Scheme 1.15



Trotzki et al. (2008a) reported the studies on mechanochemical reaction of malononitrile with various aldehydes to achieve quantitative stoichiometric conversion of the reactants to their corresponding benzylidene-malononitriles in the absence of any solvents and catalysts (Scheme 1.17). In addition to earlier known reactions in the solid state, reactions with liquid aldehydes were also studied. It was concluded that, successful quantitative conversion depends strongly on the choice of the aldehyde, precluding a generalization of the reaction scheme.



**Scheme 1.17** 

Trotzki et al. (2008b) studied the Knoevenagel condensation of malononitrile with various arylaldehydes as an uncatalyzed reaction at ambient temperature (Scheme 1.17). It was found that, a mixture (solid/solid or solid/liquid) of reactants converts in some cases quantitatively to the target product in the absence of any solvent at RT. The increased product yields observed when the mixture of reactants is seeded with the target product.

Vuluga et al. (2009) developed synthesis of pyrazoles *via* 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of diazo compounds to alkynes by heating (Scheme 1.18). Various diazo compounds and alkynes (even without an electron-withdrawing group) were reacted through a 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition without any promoter or special medium. The reaction afforded pyrazoles in excellent yields and purity, without any other work up than distilling the small excess of the lightest reagent. Also, this protocol was found to be

efficient on a multigram scale, and hence reported as promising for industrial applications.



Scheme 1.18

Mashkouri and Naimi-Jamal (2009) reported quantitative synthesis of various pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-2,4(1*H*,3*H*)-diones from stoichiometric mixtures of pure reactants in a simple mechanochemical method without use of solvents, addition or removal of catalysts, or solvent-consuming work-ups (Scheme 1.19). The pure products were obtained in some cases by recrystallization from dimethylformamide (DMF)- EtOH mixture.



Scheme 1.19

Samai et al. (2009) developed a simple and efficient method for the synthesis of 4aryl-4,5-dihydro-1*H*-indeno[1,2-*b*]pyridine derivatives via a four-component cyclocondensation of 1,3-indanedione, aromatic aldehydes,  $\beta$ -ketoesters and ammonium acetate in one-pot and in the absence of catalyst and solvent at RT on grinding (Scheme 1.20). The shorter reaction times, higher yields, low cost, simple work-up and easy purification procedure are the notable advantages of this green protocol.



Shen et al. (2009) developed a novel, efficient and environmentally friendly onepot three-component method for the synthesis of the 2-arylpyridines in air at RT (Scheme 1.21). This protocol does not require the use of any organic solvent, catalyst and additional oxidant, thus eminently meeting green chemistry objectives. According to them, these efforts do not mean that everything is known, and there is still a lot to learn about this fascinating and useful reaction.



Matar et al. (2010) synthesized pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles via mixing ethyl acetoacetate (EAA), hydrazine hydrate, aldehydes or ketones and malononitrile in the absence of solvent (Scheme 1.22). The same products were also obtained by reacting arylidenemalononitriles with 3-methyl-2-pyrazolin-5-ones. A novel 4-oxo-4*H*-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole was achieved via reacting 3-methyl-2-pyrazolin-5-one with a mixture of cyanoacetic acid and acetic anhydride. Similarly 3-aminopyrazole with the benzylidene-malononitrile produced the pyrazolo[2,3-a]pyrimidines. From the experimental results it was found that, the yields in multi-component synthetic approaches are almost the same as those utilizing original synthetic approach but the protocols are greener, avoiding use of solvent, separation and purification steps.



Scheme 1.22

Tan et al. (2010) developed MCR's of 1,3-disubstituted 5-pyrazolones, formaldehyde and Styrenes (Scheme 1.23) or vinylferrocene (Scheme 1.24) to afford a variety of complex skeletons in moderate to excellent yields under catalyst-free heating conditions. It was found that, these sequential MCR's not only open a

straightforward way to synthesize the target compounds, but also maximize the synthetic efficiency significantly. Because these MCR's were conducted either under solvent-free conditions or in green media, including glycerol and ionic liquid, the reaction systems possess many properties of green chemistry, such as simple work-up procedure, recyclable solvent and minimization of waste.



Scheme 1.24

Yan et al. (2010) described an efficient one-pot, three-component synthesis of highly substituted bicyclic pyridines containing ring-junction nitrogen, starting from simple and readily available materials (Scheme 1.25). Bicyclic pyridines were synthesized by the cyclocondensation of heterocyclic ketene aminals, triethoxymethane, and active methylene compounds by refluxing under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions. The crude reaction mixture was flash column chromatographed to get pure products in excellent yields.





Attanasi et al. (2011) reported a new and efficient synthesis of polysubstituted pyrroles by a sequential one-pot, three-component reaction between primary aliphatic amines, active methylene compounds, and 1,2-diaza-1,3-dienes (Scheme 1.26). The reactions were performed without catalyst and under solvent-free conditions. The ready availability of the starting materials and the high level of practicability of the reaction and work up are the notable advantages of this protocol. Further, this method circumvents some of the problems and limitations associated with frequently used procedures. The pure products were obtained in high yield by column chromatography.



Scheme 1.26

Choudhary and Peddinti (2011) demonstrated the synthesis of nitroamines (Scheme 1.27) and nitrosulfides (Scheme 1.28) by the Michael addition of amines and thiols to nitroolefins by simple mixing or grinding the reactants. This catalyst-free and solvent-free green approach provided the addition products in quantitative yield within min at RT. This procedure does not require any water quenching, solvent separations and purification steps such as recrystallization and column chromatography, also incorporates the reactants into the final product to a maximum possible extent without side products in short reaction time.



#### Scheme 1.27

 $R_{SH} + Ar \xrightarrow{NO_2} \frac{\text{mixing/}}{\text{then}} \begin{array}{c} R_{S} \\ Ar \end{array} \xrightarrow{NO_2} Ar \xrightarrow{R_NO_2} Ar \xrightarrow{NO_2} Ar \xrightarrow$ 



Dandia et al. (2011) developed a solvent- and catalyst-free method for the synthesis of spiro 1,3-oxathiolan/oxathianes in the solid state reaction at RT (Scheme 1.29). Quantitative yields of products were obtained in a simple and inexpensive way. Further, different thia heterocycles were synthesized to evaluate the scope of this green methodology.



Scheme 1.29

Li et al. (2011) carried out reactions of acyclic ketones and *o*-phenylenediamines under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions for the preparation of dihydrobenzimidazoles (Scheme 1.30). Further it was found that, this method can be used for the synthesis of other heterocyclic compounds such as dihydrobenzothiazoles and perimidines.





Jiang et al. (2011) reported catalyst- and solvent-free mono-addition of aromatic amines to  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated ketones with high selectivity, effectively at RT in good to excellent yields (Scheme 1.31). Part of adducts obtained almost in quantitative yield without column chromatography. This procedure offered a green, efficient, and practical approach for the synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino ketones. No decrease in yield observed when the reaction was carried out in gram scales; hence this green protocol can be applied in industrial processes.



Scheme 1.31

Kumar and Sharma (2011) developed a grinding-induced catalyst- and solvent-free domino MCR for the synthesis of 1, 4- dihydropyridines using aldehydes, amines, diethyl acetylenedicarboxylate, and malononitrile/ethyl cyanoacetate (Scheme 1.32). The reaction was carried out successfully in a porcelain mortar and pestle without using any catalyst. Interestingly, almost quantitative conversion observed on grinding for 15 min, but no reaction was observed in EtOH (in the absence of catalyst). The purity of the product was enough for spectroscopic analysis without any further purification.



#### Scheme 1.32

Palmieri et al. (2011) reported a highly improved procedure for the synthesis of polyfunctionalized pyrroles under environmentally benign manner showing acceptable to good E-factor (Scheme 1.33). The advantages of this method are general applicability, it affords good to excellent yields of the products, tolerates the presence of a variety of functionalities and is performed under solvent- and promoter-free conditions, avoiding the need of high temperature and of any excess of the reagents.



Scheme 1.33

Yu et al. (2011) developed one pot synthesis of substituted tetrahydroimidazo[1,2*a*]pyridines by three component reactions of heterocyclic ketene aminals, triethoxymethane and nitroalkenes in the absence of catalyst and solvent (Scheme 1.34). High yields, short reaction time and convenient operation are notable advantages of this protocol.



Scheme 1.34

Alonso et al. (2012) demonstrated the feasibility of the uncatalysed direct addition of phosphanes to alkenes in the absence of a solvent (Scheme 1.35). The process found to be highly regioselective, producing all tertiary phosphanes in an anti-Markovnikov fashion. These results emphasize how important it is to perform control experiments in the absence of a catalyst and the crucial role that the concentration effect can play in solvent-free reactions.



Scheme 1.35

Akhlaghinia et al. (2012) reported a simple and efficient method for the conversion of oxiranes to thiiranes using ammonium thiocyanate (NH<sub>4</sub>SCN) under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions (Scheme 1.36). These reaction conditions enabled clean and fast conversion of oxiranes to the corresponding thiirane. The advantages of this method are simple procedure, short reaction time, easy workup, and high product yield.



Scheme 1.36

Singh and Chowdhury (2012) overviewed the open literature on the development of more sustainable methodologies for the synthesis of acyclic, carbocyclic, and heterocyclic compounds under solvent-free conditions. Further, the developments in multicomponent approaches from 2000 to 2010 on the preparation of compounds with the emphasis on the rationale behind each synthetic procedure and the dependence of the results on a proper selection of reaction conditions have been discussed. Further, the distinct advantages of solvent-free multicomponent approaches in organic synthesis are discussed. Also, the unique selectivities, which are not contrivable in solution synthesis are highlighted.

Xie et al. (2012) reported an environmentally benign, fast and convenient protocol for the Michael addition of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds to  $\beta$ -nitroalkenes in good to excellent yields by a grinding method under catalyst- and solvent-free conditions (Scheme 1.37). The reactions were performed smoothly between solid–solid or solid– liquid materials at RT with a wide range of reactants. To get pure product, the reaction mixture was filtered through a sand core funnel containing a thin layer of silica instead of column chromatography.



Scheme 1.37

Reddy and Leelavathi (2013) developed one-pot reactions of indole derivatives and aromatic aldehydes under solvent- and catalyst- free conditions for the synthesis of corresponding bis(indolyl)methanes in moderate to high yields (Scheme 1.38). The key features of these reactions are the simple procedure, absence of organic solvent or acid catalyst and easy product separation. The reaction mixture was treated with water and extracted with ethyl acetate (EtOAc) and the organic layer was dried over sodium sulphate and evaporated to get pure products.



Scheme 1.38

#### **1.7 SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES OF THE PRESENT WORK**

Development of new methods and the strategic deployment of known methods for the synthesis of complex organic compounds are the major objectives of synthetic organic chemistry. Along with developing new chemicals and improved ways of synthesizing existing chemicals, the greener alternatives are gaining increasing importance in synthetic chemistry to make it environmental friendly. As a result, the significant objectives in modern organic chemistry incorporate the improvement of reaction efficiency, the avoidance of toxic reagents, the reduction of waste and the conscious utilization of resources.

MCR's have been much utilized for the synthesis of diverse highly functionalized molecules via the formation of carbon–carbon and carbon– heteroatom bonds in one pot. The development of several methods for the generation of libraries of structurally complex and diverse small molecules has provided new applications for the "chemical genetic" approach, as well as playing an important part in drug discovery, namely the rapid identification and optimization of biologically active lead compounds.

Based on the above facts and the detailed literature survey, in the present research study, it has been planned to develop solvent- and catalyst-free synthetic routes for the novel heterocycles and already known heterocycles synthesized under conventional routes. The expected synthetic routes would be synthetically efficient, circumvent the limitations of earlier protocols and incorporate most of the green chemistry principles. Also, it has been thought of investigating their mechanistic pathways by reaction monitoring by FTIR or the isolation of stable intermediates. The newly synthesized intermediates in the proposed schemes may be explored for their applications in other research areas.

The main objectives of the present research work are as follows:

• To develop newer, environmental friendly, waste minimizing routes in organic synthesis keeping Green Chemistry principles in mind.

- To carry out the well known reactions like Michael addition, Knoevenagel condensation etc. for the carbon-carbon and carbon-heteroatom bond formation under greener conditions.
- To develop facile and efficient routes for the synthesis of complex heterocyclic compounds via multicomponent approach using readily available starting materials and under environmentally acceptable conditions.
- To study the organic transformations under solvent- and catalyst-free reaction conditions via mechanical activation and/or thermal heating.
- To explore the mechanism of reactions whenever possible through characterization of stable reaction intermediates.
- Characterization of newly synthesized compounds using spectral methods like FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and mass spectroscopy followed by elemental analysis.
- Single Crystal X-Ray diffraction (SCXRD) studies of selected compounds for elucidation of final three-dimensional structure.

Conclusively, the present research investigation has been aimed at the development of synthetic routes for the formation of carbon-carbon and carbon-heteroatom bond formation in organic and complex heterocyclic compounds with reduced waste generation and improved efficiency. Hence in the present work, five series of transformations have been studied under solvent- and catalyst-free reaction conditions. The Chapter 2 deals with the solvent- and catalyst-free method for the synthesis of N-substituted  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acids by aza-Michael addition of various amines to crotonic acid (series 1). The Chapter 3 describes the condensation of malononitrile with salicylaldehydes and o-aminobenzaldehydes under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions to yield 4H-chromenes and quinolines (series 2). Development of green protocol for the synthesis of 3,3'-methanediylbis(4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1H)-one) (MDBHQ) derivatives and 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one derivatives via cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction has been described in the Chapter 4 (Series 3). The Chapter 5 deals with the one-pot synthesis of variously substituted quinazolines by three-component reactions of 2-aminoaryl ketones, orthoesters and ammonium acetate

under solvent- and catalyst-free reaction conditions (series 4). The **Chapter 6** describes the green and regioselective synthesis of polysubstituted pyrroles under solvent- and catalyst-free condition using 1,3-dicarbonyls, benzoin derivatives and ammonium acetate as building blocks in one-pot (Series 5). Towards the end, **Chapter 7** summarizes the conclusion and outcome of the research work.

**CHAPTER 2** 

# A FACILE, SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE SYNTHESIS OF N-SUBSTITUTED $\beta$ -AMINOBUTYRIC ACIDS BY AZA-MICHAEL ADDITION

This chapter describes an efficient, eco-friendly synthetic route for N-substituted derivatives of  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acid by the aza-Michael addition of various amines to crotonic acid under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions. Further, evaluation of the scope of the protocol with other  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids and gram scale synthesis of 3-[(4-methylphenyl)amino]butanoic acid have been discussed.

#### **2.1 INTRODUCTION**

Synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino acid derivatives has become a field of increasing interest in organic synthesis; due to their interesting pharmacological properties in free form and the functionalized  $\beta$ -amino acids are the key components of a variety of bioactive molecules (Azizi and Saidi 2004; Ege and Wanner 2004). N-substituted  $\beta$ -Alanines are versatile starting materials for the synthesis of a variety of heterocyclic systems which are biologically important and are also useful in pharmaceuticals (Mickevicius et al. 2004; Vaickelioniene et al. 2005).



R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub>: H, Aliphatic, Aromatic EWG: COOR, COCR, CN, NO<sub>2</sub>, etc.

Scheme 2.1: Aza-Michael addition

The conjugate addition of nitrogen nucleophiles to electron deficient  $\alpha,\beta$ unsaturated compounds is known as aza Michael reaction (Scheme 2.1) (Cardillo and Tomasini 1996). Being an atom economical reaction it has been widely used for carbon-nitrogen bond formation (Bartoli et al. 2005).

A number of procedures have been developed for aza- Michael addition using different catalysts in organic solvents (Reboule et al. 2005; Wabnitz and Spencer 2003; Verma et al. 2011; Dhake et al. 2010), water (Surendra et al. 2006; Chaudhuri et al. 2005; Ranu and Banerjee 2007), solvent-free conditions (Das and Chowdhury 2007; Reddy et al. 2008; Saidi et al. 2009), microwave conditions (Escalante et al. 2008; Polshettiwar and Varma 2010), using ionic liquids (Xu et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2006), and under catalyst-free, solvent-free conditions (Choudhary and Peddinti 2011; Ranu et al. 2002; Jiang et al. 2011). Michael addition of amines to  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated nitriles, esters, amides, ketones and nitro compounds have been extensively studied. However, there are only few reports on Michael addition of amines to  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids to yield N-substituted derivatives of  $\beta$ -Amino acids in the literature (Vaickelioniene et al. 2005; Zilkha and Rivlin 1957; Beresnevicius et al. 2000; Mickevicius and Patupaite 2000). Unfortunately, the reported methods have many disadvantages such as long reaction time, drastic conditions, use of hazardous solvents (pyridine, benzene, toluene), use of catalyst and tedious work-up operations. These aspects are in disagreement with the green chemistry point of view (Sanderson 2011). Also, the usage of amines in reported literature has been restricted to aliphatic and aromatic primary amines. The traditional synthesis of N-substituted  $\beta$ -amino acids follows a two step mechanism in which, the first step involves the aza- Michael addition to esters followed by the catalytic hydrolysis to yield the desired product (Scheme 2.2). Hence, with the increase of environmental consciousness in chemical research, the development of greener, more efficient method for the synthesis of  $\beta$ amino acids using wide range of amines including secondary amines as Michael donors in single step is highly desirable and challenging.

$$\begin{array}{c} R_{1} \\ R_{2} \end{array}^{R_{1}} + \\ R_{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{COOR} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} Solvent \\ \hline \\ Catalyst \end{array}} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\ R_{1} \\$$

Scheme 2.2: Traditional two step synthesis of N-substituted  $\beta$ -amino acids

Against the background, a very simple and greener procedure has been developed for the synthesis of N-substituted derivatives of  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acid by aza-Michael addition of various amines to crotonic acid, an  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acid (Scheme 2.3). The reactions occur in a short time by simple mixing or grinding of stoichiometric amounts of the reactants under solvent-free and catalyst-free conditions. Most of the product obtained in quantitative yield, only few products were purified by column chromatography to remove unconsumed starting materials.

#### Department of Chemistry, NITK



R<sub>2</sub>: Aliphatic or aromatic

Scheme 2.3: Synthesis of N-substituted  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acid

### 2.2 EXPERIMENTAL

### 2.2.1 General

All chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Melting points were determined with Stuart SMP3 melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. IR spectra were recorded on a Thermo scientific Nicolet Avatar 330 Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer by Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) method. Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra were recorded as a solution in deuterated Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO- $d_6$ ) or deuterated Methanol (CD<sub>3</sub>OD), at 500 MHz (<sup>1</sup>H) and 400 MHz (<sup>13</sup>C) instrument. Chemical shifts  $(\delta)$  are reported in parts per million (ppm) with tetramethylsilane (TMS) as internal standard. J-values are given in Hz. NMR raw data was analysed with the program MestReNova 7.0.0-8331. Mass spectra were performed on Waters Micromass Q-Tof Micro spectrometer with an Electrospray ionization (ESI) source. Elemental analysis was performed using Perkin Elmer, Series II, 2400 analyzer. The X-ray single-crystal diffraction (SCXRD) was performed on the Bruker AXS APEX II system. All experiments were monitored by Thin layer chromatography (TLC), performed on precoated silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> plates (Merck). Column chromatography was performed on silica gel (60-120 mesh, Merck) using EtOAc-petroleum ether (boiling range 60-80 °C) (PE) as eluent.

# 2.2.2 Typical procedure for the reaction between amines and $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids

**2.2.2.1 Solid-solid reactions:** In an Agate mortar, an amine (2 mmol) and  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acid (2 mmol) were subjected to mechanical grinding for two min at RT. The reaction mixture was then left for standing at RT for completion of the reaction. The reaction was monitored by TLC. Most of the products were obtained with

sufficient purity for spectral analysis. In case of  $S_11e$ , the reaction was carried out by five min of grinding and 30 min standing at RT to get adduct. The pure solid product  $S_13e$  was obtained by column chromatography. The column chromatography was performed over Merck Aluminium oxide active (neutral activity I-II) as stationary phase.

**2.2.2.2 Solid-liquid reactions:**  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acid (2 mmol) and an aniline derivative (2 mmol) were mixed together thoroughly with a spatula for two min in a petri dish to form homogeneous liquid and then the mixture was allowed to stand for five min. The Michael adducts were attained with high purity. The reaction of **S**<sub>1</sub>**1f** and crotonic acid was carried out by two min of mixing and 30 min standing at RT, and the pure Michael adduct **S**<sub>1</sub>**3f** was obtained by column chromatography.

The reaction between aliphatic amines (2 mmol) and crotonic acid(2 mmol) was carried out by mixing together in a petri dish to form white solid immediately, which liquefied in short time and then the mixture was allowed to stand for five min to get the adduct. Compounds  $S_13i,j,k$  were scratched with spatula with 0.5 mL of EtOAc to obtain light brownish solid. The wet solid was filtered and washed with EtOAc (2 mL) and then dried under reduced pressure. Compound  $S_13k$  was low melting and liquid at RT.

All the newly synthesized compounds were characterized by spectral analysis and the spectral data of the final compounds are given below.

#### 3-(phenylamino)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3a)

Blood red coloured liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.15 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.21-2.26 (dd, 1H,  $J_1=7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15.5$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.49-2.54 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 5.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 3.74-3.80 (m, 1H, CH), 5.38 (br s, 1H, NH), 6.50-6.56 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.05-7.08 (t, 2H, J = 8Hz, ArH), 12.16 (br s, 1H, COOH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 20.2, 41.0, 44.9, 112.5, 115.7, 128.9, 147.6, 172.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3372 (NH), 3046 (CH <sub>arom</sub>), 2969 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2910 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2666br (OH), 1704 (C=O), 1497 (C=C), 1250 (C-O), 1189 (C-N); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 67.02; H, 7.31; N, 7.82. Found: C, 67.24; H, 7.48; N, 7.89; ESI MS (m/z) = 202.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 180.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 120.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>.

# $\label{eq:solution} 3-[(4-methylphenyl)amino] but anoic acid ~(S_13b)$

Blood red coloured liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.12 (d, 3H, J = 6Hz, Me), 2.14 (s, 3H, Ar*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 2.17-2.22 (dd, 1H,  $J_I=8$ Hz,  $J_2=15$ Hz, CH*CH*<sub>2</sub>CO), 2.47-2.52 (m, 1H, CH*CH*<sub>2</sub>CO), 3.69-3.75 (m, 1H, CH), 5.28 (br s, 1H, NH), 6.46 (d, 2H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 6.88 (d, 2H, J = 8Hz, ArH), 12.05 (br s, 1H, COOH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 20.5, 20.6, 41.5, 45.8, 113.3, 124.7, 129.9, 145.8, 173.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3365 (NH), 2970 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2921 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2869 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2664br (OH), 1706 (C=O), 1513 (C=C), 1246 (C-O), 1191 (C-N) ; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 68.37; H, 7.82; N, 7.25. Found: C, 68.53; H, 7.97; N, 7.31; ESI MS (m/z) = 216.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 194.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 134.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>.

# 3-{[4-(propan-2-yl)phenyl]amino}butanoic acid (S13c)

Blood red coloured liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 1.12 (d, 9H, J = 7Hz, Me), 2.18-2.23 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.47-2.52 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 6$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.69-2.74 (m, 1H, ArCHMe<sub>2</sub>) 3.69-3.76 (m, 1H, CH), 5.17 (br s, 1H, NH), 6.48 (d, 2H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 6.94 (d, 2H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 12.11 (br s, 1H, COOH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 20.2, 24.2, 32.5, 41.1, 45.3, 112.7, 126.6, 135.7, 145.6, 173.0; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3365 (NH), 2961 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2925 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2851 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2671br (OH), 1696 (C=O), 1515 (C=C), 1282 (C-O), 1193 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 266.1 (M+HCOOH), 244.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 222.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 162.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 70.56; H, 8.65; N, 6.33. Found: C, 70.73; H, 8.81; N, 6.42.

# 3-[(4-methoxyphenyl)amino]butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3d)

White Solid, mp 102 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.11 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.16-2.21 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.46-2.50 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 6$ Hz, J2=15Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 3.63 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.65-3.71 (m, 1H, CH), 5.14 (br s, 1H, NH), 6.52 (d, 2H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 6.71 (d, 2H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 12.04 (br s, 1H, COOH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 20.2, 41.1, 45.9, 55.3, 114.0, 114.7, 141.7, 150.8, 173.0; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3216 (NH), 2993 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2960 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2904 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1684 (C=O), 1504 (C=C), 1244 (C-O), 1169 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 232.1

 $(M+Na)^+$ , 210.1 $(M+H)^+$ , 150.1 $(M-CH_2COOH)^+$ ; Anal. Calcd for  $C_{11}H_{15}NO_3$ : C, 63.14; H, 7.23; N, 6.69. Found: C, 63.18; H, 7.18; N, 6.62.

# 3-[(4-chlorophenyl)amino]butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3e)

Bownish Solid, mp 62 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.14 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.23-2.27 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.47-2.50 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 6$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 3.73-3.74 (m, 1H, CH), 5.66 (br s, 1H, NH), 6.54-6.58 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.05-7.08 (m, 2H, ArH), 12.19 (br s, 1H, COOH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 20.1, 40.9, 45.1, 113.8, 118.8, 128.6, 148.5, 172.7; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3371 (NH), 3028 (CH <sub>arom</sub>), 2971 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2925 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2666br (OH), 1702 (C=O), 1497 (C=C), 1248 (C-O), 1186 (C-N), 1085 (C-Cl); ESI MS (m/z) = 214.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 154.0(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>12</sub>ClNO<sub>2</sub>: C, 56.21; H, 5.66; N, 6.56. Found: C, 56.33; H, 5.72; N, 6.63.

### **3-[methyl(phenyl)amino]butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3f)**

Blood red coloured liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.09 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.40-2.44 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 7$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.47-2.52 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 15$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.65 (s, 3H, N $CH_3$ ), 4.28-4.35 (m, 1H, CH), 6.63 (t, 1H, J = 7.5Hz, ArH), 6.79 (d, 2H, J = 8Hz, ArH), 7.15-7.18 (dd, 2H,  $J_1 = 7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 8.5$ Hz, ArH) 12.12 (br s, 1H, COOH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 21.8, 35.3, 44.1, 56.2, 118.7, 121.8, 134.1, 155.1, 178.10; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3039 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2969 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2928 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2814 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2667br (OH), 1701 (C=O), 1497 (C=C), 1283 (C-O), 1205 (C-N); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 68.37; H, 7.82; N, 7.25. Found: C, 68.58; H, 7.99; N, 7.34.

# 3-(pyridin-3-ylamino)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3g)

Blood red coloured liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.64 (d, 3H, J = 7Hz, Me), 2.81-2.87 (m, 2H, CH*CH*<sub>2</sub>CO), 4.94-4.99 (m, 1H, CH), 7.54-7.56 (dd, 1H,  $J_I$  = 2.5Hz,  $J_2$  = 8Hz, ArH), 7.58-7.61 (dd, 1H,  $J_I$  = 5.5Hz,  $J_2$  = 8.5Hz, ArH), 8.086 (d,1H, J = 5.5Hz, ArH), 8.51 (t, 1H, J = 2Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 21.4, 44.8, 66.7, 126.7, 127.1, 127.5, 129.0, 148.6, 171.4; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3328br,vs (NH), 1630 (C=O), 1568 (C=N), 1508 (C=C), 1384 (C-O), 1152 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) =

361.2 (2M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 181.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 59.99; H, 6.71; N, 15.55. Found: C, 59.92; H, 6.76; N, 15.64.

# 3-(pyridin-4-ylamino)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3h)

White crystals, mp 221°C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.53 (d, 3H, *J* = 7Hz, Me), 2.63-2.71 (m, 2H, CH*CH*<sub>2</sub>CO), 4.65-4.72 (m, 1H, CH), 6.77-6.79 (dt, 2H, *J*<sub>1</sub> = 3Hz, *J*<sub>2</sub> = 7.5Hz, ArH), 8.11-8.14 (dt, 2H, *J*<sub>1</sub> = 3Hz, *J*<sub>2</sub> = 7.5Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$ : 21.1, 45.7, 64.4, 110.7, 142.6, 160.9, 176.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3472 (NH), 3060br, vs (OH), 1648 (C=O), 1571 (C=N), 1520 (C=C), 1389 (C-O), 1167 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 203.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 181.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 59.99; H, 6.71; N, 15.55. Found: C, 60.04; H, 6.79; N, 15.67.

# 3-(benzylamino)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3i)

White Solid, mp 169 °C (lit. 186-187 °C)<sup>1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.13 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.12-2.17 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 8$ Hz,  $J_2 = 16$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.24-2.29 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 16$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 3.06-3.09 (m, 1H, CH) 3.48 (br s, 2H, NH), 3.83, 3.93 (2d, 2H, J = 13Hz, Ar $CH_2$ NH), 7.30-7.42 (m, 5H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 18.3, 48.0, 49.8, 127.5, 128.4, 128.5, 137.0, 173.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3053 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2973 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2930 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2814 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2794br, 2365 (NH), 1554 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>asym</sub>), 1367 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>sym</sub>), 1067 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 216.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 194.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 134.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 68.37; H, 7.82; N, 7.25. Found: C, 68.29; H, 7.68; N, 7.43.

# 3-(cyclopropylamino)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3j)

Light brownish solid, mp 104 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$ : 0.34-0.36 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 0.46-0.51 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 1.09 (d, 3H, *J* = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.13-2.27 (m, 3H, CH*CH*<sub>2</sub>CO and NH*CH*(C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub>)), 2.24-2.29 (dd, 1H, *J*<sub>1</sub> = 5Hz, *J*<sub>2</sub> = 16Hz, CH*CH*<sub>2</sub>CO), 3.05-3.11 (m, 1H, CH), 5.18 (br s, 2H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$ : 4.6, 5.4, 19.0, 27.2, 40.1, 50.9, 173.4; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3369br, 2737br (NH), 2973 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2978 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1542 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>asym</sub>), 1377 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>sym</sub>), 1037 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 166.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 144.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 58.72; H, 9.15; N, 9.78. Found: C, 58.86; H, 9.28; N, 10.04.

## 3-{[2-(morpholin-4-yl)ethyl]amino}butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3k)

Orange liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.32 (d, 3H, J = 7Hz, Me), 2.33-2.39 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 9$ Hz,  $J_2 = 17$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.46-2.67 (m 7H), 3.09-3.13, 3.14-3.20 (2m, 2H), 3.39-3.46 (m, 1H, CH), 3.69-3.76 (m, 4H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 17.4, 50.8, 52.9, 53.1, 54.9, 66.0, 66.1, 173.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3383br, 2358br, (NH), 2963 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2867 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2819 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1575 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>asym</sub>), 1389 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>sym</sub>), 1246 (C-O-C <sub>asym</sub>), 1110 (C-N), 1023 (C-O-C <sub>sym</sub>); ESI MS (m/z) = 239.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 217.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 157.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>, 114.1 (M-CH<sub>2</sub>NHCH(CH<sub>3</sub>)CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 55.53; H, 9.32; N, 12.95. Found: C, 55.70; H, 9.46; N, 13.23.

#### 3-(morpholin-4-yl)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3l)

Orange liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ , D<sub>2</sub>Oexch)  $\delta$ : 1.17 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 2.25-2.29 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 6$ Hz,  $J_2 = 16.5$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.39-2.45 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 8.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 16.5$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.98-2.99 (br, d 2H), 30.9-3.12 (m, 2H), 3.36-3.40 (m, 1H, CH), 3.78-3.86 (m, 4H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 14.1, 37.3, 47.8, 56.0, 66.2, 66.3, 173.4; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3373br, vs (NH), 1542 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>asym</sub>), 1382 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>sym</sub>),1293 (C-O-C <sub>asym</sub>), 1103 (C-N), 1068 (C-O-C <sub>sym</sub>); ESI MS (m/z) = 196.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 174.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 114.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: C, 55.47; H, 8.73; N, 8.09. Found: C, 55.34; H, 8.80; N, 8.23.

#### 3-(piperidin-1-yl)butanoic acid (S<sub>1</sub>3m)

Orange liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 0.99 (d, 3H, J = 6.5Hz, Me), 1.45-1.49 (m, 2H), 1.53-1.64 (m, 3H), 2.05-2.09 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 16.5$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.31-2.37 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 10.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 16.5$ Hz, CH $CH_2$ CO), 2.55-2.59 (m, 2H), 2.78-2.83 (m, 2H), 3.07-3.14 (m, 1H, CH), 3.51 (br s, 1H NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 13.1, 22.9, 24.7, 36.3, 47.3, 57.3, 173.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3379br, vs (NH), 2949 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2864 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1579 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>asym</sub>), 1378 (COO<sup>-</sup><sub>sym</sub>), 1020 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 194.1 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 172.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 112.1(M-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 63.13; H, 10.01; N, 8.18. Found: C, 62.96; H, 9.89; N, 8.27.

Crystal data [CCDC No. 938804]			
Empirical formula	C <sub>7</sub> H <sub>15</sub> N O <sub>3</sub>		
Formula weight	161.2		
Crystal size (mm)	0.4 x 0.3 x 0.2		
Crystal system	Monoclinic		
Space group	P21/n		
a (Å); b (Å); c (Å)	9.6886 (5); 8.1903 (4); 10.9598 (6)		
$\alpha$ (°); $\beta$ (°); $\gamma$ (°)	90.00; 99.022 (3); 90.00		
Volume (Å <sup>3</sup> )	858.93 (8)		
Z	4		
Crystal density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.246		
F(000)	312		
Absorption coefficient	0.096		
Temperature (T)	296 (2)		
Radiation wavelength	0.71073		
Radiation type	ΜοΚα		
Radiation source	Fine-focus sealed tube		
Radiation monochromator	Graphite		
h <sub>min</sub> ; k <sub>min</sub> ; l <sub>min</sub>	-12; -10; -13		
h <sub>max</sub> ; k <sub>max</sub> ; l <sub>max</sub>	12; 10; 13		
R-Factor (%)	3.44		

Table 2.1: Crystal data and measurement details of compound  $S_13j$ 

The <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, ESI MS spectra of representative compound  $S_13h$  are shown below.





#### 2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Since the preliminary experiments aimed to obtain  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acid via aza-Michael addition of amines to crotonic acid by mechanical activation, the reaction between solid-solid and solid-liquid reactants were carried out. In solid-solid reactants, equimolar amounts of amines and crotonic acid were taken in an Agate mortar and ground for two min at RT. The starting materials resulted in formation of a liquid melt completely during grinding. The homogeneous liquid thus formed was allowed to stand for another 5-30 min for completion of the reaction. In case of liquidsolid interactions, the reactants were taken in pre-weighed petri dish and mixed with spatula for two min at RT and then mixture was allowed to stand for 5-30 min. The reaction completion was monitored by TLC. The purity of the product obtained was good enough for spectroscopic analysis in most of the cases. In few cases small amount of starting materials were remained unreacted along with the product, even after prolonged standing time. Only for those reactions the products were purified by column chromatography. The product formation was confirmed by FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR analysis and further,  $S_13j$  was selected as representative compound and the structure was unequivocally confirmed by the SCXRD studies (Fig. 2.4).

In order to delineate the scope of the current green protocol, a series of N-substituted  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acid were synthesized by reacting crotonic acid with wide variety of amines. The reaction with aromatic, aliphatic substituted primary as well as secondary amines and pyridyl amines has been carried out to study the affect of amine nucleophilicity. The results are summarized in Table 2.2.



Fig. 2.4: ORTEP (50% probability) diagram of the crystal structure of  $S_13j$ obtained as hydrate

Initial study was carried out by the reaction of crotonic acid with aniline (Table 2.2 entry 1), which yielded the Michael adduct quantitatively without using any auxiliary substances. It was found that the nature of the substitution on the anilines had great influence on the reaction. As expected, the reaction proceeded faster with electron rich anilines. Weak electron donating alkyl substitution at p-position (Table 2.2 entry

2, 3) didn't make much difference in the reaction progress as compared to aniline. However, the Michael adduct obtained quantitatively within two min when crotonic acid was reacted with *p*-anisidine (Table 2.2, entry 4). The reaction with 4-chloroaniline (Table 2.2, entry 5), resulted in comparatively low yield and small amount of starting materials were remain unreacted even after prolonged reaction time. On the other hand, only unreacted starting materials were observed when 4-nitroaniline (Table 2.2 entry 14) was used as Michael donor. This may be attributed to the poorer nucleophilicity of aniline due to the presence of strong electron withdrawing group (Jiang et al. 2011). The reaction of crotonic acid with N-methyl aniline (Table 2.2, entry 6), a secondary aromatic amine was slower and incomplete. This low reactivity of secondary amine as compared to primary amine may be due to the steric hindrance in the later case. Surprisingly, aminopyridines (Table 2.2, entry 7, 8), which generally protonate on the ring due to the existence of amino tautomeric form (Joule and Mills, 2007) could also able to yield Michael adduct efficiently by present green protocol.

Entry	Amines	Method <sup>a</sup> /Time (min)	$\beta$ -aminobutyric acid	%Yield <sup>b</sup>
1	<b>S</b> <sub>1</sub> 1a	Method B/2+10	$S_13a$	Quantitative
2	<b>S</b> <sub>1</sub> <b>1b</b>	Method A/2+10	<b>S₁3b</b>	Quantitative
3	$S_{11c}$	Method B/2+10	$S_13c$	Quantitative
4	$S_{1}1d$	Method B/2+0	S <sub>1</sub> 3d	Quantitative
5	S <sub>1</sub> 1e	Method A/5+30	S <sub>1</sub> 3е	88% <sup>°</sup>

**Table 2.2:** Synthesis of N-substituted derivatives of  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acid

Contd.				
6	S <sub>1</sub> 1f	Method B/2+30	<b>S13f</b>     Он	82% <sup>c</sup>
7	$S_1 1g$	Method A/2+5	$\mathbf{S_{1}3g}$	Quantitative
8	$S_1 1h$	Method A/2+0	$\mathbf{S_{13h}}_{N} \xrightarrow{H}_{OH} \xrightarrow{OH}_{OH}$	Quantitative
9	S <sub>1</sub> 1i	Method B/2+5	<b>S13i</b>	97%
10	$S_11j$	Method B/2+0	S <sub>1</sub> 3j	99%
11	$S_{1}1k$	Method B/2+5	$S_13k$	94%
12	S <sub>1</sub> 11	Method B/2+10	S13I	Quantitative
13	S <sub>1</sub> 1m	Method B/2+10	<b>S₁3m</b> О́ О́н	Quantitative
14	$S_1 1n$	Method A/10+60	S13n <sup>O<sub>2</sub>N</sup>	00

<sup>a</sup>Method A: grinding of reactants with mortar and pestle followed by allowing the mixture for standing; Method B: mixing the reactants with spatula in a petri dish followed by allowing the mixture for standing. <sup>b</sup>Yield of pure product. <sup>c</sup>Pure product obtained by column chromatography.

Inspired by the successful attempt with aromatic amines, the current green protocol was further extended to the reaction of crotonic acid with more basic aliphatic

primary and secondary amines. An exothermic reaction started immediately after mixing equimolar ratio of the reactants and formed white solid which further liquefied at RT. Primary aliphatic amines (Table 2.2 entry **9**, **10**, **11**) solidified after scratching the viscous liquid with few drops of EtOAc in ice cold condition. The solid product was then filtered and washed with minimum quantity of EtOAc to get pure Michael adduct in excellent yield. However the reaction with secondary aliphatic amines (Table 2.2, entry **12**, **13**) resulted in quantitative yield without any purification.

In order to evaluate the applicability of the present methodology to other  $\alpha,\beta$ unsaturated acids, Michael addition of *p*-toluidine and benzylamine (chosen as representatives for aromatic and aliphatic amines) was carried out with various other  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids (Table 2.3).

Entry	Amines	α,β-unsaturated acid	$\beta$ -amino acid	%Yield
1	$\overbrace{}^{\textbf{S_110}}_{\text{NH}_2}$	O II	<b>S130</b> , мн о , он он	$00^{a}$
2	S <sub>1</sub> 1p	ОН	S <sub>1</sub> 3р	00 <sup>b</sup>
3	$S_{1}1q$	O O2N OH	S <sub>1</sub> 3q O <sub>2</sub> N- O <sub>2</sub> N- OH	00 <sup>a</sup>
4	$S_1 1r$ $NH_2$		S <sub>1</sub> 3r	00 <sup>b</sup>

Table 2.3: List of reactions that were failed to get product under present protocol



<sup>a</sup>Method A: grinding of reactants with mortar and pestle followed by allowing the mixture for standing; <sup>b</sup>Method B: mixing the reactants with spatula in a petri dish followed by allowing the mixture for standing.

The mechanochemical grinding of *p*-toluidine with cinnamic acid (Table 2.3, entry 1) resulted in instantaneous melt formation. However, the Michael adduct was not formed even after 48 h of standing. Similar observation was found when benzylamine was reacted with cinnamic acid (Table 2.3, entry 2). Further, the present solvent- and catalyst-free protocol was examined with more electron deficient trans-4nitrocinnamic acid. The presence of electron withdrawing nitro-group increases the reactivity of  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyls towards Michael addition. However, the present method fails to yield the Michael adduct when the reaction of p-toluidine and benzylamine was carried out with trans-4-nitrocinnamic acid (Table 2.3, entries 3 and 4). This limitation of the present grinding protocol towards  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids containing aromatic substitution at  $\beta$ -carbon may be attributed to the poorer reactivity of  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids induced by the steric factor and resonance stability due to the presence of phenyl group at the  $\beta$ -carbon of acid. Further, the reaction of p-toluidine and benzylamine with 3,3-dimethylacrylic acid (Table 2.3, entries 5 and 6) fails to yield corresponding Michael adducts. The steric hindrance caused by the dimethyl group present on  $\beta$ -carbon may restrict further addition to 3,3-dimethylacrylic acid.

To further explore the potential of this protocol for industrial application, a gram scale synthesis of 3-[(4-methylphenyl)amino]butanoic acid ( $S_13b$ ) was carried out in an Agate mortar and pestle (Scheme 2.4). Stoichiometric amounts of  $S_11b$  (20 mmol)

and crotonic acid (20 mmol) were ground for 2 min and allowed to stand for 15 min. The desired product was obtained quantitatively without using any auxiliaries.



2.14 g 1.72 g 15 min standing, quantitative yield Scheme 2.4: Gram scale synthesis of 3-[(4-methylphenyl)amino]butanoic acid  $(S_13b)$ 

#### **2.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, a simple, atom economical, highly efficient, environmentally benign procedure for the synthesis of N-substituted  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acids has been developed using grinding induced solvent- and catalyst-free conditions. The developed methodology is applicable for wide variety of amines to obtain the desired products in excellent yield. Nevertheless, the present grinding protocol fails to yield Michael adduct with  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated acids with aromatic substitution at  $\beta$ -position and sterically hindered  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated acids. The reaction proceeded efficiently even in gram scale without any decrease in product yield. Auxiliary free conditions, short reaction time, less energy requirement, operational simplicity, high atom economy, and quantitative yield are the main features of the present procedure.
## **CHAPTER 3**

## CONDENSATION OF MALONONITRILE WITH SALICYLALDEHYDES AND O-AMINOBENZALDEHYDES: SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE SYNTHESIS OF 4*H*-CHROMENES AND QUINOLINES

In this chapter, the solvent- and catalyst-free reaction of malononitrile with salicylaldehydes and o-aminobenzaldehydes has been described. Further, the reaction pathway, versatility of the current green protocol has been discussed.

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

Knoevenagel condensation of aldehyde with active methylene compound is one of the classical methods for olefin synthesis. Although the Knoevenagel condensation is well known since 1898 (Knoevenagel 1898), several advantages like reaction simplicity, mild condition, application in synthesizing biologically privileged compounds made it incessant field of research among organic chemists. Owing to the importance of this reaction, several green approaches have been developed under solvent-free conditions (Ren et al. 2002), on solid support (Wada and Suzuki 2003), promoted by infrared (Delgado et al. 1995; Obrador et al. 1998), ultrasonic (Shindalkar et al. 2005), microwave (Sabitha et al. 1998; Mitra et al. 1999; Bandgar et al. 1999; Biradar and Sasidhar 2011) electrochemical (Feroci et al. 2007) and thermal heating (Rao and Venkataratnam 1991) conditions. Kaupp et al. (2003) conducted quantitative Knoevenagel condensation reactions of aldehydes with various active methylene components in the solid state and melt condition. Inspired by their work, Trotzki et al. (2008a; 2008b) studied Knoevenagel condensation by reacting series of aldehydes with malononitrile under solvent and waste free conditions and at ambient temperature. The resulting product by reacting malononitrile with salicylaldehyde was reported as benzofuran-2-carbonitrile through intramolecular cyclization followed by elimination of hydrocyanic acid. However, the structure of the product was assigned with inadequate spectroscopic data. The detailed literature survey reveals that, it could be plausible to synthesize various chromene derivatives (Fig. 3.1) (Yadav et al. 2007; Vaghei et al. 2011; Sakurai et al. 1972; Fringuelli et al. 2003; Elinson et al. 2006; O'Callaghan et al. 1995; Costa et al. 2008) by delicate control of the experimental conditions in conventional reaction of salicylaldehyde with malononitrile.



Fig. 3.1: Various products observed in the reaction of salicylaldehyde and malononitrile under conventional methods

With the aim to elucidate the exact structure of the product and to determine reaction pathway, the solvent- and catalyst-free reaction of salicylaldehyde and malononitrile was reinvestigated under mechanochemical mixing, thermal heating and direct crystallization process. The structure of the product was fully characterized by spectroscopic measurements (FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, MS) and it was further confirmed with reported literature (Yadav et al. 2007; Vaghei et al. 2011; Sakurai et al. 1972; Fringuelli et al. 2003; Elinson et al. 2006; O'Callaghan et al. 1995; Costa et al. 2008). Further, in order to expand the scope of the developed methodology eleven derivatives of *o*-hydroxybenzaldehyde and three *o*-aminobenzaldehydes were reacted with malononitrile to obtain 4*H*-chromene derivatives and quinoline derivatives respectively.

#### **3.2 EXPERIMENTAL**

#### 3.2.1 General

All chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Melting points were determined with Stuart SMP3 melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. IR spectra were recorded on a Thermo scientific Nicolet Avatar 330 FTIR spectrometer by ATR method. NMR spectra were recorded as a solution in DMSO- $d_6$  at 500 MHz (<sup>1</sup>H) and 400 MHz (<sup>13</sup>C) instrument. Chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) are reported in ppm with TMS as internal standard. *J*-values are given in Hz.

NMR raw data was analysed with the program MestReNova 7.0.0-8331. Mass spectra were performed on Waters Micromass Q-Tof Micro spectrometer with an ESI source. Elemental analysis was performed using Perkin Elmer, Series II, 2400 analyzer. The SCXRD analysis was performed on the Bruker AXS APEX II system. X-ray powder diffraction patterns were recorded on an XPERT Philips (Cu K $\alpha$  radiation) diffractometer. All experiments were monitored by TLC, performed on pre-coated silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> plates (Merck).

#### 3.2.2 General Procedure for the preparation of $S_23$

**Mechanochemical grinding**: In an Agate mortar, an aldehyde (2 mmol) and malononitrile (4 mmol) were subjected to mechanical grinding/mixing (in case of liquid aldehydes) for five min at RT. The homogeneous liquid reaction mixture was then allowed to stand at RT for the times given in Table 3.3. Solidification of the final products took place during this period. The crude solid was then washed with EtOH, filtered and dried under vacuum to obtain pure solid product.

#### 3.2.3 General Procedure for the preparation of $S_24$

**Melt reaction**: 1:1.2 molar ratios of aldehyde (2 mmol) and malononitrile (2.4 mmol) were taken in a 10 mL round bottom (RB) flask and subjected to melt using conventional oil bath at 150 °C and stirred for 1 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to RT and recrystallized with 60% EtOAc in PE, filtered and dried under vacuum to obtain pure solid products in good yield (as shown in Table 3.4).

All the newly synthesized compounds were characterized by spectral analysis and the spectral data of the final compounds are given below.

#### $(2\mbox{-}amino\mbox{-}3\mbox{-}cyano\mbox{-}4H\mbox{-}chromen\mbox{-}4\mbox{-}yl) malononitrile} \ (S_23a)$

White solid; mp: 151~153 °C (lit. 150-153 °C) <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.59 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.07 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.14 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 8.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 0.9$ Hz, ArH), 7.27 (dt, 1H,  $J_I = 7.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 0.9$ Hz, ArH), 7.43-7.45 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.47-7.49 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.53 (s, 2H, NH); ; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3448 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3326 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2929 (CH), 2239 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2188 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1635 (C=C), 1223 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 235.2 (M-H)<sup>-</sup>.

#### (2-amino-3-cyano-8-methoxy-4H-chromen-4-yl)malononitrile (S<sub>2</sub>3b)

White solid; mp: 160~162 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 3.84 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.57 (d, 1H, J = 3Hz, CH), 5.05 (d, 1H, 3Hz, CNCHCN), 7.00 (d, 1H, J = 7.5Hz, ArH), 7.12 (d, 1H, J = 8Hz, ArH), 7.19-7.22 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.54 (s, 2H, NH); IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3459 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3352 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2915 (CH), 2242 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2190 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1641 (C=C), 1275 (C-N), 1216 (C-O), 1083.

#### (2-amino-3-cyano-7-methoxy-4*H*-chromen-4-yl)malononitrile (S<sub>2</sub>3c)

White solid; mp: 149~151 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.79 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.50 (d, 1H, *J* = 4Hz, CH), 5.01 (d, 1H, *J* = 4Hz, CN*CH*CN), 6.65 (d, 1H, *J* = 2.5Hz, ArH), 6.87 (dd, 1H, *J*<sub>1</sub> = 8.5Hz, *J*<sub>2</sub> = 3Hz, ArH), 7.38 (d, 1H, *J* = 8.5Hz, ArH), 7.49 (s, 2H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125.75 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$ : 34.4, 38.7, 57.4, 103.2, 111.6, 113.5, 114.9, 115.1, 121.3, 131.5, 152.5, 162.2, 165.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3409 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3332 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2956 (CH), 2242 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2186 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1645 (C=C), 1293 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 267.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>10</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 63.15; H, 3.79; N, 21.04, Found: C, 63.26; H, 3.88; N, 21.22.

#### (2-amino-3-cyano-6-methoxy-4*H*-chromen-4-yl)malononitrile (S<sub>2</sub>3d)

White solid; mp: 144~146 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 3.76 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.54 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.10 (d, 1H, J = 3.5Hz, CNCHCN), 6.98 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 3$ Hz,  $J_2 = 9$ Hz, ArH), 7.06-7.08 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.45 (s, 2H, NH); IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3395 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3335 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2260 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2182 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1654 (C=C), 1211 (C-N).

#### (2-amino-3-cyano-8-ethoxy-4H-chromen-4-yl)malononitrile (S<sub>2</sub>3e)

White solid; mp: 141~143 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 1.36 (t, 3H, J = 7Hz, OCH<sub>2</sub>*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 4.09-4.16 (m, 2H, CH<sub>3</sub>*CH*<sub>2</sub>Ar), 4.56 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.04 (d, 1H, 4Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.00 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 =$  8Hz,  $J_2 =$  1Hz, ArH), 7.10-7.12 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.18 (t, 1H, J = 8Hz, ArH), 7.5 (s, 2H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 15.0, 32.8, 37.8, 49.4, 64.9, 113.4, 113.6, 114.5, 119.4, 119.8, 120.2, 125.4, 139.9, 146.8, 163.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3469 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3348 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2989 (CH), 2945, 2895, 2254 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2190 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1640 (C=C), 1275 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 281.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 64.28; H, 4.32; N, 19.99, Found: C, 64.37; H, 4.37; N, 20.06.

#### (2-amino-6-chloro-3-cyano-4H-chromen-4-yl)malononitrile (S23f)

White solid; mp: 152~154 °C (lit. 151-154°C) ; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.62 (d, 1H, J = 3.5Hz, CH), 5.15 (d, 1H, J = 3.5Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.18 (d, 1H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 7.48 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 8.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 2.5$ Hz, ArH), 7.58 (d, 1H, 2.5Hz, ArH), 7.61 (s, 2H, NH); IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3438 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3327 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2882 (CH), 2239 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2189 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1636 (C=C), 1227 (C-N).

#### $(2\mbox{-}amino\mbox{-}3\mbox{-}cyano\mbox{-}6\mbox{-}nitro\mbox{-}4H\mbox{-}chromen\mbox{-}4\mbox{-}yl) malononitrile} (S_2 3 g)$

White solid; mp: 179~181 °C (lit. 180-181°C) ; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.81 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.23 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.40 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 7.81 (s, 2H, NH), 8.30 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 9$ Hz,  $J_2 = 2.5$ Hz, ArH), 8.53 (d, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH); IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3403 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3316 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2901 (CH), 2256 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2195 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1654 (C=C), 1251 (C-N).

#### $(2\mbox{-}amino\mbox{-}3\mbox{-}cyano\mbox{-}8\mbox{-}methoxy\mbox{-}6\mbox{-}nitro\mbox{-}4\mbox{-}H\mbox{-}chromen\mbox{-}4\mbox{-}yl)malononitrile\ (S_23h)$

White solid; mp: 189~191 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.00 (s, 3H), 4.77 (d, 1H, J = 3.5Hz, CH), 5.21 (d, 1H, J = 3.5Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.82 (s, 2H, NH), 7.91 (d, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH), 8.10 (d, 1H, J = 3Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 32.8, 37.4, 49.1, 57.2, 108.1, 113.1, 113.2, 116.5, 119.2, 119.8, 144.1, 144.4, 148.2, 163.1; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3442 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3339 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2871 (CH), 2254 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2191 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1638 (C=C), 1230 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 312.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>9</sub>N<sub>5</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 54.02; H, 2.91; N, 22.50, Found: C, 53.96; H, 2.97; N, 22.63.

#### $(2\mbox{-}amino\mbox{-}3\mbox{-}cyano\mbox{-}6,\mbox{8-}dinitro\mbox{-}4H\mbox{-}chromen\mbox{-}4\mbox{-}yl) malononitrile} (S_2 3 i)$

Light brown solid; mp: 188~190 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.92 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.29 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CN*CH*CN), 8.02 (s, 2H, NH), 8.78 (d, 1H, J = 3Hz, ArH), 8.89 (d, 1H, J = 3Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ :32.6, 37.2, 49.3, 112.8, 113.0, 118.6, 121.9, 122.5, 129.2, 138.4, 142.9, 146.9, 162.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3406 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3321 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2900 (CH), 2257 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2199 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1645 (C=C), 1216 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 327(M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>6</sub>N<sub>6</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 47.86; H, 1.85; N, 25.76, Found: C, 48.04; H, 1.89; N, 25.89.

#### (2-amino-8-bromo-6-chloro-3-cyano-4H-chromene-4-yl)malononitrile (S<sub>2</sub>3j)

White solid; mp: 173~175 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.67 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.17 (d, 1H, J = 4.5Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.60 (d, 1H, J = 2Hz, ArH), 7.75 (s, 2H, NH), 7.90 (d, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 32.7, 37.7, 49.3, 111.1, 113.1, 113.2, 119.2, 121.8, 128.6, 129.4, 133.3, 146.3, 163.4; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3435 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3334 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2891 (CH), 2256 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2189 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1649 (C=C), 1245 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 350.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>6</sub>BrClN<sub>4</sub>O: C, 44.67; H, 1.73; N, 16.03, Found: C, 44.72; H, 1.79; N, 16.19.

#### (2-amino-3-cyano-6,8-diiodo-4*H*-chromen-4-yl)malononitrile (S<sub>2</sub>3k)

White solid; mp: 197~199 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 4.59 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CH), 5.13 (d, 1H, J = 4Hz, CN*CH*CN), 7.69 (s, 2H, NH), 7.82 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.2 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 32.8, 37.4, 49.5, 87.3, 90.2, 113.1, 113.3, 119.2, 121.5, 137.8, 146.9, 149.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3410 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3322 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2888 (CH), 2255 (CN<sub>aliph</sub>), 2195 (CN<sub>conj</sub>), 1648 (C=C), 1245 (C-N); ESI MS (m/z) = 489(M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>6</sub>I<sub>2</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O: C, 31.99; H, 1.24; N, 11.48, Found: C, 32.08; H, 1.32; N, 11.57.

#### 2-amino-6-chloro-3-quinolinecarbonitrile (S<sub>2</sub>4a)

Pale yellow solid; mp: 311~313 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 6.71 (s, 2H, NH), 6.79 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 7.32 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 9$ Hz,  $J_2 = 2$ Hz, ArH), 7.77 (d, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH), 8.31 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125.75 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 97.5, 118.1, 123.4, 128.4, 128.8, 129.4, 134.8, 146.5, 149.6, 157.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3432 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3364 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2221 (CN), 1653 (NH<sub>bend</sub>); ESI MS (m/z) = 204.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>6</sub>ClN<sub>3</sub>: C, 58.98; H, 2.97; N, 20.64, Found: C, 59.12; H, 3.08; N, 20.77.

#### 2-amino-6,8-dibromo-3-quinolinecarbonitrile (S<sub>2</sub>4b)

Pale yellow solid; mp: 314~316 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 7.42 (s, 2H, NH), 8.03 (d, 1H, J = 1.5Hz, ArH), 8.17 (d, 1H, J = 2Hz, ArH), 8.69 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 114.1, 116.2, 121.7, 123.2, 130.7, 138.1, 145.4, 145.9, 156.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3476 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3308 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2219 (CN), 1645

(NH<sub>bend</sub>); ESI MS (m/z) = 328 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>; Anal. Calcd for  $C_{10}H_5Br_2N_3$ : C, 36.73; H, 1.54; N, 12.85, Found: C, 36.77; H, 1.52; N, 12.92.

#### 2-amino-1,8-naphthyridine-3-carbonitrile (S<sub>2</sub>4c)

Pale yellow solid; mp: 279~280 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 7.30 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 8$ Hz,  $J_2 = 4$ Hz, ArH), 7.39 (s, 2H, NH), 8.18 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 8$ Hz,  $J_2 = 2$ Hz, ArH), 8.76(s, 1H, ArH), 8.86 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 4$ Hz,  $J_2 = 2$ Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125.75 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 97.4, 117.2, 117.9, 120.7, 139.6, 148.7, 157.8, 158.8, 159.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3385 (NH<sub>asym</sub>), 3332 (NH<sub>sym</sub>), 2205 (CN), 1657 (NH<sub>bend</sub>); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>6</sub>N<sub>4</sub>: C, 63.52; H, 3.55; N, 32.92, Found: C, 63.58; H, 3.63; N, 33.02.

Crystal data [CCDC No. 870509]			
Empirical formula	C <sub>13</sub> H <sub>8</sub> N <sub>4</sub> O		
Formula weight	236.23		
Crystal size (mm)	0.20 x 0.18 x 0.1		
Crystal system	Triclinic		
Space group	P-1		
a (Å); b (Å); c (Å)	5.6073(8); 8.1748(11); 12.5000(17)		
$lpha$ (°); $eta$ (°); $\gamma$ (°)	103.057(7); 90.883(8); 96.555(8)		
Volume (Å <sup>3</sup> )	1759.02 (10)		
Z	2		
Crystal density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.416		
F(000)	244		
Absorption coefficient	0.096		
Temperature (T)	296 (2)		
Radiation wavelength	0.71073		
Radiation type	ΜοΚα		
Radiation source	Fine-focus sealed tube		
Radiation monochromator	Graphite		
$\mathbf{h}_{\min}; \mathbf{k}_{\min}; \mathbf{l}_{\min}$	-6; -9; -14		
$h_{max}; k_{max}; l_{max}$	6; 9; 14		
R-Factor (%)	5.4		

Table 3.1: Crystal data and measurement details of compound  $S_23a$ 

The <sup>1</sup>H NMR, and ESI MS spectra of  $S_23a$  and <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and ESI MS  $S_24b$  are shown below



Fig. 3.2: <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of S<sub>2</sub>3a



Fig. 3.3: ESI MS spectrum of  $S_23a$ 



Fig. 3.5: <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of  $S_24b$ 



Fig. 3.6: ESI MS spectrum of S<sub>2</sub>4b

#### **3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Initially the reaction of salicylaldehyde with malononitrile was performed by mechanochemical activation, using mortar and pestle. Equimolar amounts of reactants were taken in a pre-weighed Agate mortar and mixed thoroughly with pestle. The reaction mixture slowly converted to viscous liquid after 5 min of mixing, and then it was allowed to stand for 3 h at RT (Table 3.2, entry 1). During this period the reaction mixture slowly converted into white wet solid. The white solid thus obtained was partially soluble in EtOAc and completely got dissolved when 1 drop of DMSO was added. The TLC analysis (30% EtOAc in PE) showed incomplete conversion of salicylaldehyde. The extended standing time did not reach the complete conversion of salicylaldehyde. Then, the wet solid was washed with EtOH to obtain pure white solid and characterized by mp (151~153 °C), FTIR (neat) and <sup>1</sup>H NMR (in DMSO- $d_6$ solvent). The structure assignment of the product was done based on the spectral analysis and confirmed with reported literature (O'Callaghan et al. 1995; Costa et al. 2008). Surprisingly, the obtained product was neither benzylidene-malononitrile nor benzofuran-2-carbonitrile, as reported earlier (Trotzki et al. 2008a, 2008b), but it was found to be (2-amino-3-cyano-4H-chromene-4-yl)malononitrile as shown in Fig. 3.1

(Product **ii**). The resultant product formed as a condensation reaction of malononitrile with aldehyde in 2:1 molar ratio. Further, no formation of any by-product or 1:1 condensation product 2-imino-2*H*-chromene-3-carbonitrile (Fig. 3.1, product **i**) was observed. This may be attributed to the relatively unstable nature of 2-imino-2*H*-chromene-3-carbonitrile (Fig. 3.1, product **i**) (O'Callaghan et al. 1995).

Inspired by the interesting condensation product achieved by mechanical activation, the stoichiometric reaction of malononitrile with salicylaldehyde was further carried out under thermal condition, using a conventional pre-heated oil bath at 150 °C. A vigorous reaction was observed as reported (Trotzki et al. 2008a). The reaction mixture was cooled to RT after 10 min to obtain brown coloured solid. The pure product yielded after washing with EtOH was found to be identical with the chromene that obtained from mechanochemical activation. The parallel reaction with elongated heating resulted in complete decomposition of the product. Further, by the optimization of reaction temperature, it was found that, the reaction carried out at 60 °C resulted in desired product after 30 min without decomposition (Table 3.2, entry **2**).

	$\begin{matrix} \textbf{CHO} \\ \textbf{OH} \end{matrix} + \\ S_2 1a \end{matrix}$	CN Solvent- free CN Catalyst- free	NC CN CN CN CN NH <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> 3a	
Entry	Reaction Condition	Reactant ratio used	Reaction time (h) <sup>a</sup>	% Yield <sup>c</sup>
1	Mechanochemical grinding	1:1	3	49
2	Thermal heating <sup>b</sup>	1:1	0.5	42
3	Direct crystallization	1:1	3.5	48
4	Mechanochemical grinding	1:2	3	98

**Table 3.2:** Reaction of salicylaldehyde with malononitrile under various condiitions

<sup>a</sup> Reactions were monitored by TLC; <sup>b</sup> Reaction carried out at 60 °C; <sup>c</sup> Yield of pure product.

Furthermore, direct crystallization process (Kaupp, 2006) for the reaction of salicylaldehyde with malononitrile has been performed at ambient temperature. Equimolar amounts of reactants were mixed by brief swirling of the reactants in 10 mL RB flask and kept as such at RT under nitrogen atmosphere. White crystalline solid contaminated with light yellowish liquid observed after 3.5 h (Table 3.2, entry **3**). The crystals were filtered and washed with small amount of EtOH. The structure of the resultant product was assigned by FTIR and <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectral analysis, and confirmed unequivocally by SCXRD analysis (Fig. 3.7). Further, X-ray powder diffraction data of the solids obtained by mechanochemical grinding, thermal heating and the bulk solid obtained by direct crystallization process were compared as shown in Fig. 3.8. The virtually superimposible patterns indicate that, the crystal phase of the solid obtained by all methods and that of the single crystal are identical.



Fig. 3.7: ORTEP (50% probability) diagram of the crystal structure of  $S_23a$  obtained from direct crystallization process



Fig. 3.8: Powder X-ray diffraction pattern of  $S_23a$  obtained by the reaction of 1:1 molar ratio of salicylaldehyde and malononitrile under various conditions followed by EtOH wash

The structural elucidation based on spectral analysis revealed that, the product obtained from mechanical activation, thermal condition and by direct crystallyzation process was identical. These results are dissimilar to earlier reports (Trotzki et al. 2008a, 2008b), in which, no product was observed by direct crystallization process in the absence of solvent and at ambient temperature.

To achieve maximum conversion of starting materials in to the final product, the reaction was then performed with 1:2 molar equivalents of salicylaldehyde and malononitrile. Complete conversion of reactants to product  $S_23a$  took place when the reaction mixture was mixed thoroughly for 5 min and then allowed to stand for 3 h at RT in presence of atmospheric air (Table 3.2, entry 4). The white solid product thus formed was characterized without further purification and the structure was confirmed by comparing the data with that obtained in earlier methods. Thus, the present protocol is an example for liquid state reaction in which the product crystallizes during the reaction (Kaupp 2001) to obtain near quantitative yield.

The conventional methods used for the synthesis of (2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-chromene-4-yl)malononitrile derivatives suffer from many disadvantages such as long reaction time, usage of solvent and catalyst etc. Also, the vast biological importance of 2-aminochromenes (Das et al. 2011; Kumar et al. 2011b; Reddy et al. 2011; Erichsen et al. 2010) inspired us to extend the scope of the present protocol. Hence, to

evaluate the generality of the present protocol and to confirm similar chromene formation, twelve salicylaldehyde derivatives were reacted with malononitrile at RT as shown in Scheme 3.1 and listed in Table 3.3. All the reactions proceeded with the liquification of the reaction mixture during grinding or thorough mixing of the reactants in an Agate mortar with pestle followed by solidification of the final product, as explained by the group of Scott (Rothenberg et al. 2001). Purity of the final products obtained was good enough for spectroscopic analysis, however all the compounds were further washed with EtOH.



Scheme 3.1: Reaction of salicylaldehydes with malononitrile under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions

Entry	7	Aldehyde	Reaction Time (h) <sub>a,b</sub>		Chromene derivative	Yield% <sup>c</sup>
1	S <sub>2</sub> 1a	СНО	3	S <sub>2</sub> 3a		98
2	S <sub>2</sub> 1b	CHO OH	4.5	S <sub>2</sub> 3b		97
3	<b>S</b> <sub>2</sub> 1c	СНО	6	S <sub>2</sub> 3c	NC CN CN O NH <sub>2</sub>	89
4	S <sub>2</sub> 1d	СНО	5.5	$S_23d$		95
5	S <sub>2</sub> 1e	СНО	4	S <sub>2</sub> 3e		98

Table 3.3: Substituents of the aldehydes used, reaction time and yield of the products



<sup>a</sup> All the reactions were carried out by grinding/mixing 1:2 molar ratio of reactants with Agate mortar and pestle for 5 min followed by allowing the mixture for standing; <sup>b</sup> Reactions were monitored by checking TLC for every half an hour after mixing; <sup>c</sup> Yield of pure product.

In order to elucidate the reaction pathway, neat reaction of salicylaldehyde ( $S_21a$ ) and malononitrile in 1:2 molar ratios was monitored by IR spectral measurements. IR spectra were recorded until the completion of the reaction for every 3 min intervals. The absorption peaks were assigned by comparing with the literature references (Silverstein 2007; Stuart 2004). IR spectrum obtained just after mixing both reactants appeared as a superimposed spectrum of both the starting materials (Fig. 3.9). At the beginning of the measurement, two absorption peaks appeared at 2960 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2927 cm<sup>-1</sup> which have been assigned to asymmetrical and symmetrical methylene C-H

stretching of malononitrile (Binev et al. 2003). These peaks were merged towards the completion of the reaction and appeared as a single peak at 2932 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to methine C-H stretching absorption of the product. Also the absorption bands of aldehyde group (C=O stretching at 1654 cm<sup>-1</sup>, C-H stretching Fermi doublet at 2857 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2758 cm<sup>-1</sup>) disappeared gradually as the condensation reaction proceeds and concomitantly, a new absorption band corresponding to vinyl nitrile C=C stretching appeared at 1636 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Makarem et al. 2008). After 6 min of reaction, a new absorption peak appeared at v<sub>max</sub> = 2195 cm<sup>-1</sup> and as the reaction proceeds the peak intensity enhanced rapidly with small shift towards lower frequency. This has been assigned to the conjugated C=N stretching absorption (Sridevi et al. 2012). After 15 min, new asymmetrical and symmetrical vNH absorptions and vC-N absorption of product **S**<sub>2</sub>**3a** appeared at 3450 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 3329 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1223 cm<sup>-1</sup> respectively (Fig. 3.9).



Fig. 3.9: IR Monitoring by the ATR method at RT of the solvent- and catalyst-free reaction between salicylaldehyde and malononitrile under grinding condition (Product  $S_23a$ )

Taking into consideration above facts and the final product characterization data, a possible mechanistic pathway is proposed in Scheme 3.2, using  $S_21a$  as an example. Initially, condensation of the salicylaldehyde and malononitrile with the elimination

of water molecule for the formation of salicylidene-malononitrile (A) occur (known to take place under catalyst-free grinding conditions (Ren et al. 2002; Kumar and Sharma, 2011). Since, malononitrile is the most reactive methylene component and the intervention of liquid phase allows a large number of productive molecular collisions (Rothenberg et al. 2001), the proper mixing and energy generated by the friction of the mortar and pestle may drive the reaction to occur. The Knoevenagel adduct thus formed undergoes simultaneous Michael addition with malononitrile and intramolecular cyclization to obtain stable product  $S_23a$ . This was further supported in IR, by the appearance of absorption peak corresponding to conjugated cyano group (2193 cm<sup>-1</sup>) well before the appearance of absorption bands corresponding to amine group present in the bicyclic product.



Scheme 3.2: Proposed mechanism for the reaction between salicylaldehyde and malononitrile to obtain chromene derivative  $S_23a$ 

It was also found that the nature of the substitution on the aromatic ring of salicylaldehyde had great influence on the reaction. The presence of electron withdrawing groups on the aromatic ring leads the reaction very fast and in contrast, electron donating groups lead the reaction slower. For instance, the reaction with 5-nitrosalicylaldehyde (Table 3.3, entry 7) completed very fast, however the reaction fails to give product with 4-N,N-dimethylaminosalicylaldehyde even after 24 h standing time (Table 3.3, entry 12).

Some of the solvent-free reactions suffer from the possibility of runaway reactions at larger scale (Martins et al. 2009). Thus to explore the present protocol at gram scale, the reaction of salicylaldehyde ( $S_21a$ , 20 mmol) with malononitrile (40 mmol) was carried out under neat condition. The reactants were mixed thoroughly using preweighed mortar and pestle and the homogeneous liquid thus formed was left standing at RT. Complete conversion of reactants to product  $S_23a$  took place after 5 h standing. Also, the reaction was not highly exothermic and hence there was no thermal runaway during the course of the reaction.



Scheme 3.3: Reaction of *o*-aminobenzaldehydes with malononitrile under solventand catalyst-free conditions

The next series of experiments concern Knoevenagel product by the reaction of malononitrile with aldehydes containing amine group in ortho-position under neat conditions. The reaction with 5-chloro-2-aminobenzaldehyde resulted in very poor conversion under solvent- and catalyst-free grinding conditions at RT. The main reason for the decreased conversion, one can assume the poorer reactivity of aldehyde due to the presence of more nucleophilic amine group in ortho-position. The reaction was then attempted under melt condition. The neat reactants (1:2 ratio) were taken in 10 mL RB and then heated to 150 °C using a conventional preheated-oil bath. The solid thus obtained was recrystallized with 60% EtOAc in PE and then characterized. As expected, the bicyclic product thus obtained was 2-amino-3-cyano-quinoline derivative (Scheme 3.3). The stability caused by aromaticity (Hepworth, 2002) may be the reason for avoiding Michael addition product as in the case of ohydroxybenzaldehydes. Similar product was reported by solution synthesis using base catalyst under reflux conditions (Kiran and Mahadevan 2006). Further, different ratios of reactants were tested to derive the optimized conditions. The ratio 1:1.2 of aldehydes and malononitrile found to be the more suitable system to obtain the product with good yield. Under similar conditions, the reaction of malononitrile with 3,5-dibromo-2-aminobenzaldehyde resulted in corresponding quinoline derivative (Table 3.4, entry 2). Further, the reaction proceeded successfully with heteroaromatic 2-amino-pyridine-3-carboxaldehyde to obtain corresponding quinolines derivative (Table 3.4, entry 3). Two possible mechanisms for the product formation are shown in Scheme 3.4. The pure products were obtained in good yield by recrystallization from 60% EtOAc in PE (Table 3.4).



Scheme 3.4: Possible mechanism for the reaction between *o*-aminobenzaldehyde and malononitrile

 Table 3.4: Substituents of the 2-aminobenzaldehydes used, reaction time, Product and yield

Entry		Aldehyde	Reaction Time (h) <sup>a</sup>		Quinoline derivative	%Yield <sup>b</sup>
1	S <sub>2</sub> 2a	CICHO NH <sub>2</sub>	1	S <sub>2</sub> 4a	CI NH <sub>2</sub>	79
2	S <sub>2</sub> 2b	Br Br CHO NH <sub>2</sub>	1	S <sub>2</sub> 4b	Br N Br	83
3	S <sub>2</sub> 2c	CHO N NH <sub>2</sub>	1	S <sub>2</sub> 4c		82

<sup>a</sup> All the reactions were carried out by heating 1:1.2 molar ratio of aldehydes and malononitrile at 150 °C; <sup>b</sup> yield of pure product.

#### **3.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, the solvent- and catalyst-free reaction of salicylaldehyde with malononitrile leads to the formation of (2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-chromene-4-yl)malononitrile, instead of benzofuran-2-carbonitrile as reported earlier. The reaction monitored by IR spectral measurements show that, the Knoevenagel adduct undergoes simultaneous Michael addition with malononitrile and intramolecular cyclization to yield bicyclic chromene derivative. Further, eleven salicylaldehyde derivatives were successfully reacted with malononitrile to generate corresponding chromene derivatives. The products were characterized by spectroscopic techniques and were further confirmed by SCXRD ( $S_23a$ ). Neat conditions, short reaction time, high product yield without tedious work up procedures and applicability to gram scale

synthesis are the green relevance and notable advantages of the present methodology over conventional synthesis.

Additionally it was observed that, the reaction of 2-aminobenzaldehydes with malononitrile yield 2-amino-3-cyanoquinolines under melt conditions. The Knoevenagel adduct undergoes simultaneous cyclization and aromatization to obtain the products in good yield.

Overall findings of these studies show that, the Knoevenagel condensation of benzaldehydes containing hydroxyl or amine group in *ortho*-position leads to the bicyclic heterocycles via six membered cyclization.

## **CHAPTER 4**

## A HIGHLY EFFICIENT AND GREEN CASCADE SYNTHESIS OF 3-METHYL-SUBSTITUTED-4-HYDROXY-1-METHYL-QUINOLIN-2(1*H*)-ONES UNDER SOLVENT- AND CATALYST-FREE CONDITIONS

The present chapter deals with an expeditious and green protocol for the synthesis of 3,3'-methanediylbis(4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1H)-one) (MDBHQ) derivatives and 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1H)-one (AOCHQ) derivatives via cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction. The functional tolerance and reaction mechanism of this environmentally benign protocol is discussed.

#### **4.1 INTRODUCTION**

Cascade reactions constitute an attractive branch of organic chemistry and the area of intense research in recent years. The cascade reactions involve two or more bondforming transformations in one synthetic operation (Nicolaou et al. 2006; Nicolaou and Chen 2009). Cascade reactions have gained wide acceptance because they provide molecular complexity and diversity from simple precursors (Lu et al. 2012) and incorporate green chemistry values such as atom economy as well as economies of time, labour, resource management and waste generation (Nicolaou and Chen 2009). Also, these reactions can facilitate ecologically and economically favourable syntheses such as in vitro biological reactions (Ramachari et al. 2007).

Knoevenagel condensation and Michael addition are the classical reactions for the carbon-carbon bond forming strategies in organic synthesis (Csaky et al. 2010; Jones, 1967; Rodriguez et al. 2007; Tietze and Beifuss 1991). Owing to their importance, various conventional protocols have been developed and several near absolute green protocols under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions have also been developed in recent years (Kaupp et al. 2003; Jiang et al. 2011; Trotzki et al. 2008a & 2008b; Xie et al. 2012). Further, development of their combination in to cascade reaction gained recent attention in organic synthesis due to their flexibility to generate complex molecular systems from simple precursors under environmentally acceptable conditions (Chen et al. 2010; Hong et al. 2012; Verma et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2011).

Functionalized 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-ones are attractive targets in organic synthesis because of their highly prominent biological activities and found as useful intermediates for many medicinal products (Buckle et al. 1975; Hewawasam et al. 2003; Angibaud et al. 2004; Cappelli et al. 2004; Mohamed et al. 1995; Stadlbauer et

al. 2001). In recent years, a number of different synthetic pathways have been developed to access functionalized 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-ones (Glasnov et al. 2005; Abass et al. 2011; Jampilek et al. 2009; Abe et al. 2006; Xie et al. 2007; Grigg et al. 2009). However, the construction of functionalized 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-ones under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions has not been reported and is very significant in the context of green chemistry.

The heterocyclic dimeric compounds such as dicoumarols (Karmakar et al. 2012), bisindolylmethanes (Talukdar and Thakur 2013; Mulla et al. 2012), bisquinolines (Karle et al. 2002; Barr et al. 1995; Kamperdick et al. 1999; Raynes 1999), methylenebistetronic acids (Zhang et al. 2011) were found in natural products and broad range of pharmaceuticals. Several efforts have been made and large numbers of reports are available in the literature for the synthesis of such privileged compounds. However, only two reports are available on the synthesis of MDBHQ derivatives (Grigg et al. 2009; Gunasekaran et al. 2013), which obtained as side product. Hence, the development of efficient and green protocol for the synthesis of MDBHQ derivatives is of great importance, which could lead to study their applications in various fields of chemistry.



Against the background, herein the synthesis of MDBHQ derivatives and AOCHQ derivatives via cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction has been reported (Scheme 4.1). The solvent- and catalyst-free reaction conditions, applicability to wide range of aldehydes, avoidance of tedious work-up procedure, and high product yield are notable advantages of the current protocol.

#### **4.2 EXPERIMENTAL**

#### 4.2.1 General

All chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Melting points were determined with Stuart SMP3 melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. IR spectra were recorded on a JASCO 4200 FTIR spectrometer by ATR method. NMR spectra were recorded as a solution in DMSO- $d_6$ /CDCl<sub>3</sub>/MeOD at 400 MHz (<sup>1</sup>H & <sup>13</sup>C) instrument. Chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) are reported ppm with TMS as internal standard. *J*-values are given in Hz. NMR raw data was analysed with the program MestReNova 7.0.0-8331. Mass spectra were performed on Waters Micromass Q-Tof Micro spectrometer with an ESI source. Elemental analysis was performed using Perkin Elmer, Series II, 2400 analyzer. The SCXRD analysis was performed on the Bruker AXS APEX II system. All experiments were monitored by TLC, performed on pre-coated silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> plates (Merck).

#### 4.2.1 General Procedure for the synthesis of MDBHQ derivatives (S<sub>3</sub>4)

4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one  $S_31$  (2 mmol) and aldehydes  $S_32$  (1 mmol) were charged into a 10 mL round-bottom flask and the mixture was heated to 100 °C using conventional oil bath till completion of the reaction (Reaction times given in Table 4.2). The reaction mixture was turned to liquid melt and then became progressively more viscous often hardening to a solid mass. The solid thus obtained was washed with EtOH (2 mL) and dried under vacuum to obtain pure solid product  $S_34$ .

#### 4.2.2 General Procedure for the synthesis of 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one derivatives (S<sub>3</sub>5)

Equimolar quantities of 4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one  $S_{31}$  (1 mmol), aldehydes  $S_{32}$  (1 mmol) and 3-aminocyclohex-2-enone  $S_{3}3g$  (1 mmol) were charged into a 10 mL round-bottom flask and then the mixture was heated to 100 °C using conventional oil bath till the completion of the reaction (times given in Table 4.3). The reaction mixture was turned to liquid melt and then became progressively more viscous often hardening to a solid mass. The solid was washed with EtOH (2 mL) and dried under vacuum to obtain pure solid product  $S_{3}5g-q$ .

All the newly synthesized compounds were characterized by spectral analysis and the spectral data of the final compounds are given below.

## 3-((4-chlorophenyl)(4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4a)

White solid; mp: 175~176 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.64 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 3.75 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 6.30 (s, 1H, CH), 7.03 (dt, 2H,  $J_1$  = 1.6Hz,  $J_2$  = 6.4Hz, ArH), 7.13 (dd, 2H,  $J_1$  = 2Hz,  $J_2$  = 6.4Hz, ArH), 7.24-7.27 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.33 (d, 2H, J = 8.4Hz, ArH), 7.52-7.57 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.11 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$  = 1.6 Hz,  $J_2$  = 8Hz, ArH), 8.17 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$  = 1.6 Hz,  $J_2$  = 8Hz, ArH), 8.17 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$  = 1.6 Hz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 29.0, 29.5, 35.8, 108.4, 110.0, 113.1, 113.2, 116.7, 117.0, 121.6, 123.8, 123.9, 126.9, 127.2, 130.3, 130.4, 135.4, 137.4, 137.5, 160.1, 161.3, 163.8, 165.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2568br (OH), 1627 (C=O), 1556 (C=C), 1490 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>21</sub>ClN<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 68.57; H, 4.48; N, 5.92, Found: C, 68.48; H, 4.54; N, 5.83; MS (ESI MS): 474.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

### 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3yl)(phenyl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4b)

White solid; mp: 289~291 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.73 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 3.84 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 6.45 (s, 1H, CH), 7.18-7.22 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.25-7.35 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.41-7.44 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.60-7.65 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.20 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$  = 1.6 Hz,  $J_2$  = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 8.26 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$  = 1.6 Hz,  $J_2$  = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 12.47 (s, 1H, OH), 12.86 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 30.2, 36.6, 115.4, 116.9, 122.8, 123.6, 125.7, 126.2, 128.1, 131.7, 137.6, 138.1, 160.1, 163.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2569br (OH), 1627 (C=O), 1551 (C=C), 1496 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>22</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 73.96; H, 5.06; N, 6.39, Found: C, 74.02; H, 4.97; N, 6.31; MS (ESI MS): 439.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)(4nitrophenyl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4c)

White solid; mp: 292~294 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.73 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 3.85 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 6.46 (s, 1H, CH), 7.34-7.38 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.45 (d, 2H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.64-7.69 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.11-8.15 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.19 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 8.26 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 12.51 (s, 1H, OH), 12.82

(s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 30.2, 37.2, 94.4, 109.6, 115.4, 116.8, 122.9, 123.2, 123.7, 127.8, 131.9, 138.2, 145.7, 146.7, 156.4, 160.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2567br (OH), 1626 (C=O), 1560 (NO), 1545 (C=C), 1498 (C=C), 1344 (NO); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>6</sub>: C, 67.07; H, 4.38; N, 8.69, Found: C, 67.18; H, 4.29; N, 8.56; MS (ESI MS): 484.2(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 4-(bis(4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)methyl)benzonitrile (S<sub>3</sub>4d)

White solid; mp: 290~292 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, MeOD+DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 3.76 (s, 6H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.36 (s, 1H, CH), 7.29-7.31 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.39 (t, 2H, J = 7.2 Hz, ArH), 7.65-7.68 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.11-7.75 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.10 (d, 2H, J = 8 Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>+DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 28.2, 29.6, 108.6, 114.9, 116.7, 118.6, 121.2, 122.5, 123.5, 127.3, 131.5, 131.6, 132.7, 138.2, 143.9, 146.3, 154.4, 164.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2564br (OH), 2224 (C=N), 1630 (C=O), 1603(C=C), 1542(C=C), 1498 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>28</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 72.56; H, 4.57; N, 9.07, Found: C, 72.61; H, 4.54; N, 9.13.

## 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)(4hydroxyphenyl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4e)

White solid; mp: 208~210 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 3.73 (s, 6H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.20 (s, 1H, CH), 6.65-6.67 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.86 (d, 2H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.34 (t, 2H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.67-7.74 (m, 4H, ArH), 8.08 (s, 2H, ArH), 9.22 (s, 1H, OH), 12.49 (s, 1H, OH), 12.88 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ: 30.1, 30.3, 35.9, 107.7, 110.1, 110.8, 114.9, 115.3, 116.8, 122.7, 123.6, 127.2, 127.3, 131.5, 138.1, 142.3, 155.3, 162.3, 165.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2570br (OH), 1636 (C=O), 1546(C=C), 1491 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>22</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 71.35; H, 4.88; N, 6.16, Found: C, 71.28; H, 4.93; N, 6.28.

## 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)(4methoxyphenyl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4f)

White solid; mp: 236~237 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 3.70 (s, 9H, NC $H_3$  & -OC $H_3$ ), 6.23 (s, 1H, CH), 6.79-6.82 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.97 (d, 2H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH),

7.40 (t, 2H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.67-7.76 (m, 4H, ArH), 8.07 (s, 2H, ArH), 12.78 (brs, 2H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 30.0, 30.3, 35.9, 38.8, 54.9, 113.4, 115.4, 116.9, 122.8, 123.6, 127.3, 129.2, 131.6, 138.1, 142.9, 162.4, 162.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2566br (OH), 1631 (C=O), 1545(C=C), 1493 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>28</sub>H<sub>24</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 71.78; H, 5.16; N, 5.98, Found: C, 71.66; H, 5.23; N, 5.87; ESI MS: 469.9(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)(pyridin-2yl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4g)

White solid; mp: 267~268 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.74 (s, 6H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 6.49 (s, 1H, CH), 7.10-7.13 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.25 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 7.30 (tt, 2H,  $J_I = 0.8$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 7.40 (d, 2H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.57-7.62 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.21 (dd, 2H, 1.6 Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 8.51-8.52 (m, 1H, ArH), 12.71 (brs, 2H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 30.3, 40.3, 110.6, 114.2, 118.1, 121.1, 121.4, 122.5, 124.9, 131.1, 136.2, 138.6, 149.0, 158.1, 161.5, 165.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2563br (OH), 1629 (C=O), 1550 (C=C), 1487 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 71.06; H, 4.82; N, 9.56, Found: C, 71.15; H, 4.77; N, 9.42; ESI MS: 440.8(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-(furan-2-yl(4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)methyl)-4hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4h)

White solid; mp: 240~241 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 3.73 (s, 6H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.08-6.09 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.20 (s, 1H, CH), 6.38-6.39 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.40 (t, 2H, J =7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.49 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.63-7.75 (m, 4H, ArH), 8.07 (dd, 2H,  $J_I =$  1.6 Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 12.49 (s, 1H, OH), 12.85 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 30.06, 30.08, 32.7, 106.3, 110.3, 115.4, 116.8, 122.8, 123.6, 131.7, 138.1, 141.4, 150.9, 156.2, 160.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2566br (OH), 1633 (C=O), 1532 (C=C), 1499 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 70.08; H, 4.71; N, 6.54, Found: C, 69.96; H, 4.63; N, 6.43; ESI MS: 429.9(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)(thiophen-2-yl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4i)

White solid; mp: 263~264 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ + MeOD)  $\delta$ : 3.77 (s, 6H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 6.43 (s, 1H, CH), 6.73-6.74 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.91-6.93 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.25-7.27 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.41 (t, 2H, *J* = 7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.66 (d, 2H, *J* = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.72-

7.76 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.14 (d, 2H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 29.3, 30.07, 33.3, 103.6, 105.9, 114.7, 121.6, 122.4, 125.4, 126.0, 131.2, 138.1, 142.7, 147.7, 148.3, 156.1, 164.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2567br (OH), 1634 (C=O), 1533 (C=C), 1498 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>S: C, 67.55; H, 4.54; N, 6.30, Found: C, 67.46; H, 4.49; N, 6.39.

## 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)(naphthalen-2-yl)methyl)-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4j)

White solid; mp: 303~304 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.65 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 3.79 (s, 3H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 6.52 (s, 1H, CH), 7.23-7.32 (m, 5H, ArH), 7.36-7.39 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.54-7.71 (m, 6H, ArH), 8.16 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 8.21 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 8.21 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 8.21 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 12.45 (s, 1H, OH), 12.81 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 30.1, 30.6, 37.5, 109.7, 111.6, 114.2, 114.3, 117.8, 118.2, 122.6, 122.7, 124.8, 124.9, 125.0, 125.2, 125.3, 125.7, 127.5, 127.7, 127.9, 131.2, 131.3, 132.1, 133.5, 135.4, 138.5, 138.6, 161.3, 162.2, 165.0, 166.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2569br (OH), 1631 (C=O), 1539 (C=C), 1472 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>24</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 76.21; H, 4.95; N, 5.73, Found: C, 76.10; H, 4.82; N, 5.66; ESI MS: 489.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 4-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)methyl)-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>4k)

White solid; mp: 293~294 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.72 (s, 6H, N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 3.96 (s, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.19-7.25 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.31 (d, 2H, *J* = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.49-7.54 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.11 (dd, 2H, *J*<sub>1</sub> = 1.6 Hz, *J*<sub>2</sub> = 8 Hz, ArH), 12.44 (s, 2H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 20.0, 28.7, 29.1, 108.1, 113.1, 116.6, 121.5, 123.4, 129.9, 137.3, 159.6, 165.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2563br (OH), 1630 (C=O), 1537 (C=C), 1483 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 69.60; H, 5.01; N, 7.73, Found: C, 69.51; H, 5.14; N, 7.68; ESI MS: 363.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(4-chlorophenyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>5g)

White solid; mp: 266~267 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.85-1.92 (m, 2H), 2.24-2.35 (m, 2H), 2.43-2.46 (m, 2H), 3.69 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.72 (s, 1H, CH), 7.04-7.07 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.23-7.32 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.57 (d, 1H, J = 8 Hz, ArH), 7.64-7.69

(m, 1H, ArH), 7.93-7.97 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.35 (s, 1H, ArH), 13.7 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 20.3, 29.4, 29.9, 34.7, 35.7, 108.7, 109.2, 114.7, 121.9, 123.7, 127.7, 128.2, 129.6, 131.1, 138.4, 159.9, 164.7, 171.2, 195.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3224 (OH), 3069 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1693 (C=O), 1561 (C=C), 1489 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>21</sub>ClN<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 67.56; H, 5.18; N, 6.85, Found: C, 67.49; H, 5.03; N, 6.78; ESI MS: 409.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(phenyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>5h)

White solid; mp: 250~251 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.91-1.97 (m, 2H), 2.29-2.38 (m, 2H), 2.50-2.67 (m, 2H), 3.74 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.82 (s, 1H, CH), 7.07-7.13 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.19-7.23 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.29-7.32 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.56 (d, 1H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.64-7.69 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.00-8.04 (m, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 20.2, 29.1, 29.3, 35.1, 37.8, 108.6, 109.2, 116.8, 121.6, 123.5, 124.7, 126.0, 127.5, 130.7, 138.2, 139.6, 160.0 164.8, 170.5, 195.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3226 (OH), 3066 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1691 (C=O), 1564 (C=C), 1492 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>22</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 73.78; H, 5.92; N, 7.48, Found: C, 73.59; H, 5.86; N, 7.59; ESI MS: 375.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

### 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(4-nitrophenyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>5i)

White solid; mp: 249~250 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.961-1.99 (m, 2H), 2.44-2.47 (m, 2H), 2.48-2.49 (m, 2H), 3.66 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.91 (s, 1H, CH), 7.24-7.39 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.53-7.61 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.01-8.14 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.85 (s, 1H), 12.82 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>+MeOD)  $\delta$ : 20.2, 29.4, 35.1, 35.9, 114.7, 116.9, 121.1, 123.1, 123.7, 127.6, 131.3, 138.4, 145.3, 148.8, 160.0 164.5, 171.4, 195.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3222 (OH), 3059 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1696 (C=O), 1559 (C=C), 1485 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 65.86; H, 5.05; N, 10.02, Found: C, 65.98; H, 5.16; N, 9.89; ESI MS: 420.2(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 4-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2dihydroquinolin-3-yl)methyl)benzonitrile (S<sub>3</sub>5j)

White solid; mp: 258~259 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.93-1.99 (m, 2H), 2.23-2.29 (m, 2H), 2.42-2.49 (m, 2H), 3.70 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.88 (s, 1H, CH), 7.19-7.22 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.31 (d, 1H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.44-7.59 (m, 4H, ArH), 8.08 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH), 8.83 (s, 1H), 12.83 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 20.1, 29.1, 35.4, 36.1, 107.9, 109.0, 114.1, 118.7, 119.6, 121.7, 123.5, 127.2, 130.9, 131.4, 138.4, 151.7, 155.2, 164.5, 165.3, 195.1; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3226 (OH), 3061 (CH<sub>aron</sub>), 2224 (C≡N), 1690 (C=O), 1558 (C=C), 1490 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 72.16; H, 5.30; N, 10.52, Found: C, 72.08; H, 5.21; N, 10.41; ESI MS: 400.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(4-methoxyphenyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>5l)

White solid; mp: 251~252 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.89-1.98 (m, 2H), 2.19-2.27 (m, 2H), 2.41-2.45 (m, 2H), 3.68 (s, 6H, -O*CH*<sub>3</sub> & N*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 5.82 (s, 1H, , CH, ArH), 6.69-6.72 (m, 2H), 7.00 (d, 2H, *J* = 8.4 Hz, ArH), 7.17-7.30 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.48-7.53 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.09-8.11 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.80 (s, 1H), 13.03 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>+MeOD)  $\delta$ : 19.8, 29.2, 30.1, 34.4, 35.2, 54.2, 109.1, 110.4, 112.4, 112.6, 116.9, 120.9, 123.9, 126.5, 129.7, 130.1, 137.7, 156.3, 159.9, 164.9, 167.5, 196.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3227 (OH), 3062 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1694 (C=O), 1559 (C=C), 1483 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>24</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 71.27; H, 5.98; N, 6.93, Found: C, 71.36; H, 6.09; N, 6.77; ESI MS: 405.0(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## $\label{eq:constraint} 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(furan-2-yl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-$

#### methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>5n)

White solid; mp: 239~241 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.87-1.97 (m, 2H), 2.18-2.25 (m, 2H), 2.38-2.41 (m, 2H), 3.67 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.78 (s, 1H, ArH), 5.92 (s, 1H, CH), 6.20 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.17-7.34 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.48-7.55 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.11-8.16 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.64 (s, 1H), 13.06 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 19.43, 28.8, 30.9, 34.4, 104.1, 106.4, 106.7, 108.7, 113.1, 116.1, 120.8, 121.4, 122.7, 129.9, 137.4, 139.6, 152.4, 153.2, 159.5, 195.1; IR (Neat,

cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3226 (OH), 3072 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1681 (C=O), 1625 (C=C), 1598 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 69.22; H, 5.53; N, 7.69, Found: C, 69.34; H, 5.48; N, 7.57; ESI MS: 365.2(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(thiophen-2-yl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>50)

White solid; mp: 242~244 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.84-1.91 (m, 2H), 2.25-2.29 (m, 2H), 2.37-2.49 (m, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.92 (s, 1H, CH), 6.55-6.56 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.82-6.84 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.18-7.20 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.41 (t, 1H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH) 7.56 (d, 1H, J = 8.4 Hz, ArH) 8.01 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$ Hz, ArH), 8.12 (d, 1H, J = 8 Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 20.1, 26.2, 32.8, 98.1, 100.5, 114.3, 114.9, 121.7, 123.6, 125.9, 130.9, 138.3, 140.9, 146.1, 157.3, 158.9, 164.2, 196.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3226 (OH), 3069 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1683 (C=O), 1620 (C=C), 1594 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>S: C, 66.29; H, 5.30; N, 7.36, Found: C, 66.18; H, 5.22; N, 7.27; ESI MS: 381.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)(naphthalen-2-yl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (S<sub>3</sub>5p)

White solid; mp: 202~204 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.89-2.06 (m, 2H), 2.19-2.28 (m, 2H), 2.42-2.48 (m, 2H), 3.72 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.02 (s, 1H, CH), 7.21-7.35 (m, 5H, ArH), 7.47-7.48 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.53-7.71 (m, 4H, ArH), 8.11-8.13 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.77 (s, 1H), 12.97 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 20.9, 30.6, 31.1, 36.4, 37.5, 109.7, 111.3, 114.2, 118.0, 122.6, 124.7, 125.1, 125.5, 125.7, 127.4, 127.6, 127.7, 127.9, 131.3, 131.8, 133.5, 136.9, 138.8, 161.1, 165.9, 168.6, 197.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3229 (OH), 3060 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1690 (C=O), 1560 (C=C), 1493 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>24</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 76.39; H, 5.70; N, 6.60, Found: C, 76.27; H, 5.66; N, 6.44; ESI MS: 425.9 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)one (S<sub>3</sub>5q)

White solid; mp: 241~242 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 1.77-1.95 (m, 2H), 2.30 (t, 2H, J = 6.4 Hz) 2.45 (t, 2H, J = 6.4 Hz), 3.67 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.51 (s, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.25-7.29 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.50 (d, 1H, J = 8.8 Hz, ArH) 7.57-7.62 (m, 1H,

ArH), 8.00 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 1.6$  Hz,  $J_2 = 8$  Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO $d_6$ +MeOD)  $\delta$ : 18.6, 20.5, 28.3, 28.7, 34.1, 37.6, 37.8, 38.2, 101.0, 106.7, 108.9, 113.9, 116.4, 121.4, 123.0, 130.2, 133.9, 137.9, 164.4, 169.1, 196.1; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3226 (OH), 3050 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1685 (C=O), 1570 (C=C), 1479 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 68.44; H, 6.08; N, 9.39, Found: C, 68.36; H, 5.95; N, 9.44; ESI MS: 298.9 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

Crystal data [CCDC No. 938662]			
Empirical formula	$C_{23}H_{22}N_2O_3$		
Formula weight	374.43		
Crystal size (mm)	0.3 x 0.2 x 0.1		
Crystal system	Monoclinic		
Space group	P21/c		
a (Å); b (Å); c (Å)	14.0952(13); 10.0541(9); 14.1685(13)		
$\alpha$ (°); $\beta$ (°); $\gamma$ (°)	90; 111.8180(10); 90		
Volume (Å <sup>3</sup> )	1864.1(3)		
Z	4		
Crystal density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.334		
F(000)	792		
Absorption coefficient	0.089		
Temperature (T)	296 (2)		
Radiation wavelength	0.71073		
Radiation type	ΜοΚα		
Radiation source	Fine-focus sealed tube		
Radiation monochromator	Graphite		
$h_{min}; k_{min}; l_{min}$	-17; -12; -17		
$h_{max}; k_{max}; l_{max}$	17; 12; 17		
R-Factor (%)	3.82		

Table 4.1: Crystallographic data of compound $S_35I$	1
--	---

The representative <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and ESI MS spectra of  $S_34a$  and  $S_35g$  are given below










<sup>180</sup> <sup>170</sup> <sup>160</sup> <sup>150</sup> <sup>140</sup> <sup>130</sup> <sup>120</sup> <sup>110</sup> <sup>100</sup> <sup>90</sup> <sup>80</sup> <sup>70</sup> <sup>60</sup> <sup>50</sup> <sup>40</sup> <sup>30</sup> <sup>20</sup> <sup>10</sup> **Figure 4.5:** <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of  $S_35g$ 



Fig. 4.6: ESI MS spectrum of S<sub>3</sub>5g

#### **4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Initially, the 2:1 reaction of 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one ( $S_31$ ) and 4chlorobenzaldehyde ( $S_32a$ ) as a probe reaction under solvent- and catalyst-free reaction conditions at 80 °C. The partial melt of the reaction mixture was observed and the reaction was monitored by TLC (6:4 EtOAc: PE). The reaction proceeded via cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction to yield corresponding product  $S_34a$  in 64% within 30 min. However, no further improvement in conversion was observed even after 60 min. The reaction was optimized by varying the temperature to obtain the best possible result. In order to compare the efficiency of the solvent-free reaction with solution reaction, the reaction was carried out under solution state using different solvents (Table 4.2, entry 5-7). The increased reaction time was observed with poor product yield in solution state. This may be attributed to the decreased reactant concentration due to dilution.

 Table 4.2: Optimization of the reaction condition and comparison with solvent assisted reaction <sup>a</sup>



Entry	Solvent	Reaction temperature	<b>Reaction time</b> <sup>b</sup>	Yield <sup>c</sup>
1	None	80	60 min	64
2	None	90	60 min	72
3	None	100	30 min	93
4	None	110	30 min	93
4	EtOH	100	180 min	42
5	Acetonitrile	100	180 min	56
5	Water	100	180 min	trace
6	1,4-dioxane	100	180 min	23
7	Toluene	100	180 min	trace

<sup>a</sup>All the reactions were carried out using 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one (2 mmol) and 4-chlorobenzaldehyde (1 mmol). <sup>b</sup>Reactions were monitored by TLC. <sup>c</sup>Isolated yield.

To evaluate the scope of the present solvent- and catalyst-free heating protocol, 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one was reacted with various aldehydes with diverse functionality and reactivity. As expected, the reaction proceeded faster with aldehydes with electron withdrawal substituents than electron donating substituents. For instance, the reaction with 4-nitrobenzaldehyde (Table 4.3, entry **3**) was completed faster than with 4-methoxybenzaldehyde (Table 4.3, entry **6**). This may be due to the increased reactivity of electron deficient aldehydes towards Knoevenagel condensation as well as Michael addition. Further, the heterocyclic aldehydes (Table 4.3, entry **7-9**) and formaldehyde (Table 4.3, entry **11**) also underwent smooth reaction to yield corresponding products in high yield. However, the reaction with propionaldehyde (Table 4.3, entry **12**), an aliphatic aldehyde failed to yield required product.

2	OH NO S <sub>3</sub> 1	RCHO Solver Cataly 100	nt-free st-free °C	$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $	
Entry	Aldehydes S <sub>3</sub> 2 (R)	Reaction time (min) <sup>a</sup>		Product S <sub>3</sub> 4	Yield <sup>b</sup>
1	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2a:</b> 4-ClC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	30	S <sub>3</sub> 4a		94
2	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2b:</b> C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	30	S <sub>3</sub> 4b	OH HO NOON	86

Table 4.3:	Evaluation	of the sc	ope for the	synthesis	of $S_24$
	L'valuation	of the se	ope for the	Synthesis	01 03

Contd.					
3	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2c:</b> 4-NO <sub>2</sub> C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	15	S <sub>3</sub> 4c		92
4	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2d:</b> 4-CNC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	20	S <sub>3</sub> 4d		90
5	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2e:</b> 4-OHC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	45	S <sub>3</sub> 4e	HO OH HO N O O N	81
6	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2f:</b> 4-OCH <sub>3</sub> C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	45	S <sub>3</sub> 4f		83
7	S <sub>3</sub> 2g: 2-pyridyl	20	S <sub>3</sub> 4g	OH NHO	89
8	S <sub>3</sub> 2h: 2-furyl	20	S <sub>3</sub> 4h		91
9	S <sub>3</sub> 2i: 2-thienyl	20	S34i	OH NOON	83



<sup>a</sup> All the reactions were monitored by TLC. <sup>b</sup> yield of pure product.

Inspired by the above results, the studies have been extended to solvent- and catalyst-free three component cascade reaction by reacting 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one and 4-chlorobenzaldehyde with various active methylene compounds (Scheme 4.2). However, initial attempts with EAA (Table 4.4, entry 1), acetylacetone (Table 4.4, entry 2), malononitrile (Table 4.4, entry 3), ehylcyanoacetate (Table 4.4, entry 4), dimedone (Table 4.4, entry 5), 1,3cyclohexanedione (Table 4.4, entry 6) failed to yield expected three component product and only S<sub>3</sub>4a was obtained as product and active methylene compounds remained unreacted.



various active methylene compounds

Entry	Active methylenes S <sub>3</sub> 3	Reaction time (min) <sup>a</sup>		Product S <sub>3</sub> 5	Yield
1		60	S35a		00
2	<b>S₃3b:</b> ○ ○	60	S <sub>3</sub> 5b		00
3	S₃3c: NC ́CN	60	S <sub>3</sub> 5c		00
4	S <sub>3</sub> 3d:	60	S <sub>3</sub> 5d		00
5	S <sub>3</sub> 3e:	60	S <sub>3</sub> 5e		00
6	$\mathbf{S_{3}3f:}$	60	S <sub>3</sub> 5f		00

**Table 4.4:** Three component cascade that were failed to yield expected product under present protocol

<sup>a</sup> All the reactions were monitored by TLC.

After several unsuccessful attempts with various active methylene compounds, the reaction with 3-aminocyclohex-2-enone  $(S_33g)$  successfully underwent three component cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction to yield product S<sub>3</sub>5g. Interestingly, it was found that by the sequential addition of reactants  $S_31$ ,  $S_32a$ followed by  $S_33g$  only trace amount of the desired product  $S_35g$  was obtained with the formation of  $S_34a$  as a major product and other unidentified impurities. In order to explore reaction generality, various aldehydes were reacted with 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-one and 3-aminocyclohex-2-enone. The reaction proceeded smoothly with aldehydes bearing electron donating and electron withdrawing substituents. However, the reaction with propionaldehyde (Table 4.5, entry 12) failed without product formation.

Table 4.5: Evaluation of the scope for the synthesis of  $S_35$  via three component cascade



Contd.					
4	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2d:</b> 4-CNC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	15	S <sub>3</sub> 5j		88
5	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2e:</b> 4-OHC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	60	S <sub>3</sub> 5k		00
6	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2f:</b> 4- OCH <sub>3</sub> C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	30	S <sub>3</sub> 51		92
7	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2g:</b> 2-pyridyl	15	S <sub>3</sub> 5m		00
8	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2h:</b> 2-furyl	20	S <sub>3</sub> 5n		90
9	S <sub>3</sub> 2i: 2-thienyl	20	S350	OH NOO	78
10	<b>S<sub>3</sub>2j:</b> 2-naphthyl	30	S <sub>3</sub> 5p		81



<sup>a</sup> All the reactions were monitored by TLC. <sup>b</sup> yield of pure product.

The structure of the products was confirmed by spectral data and elemental analysis. Further, in order to confirm the three component cascade product unambiguously,  $S_35h$  was selected as a representative compound and characterized by SCXRD as shown in Fig. 4.7.



Figure 4.7: ORTEP (50% probability) diagram of the crystal structure of S<sub>3</sub>5h.

Further, in order to isolate the intermediate Knoevenagel condensation product, the reaction was carried out with equimolar ratio of 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-one and 4-chlorobenzaldehyde. However, even with varied reaction time and temperature only product **S**<sub>3</sub>4a was obtained with unreacted 4-chlorobenzaldehyde. This may be attributed to the high reactivity of electron deficient alkene intermediate which further undergoes simultaneous Michael addition with 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-one.

Based on the above results and available literatures, a probable mechanistic rationale portraying sequence of events for this cascade reaction is proposed in Scheme 4.3. The first step is believed to be the Knoevenagel condensation (known to occur under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions) between the aldehydes and 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-one to generate adduct **A**, which acts as strong Michael acceptor. Another molecule of 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-one (in case of two component reaction) or 3-aminocyclohex-2-enone (in case of three component reaction) attacks to electron deficient alkene **A** in a Michael addition fashion to yield corresponding product.



Scheme 4.3: Plausible mechanism for the formation of  $S_34$  and  $S_35$ 

Based on the results obtained from the sequential addition reaction, the alternative possible mechanistic pathway for the three component cascade reaction is proposed as shown in Scheme 4.4. The Knoevenagel condensation of aldehydes with 3-aminocyclohex-2-enone can form electron poor alkene B, which can undergo Michael addition with 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1H)-one to obtain final AOCHQ product.



Scheme 4.4: Plausible alternative mechanism for the formation of S<sub>3</sub>5

Further attempts to synthesise fused ring systems through cyclization of  $S_34$  and  $S_35$  under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions have failed even at elevated temperature (up to 150 °C). Also, the thermal reaction of  $S_34$  and  $S_35$  with ammonium acetate did not yield fused ring compounds. This may be attributed to the resonance stabilized structures of  $S_34$  and  $S_35$  resist vinylic –OH to undergo condensive cyclization.

#### **4.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, a highly efficient, green synthetic protocol for the synthesis of MDBHQ derivatives and AOCHQ derivatives has been developed under solvent- and catalyst- free conditions for the first time. Further, the three component cascade reactions of 4-hydroxy-1-methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one, aldehydes and several active methylene compounds have been attempted. However, the desired product obtained successfully only with 3-aminocyclohex-2-enone. The current protocol is tolerable to various aldehydes with wide functionality. The cascade Knoevenagel-Michael reaction occurred in short reaction time in the absence of solvent and catalyst to yield desired products in high yield.

# **CHAPTER 5**

# AN EFFICIENT THREE COMPONENT, ONE-POT SYNTHESIS OF QUINAZOLINES UNDER SOLVENT-AND CATALYST-FREE REACTION CONDITION

This chapter describes an efficient and green protocol for the quinazolines synthesis by three-component one-pot reactions of 2-aminoaryl ketones, orthoesters and ammonium acetate in the absence of any solvent and catalyst. The mechanism of the reaction has been established based on the isolated intermediate.

#### **5.1 INTRODUCTION**

Quinazoline is one of the most important nitrogen containing fused heterocycles present in wide variety of natural products and synthetic pharmaceutical ingredients (Foster et al. 1999; Gundla et al. 2008). They are known to show diverse biological and therapeutic properties such as antitumor (Noolvi et al. 2011), antibacterial (Tiwari and Chhabra 2010), anti-inflammatory (Balakumar et al. 2010), anti-plasmodial (Kabri et al. 2010), antitubercular (Waisser et al. 2001; Kunes et al. 2000), antiviral (Chien et al. 2004), antioxidant (Kumar et al. 2011a), anti-malarial (Ashton and Hynes, 1973) etc. They find extensive applications as photochemotherapeutic agents (Barraja et al. 2011), T-type calcium channel blockers (Seo et al. 2007), CB2 receptor agonists (Saari et al. 2011), potent tyrosine kinase and cellular phosphorylation inhibitors (Fry et al. 1994). Several drugs have been developed based on quinazoline motif and marketed by various pharmaceutical companies (Selvam and Kumar 2011). In addition, quinazoline scaffolds have also been found importance in other fields such as material science (Mei et al. 2012), agrochemicals (Bhattacharyya et al. 2003), explosives (Millar et al. 2004) etc.

A variety of conventional procedures have been reported for the synthesis of quinazolines (Zhang et al. 2010; Han et al. 2011; Karnakar et al. 2011; Sharma and Prajapati 2011; Ju et al. 2012; Panja et al. 2012; Fang et al. 2013) but most of them suffer from multistep synthesis, lower yield, harsh conditions, use of toxic solvents, expensive catalyst and additives. Quite recently, practical protocols in the absence of solvents (Anand et al. 2012) and catalysts (Zhang et al. 2012) have been reported. However, these methods suffer from drawbacks such as requirement of additives, much effort to recycle the materials etc. Moghadam and Samavi (2006) reported one-pot, three component synthesis of 4-aminoquinazolines under microwave condition; however, it suffers from limitation of substrate generality. Kumar et al. (2005) have reported the synthesis of quinazolines under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions

using conventional microwave oven. However, this method requires tedious synthesis of starting materials. Bandaru et al. (2012) synthesized 2,4-disubstituted quinazolines in aqueous medium using 2-aminocarbonyl compounds, aldehydes and ammonium acetate, however this method has limitations such as low product yield, requirement of excess ammonium acetate (10 equivalents) and failed to yield the required product with aliphatic aldehydes. Owing to their widespread applications, the quest for new, simple and efficient method for the synthesis of quinazolines from readily available precursors under green reaction condition is of continuing interest among the chemists.

Among various green approaches, MCR's (Zhu and Bienayme 2005) have gained significant importance due to their highly flexible, (chemo)selective, convergent and atom efficient nature (Ganem 2009; Domling and Ugi 2000; Domling 2006) and hence become current area of interest in organic, medicinal and combinatorial chemistry research (Climent et al. 2012, Singh and Chowdhury 2012). Being one-pot reactions, MCR's are practically single step conversions and they are easier to carry out than classical multistep approach to synthesize complex organic molecules. If such reactions with near quantitative yield could be carried out under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions from readily available starting materials, they would comply with most of the green chemistry principles and closely approach the concept of ideal synthesis.



Scheme 5.1: Synthesis of quinazolines under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions

Considering the above factors herein, a one-pot three component protocol for the synthesis of quinazolines has been developed. This method involves the reaction of 2-aminoarylketones, orthoesters and ammonium acetate under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions in one-pot (Scheme 5.1). The present protocol has several advantages such as it avoids the use of solvent and catalyst, involves the use of readily available

starting materials which are well known in several green transformations, high yield, moderate reaction time and hence can be considered as green or sustainable protocol.

#### **5.2 EXPERIMENTAL**

#### 5.2.1 General

Melting points were determined with Stuart SMP3 melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. IR spectra were recorded on a Thermo scientific Nicolet Avatar 330 FTIR spectrometer as neat sample. NMR spectra were recorded as a solution in CDCl<sub>3</sub>/DMSO- $d_6$  500 MHz (<sup>1</sup>H) and 400 MHz (<sup>13</sup>C) instrument. Chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) are reported in ppm with TMS as an internal standard. NMR raw data was analysed with the program MestReNova 7.0.0-8331. Mass spectra were performed on Waters Micromass Q-Tof Micro spectrometer with an ESI source. Elemental analysis was performed using Perkin Elmer, Series II, 2400 analyzer. The SCXRD analysis was performed on the Bruker AXS APEX II system. All experiments were monitored by TLC, performed on pre-coated silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> plates (Merck). Column chromatography was performed on silica gel (60-120 mesh, Merck) using EtOAc-PE as eluent.

#### 5.2.2 General Procedure for the synthesis of quinazoline derivatives

2-aminoaryl ketone  $S_{41}$  (1 mmol), orthoester  $S_{42}$  (1.5 mmol) and ammonium acetate  $S_{43}$  (1.5 mmol) were charged into a 10 mL round-bottom flask and the mixture was heated to 110 °C using conventional oil bath. The reaction mixture was stirred to 90-150 min until the starting material 1 was consumed to maximum extent. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc (10 mL×2) and quenched with water (10 mL). The organic layer was separated and directly column chromatographed using 1:9 EtOAc – PE as the eluent to obtain pure quinazoline  $S_44$ .

All the newly synthesized compounds were characterized by spectral analysis and the spectral data of the final compounds and isolated intermediates are given below.

#### 4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4a)

White solid; Yield: 93%; mp: 95~97 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ: 7.62-7.65 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.75-7.81 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.04-8.12 (m, 3H, ArH), 9.37 (s, 1H, ArH);

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ:123.2, 127.1, 127.7, 128.7, 128.9, 129.9, 130.1, 133.7, 137.2, 151.2, 154.7, 168.4; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3031 (ArCH), 1607 (ring C=N), 1555 (C=C), 1536 (C=C), 1483 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for  $C_{14}H_{10}N_2$ : C, 81.53; H, 4.89; N, 13.58, Found: C, 81.42; H, 5.06; N, 13.41; ESI MS (m/z) = 207.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 2-methyl-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4b)

Blood red liquid; Yield: 89%; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 2.82 ( s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.62-7.68 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.76-7.78 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.97-8.03 (m, 3H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 26.6, 121.1, 126.7, 127.1, 128.2, 128.6, 129.9, 133.7, 137.3, 151.5, 163.9, 168.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3058 (ArCH), 2923 (CH), 2854 (CH), 1607 (ring C=N), 1555 (C=C), 1536 (C=C), 1483 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 81.79; H, 5.49; N, 12.72, Found: C, 81.68; H, 5.67; N, 12.53; ESI MS (m/z) = 221.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 2-ethyl-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4c)

White solid; Yield: 90%; mp: 85-88 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.40 (t, 3H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.10 ( q, 2H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.60-7.68 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.76-7.80 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.97-8.04 (m, 3H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.1, 33.3, 121.3, 126.7, 127.0, 128.4, 128.6, 129.8, 129.9, 133.5, 137.5, 151.6, 168.1, 168.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3057 (ArCH), 2968 (CH), 2923 (CH), 2864 (CH), 1610 (ring C=N), 1547 (C=C), 1483 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 82.02; H, 6.02; N, 11.96, Found: C, 82.21; H, 5.88; N, 11.73; ESI MS (m/z) = 235.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 2-butyl-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4d)

Yellow liquid; Yield: 86%; <sup>1</sup>H NMR(500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 0.94 (t, 3H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.38-1.43 (sextet, 2H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 1.83-1.89 (m, 2H, CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.06 (t, 2H, J = 7.5Hz, ArCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.61-7.68 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.77-7.79 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.97-8.04 (m, 3H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ: 14.1, 22.8, 29.7, 31.2, 39.9, 121.2, 126.6, 127.0, 128.4, 128.6, 129.8, 129.9, 133.5, 137.5, 151.5, 167.3, 168.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3060 (ArCH), 2955 (CH), 2925 (CH), 2869 (CH), 2856 (CH), 1614 (ring C=N), 1561 (C=C), 1545 (C=C), 1484 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 82.41; H, 6.92; N, 10.68, Found: C, 82.58; H, 6.71; N, 10.49; ESI MS (m/z) = 263.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 2,4-diphenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4e)

White solid; Yield: 90%; mp: 119~121 °C (lit 118~120 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 7.48-7.55 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.59-7.62 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.87-7.90 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.13 (d, 1H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 8.16 (d, 1H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 8.7 (dd, 2H,  $J_I=8$ Hz,  $J_2=1.5$ Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 121.7, 126.9, 128.4, 128.6, 128.7, 129.2, 129.9, 130.2, 130.5, 133.5, 137.7, 138.2, 152.0, 160.3, 168.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3056 (ArCH), 1610 (ring C=N), 1562 (C=C), 1535 (C=C), 1482 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 85.08; H, 5.00; N, 9.92, Found: C, 84.94; H, 5.14; N, 9.82; ESI MS (m/z) = 283.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 6-chloro-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4f)

White solid; Yield: 94%; mp: 139~141 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 7.63-7.68 (m, 3H, ArH) 7.80-7.83 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.02 (d, 1H, *J*=2 Hz, ArH), 8.1 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$ = 2Hz,  $J_2$ = 9Hz, ArH), 8.15 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 9.4 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ :123.8, 125.8, 128.9, 129.9, 130.4, 130.7, 133.6, 134.7, 136.6, 149.7, 154.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3050 (ArCH), 1610 (ring C=N), 1533 (C=C), 1479 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>9</sub>ClN<sub>2</sub>: C, 69.86; H, 3.77; N, 11.64, Found: C, 69.74; H, 3.86; N, 11.53; ESI MS (m/z) = 241.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 6-chloro-2-methyl-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4g)

Pale Yellow solid; Yield: 88%; mp: 107~109 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 2.82 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.62-7.67 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.76-7.78 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.93 (d, 1H, J =2Hz, ArH), 7.99-8.04 (m, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ: 26.6, 121.6, 125.8, 128.8, 129.8, 129.9, 130.2, 132.4, 134.6, 136.7, 150.0, 164.2, 167.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3053 (ArCH), 2955 (CH), 2919 (CH), 2852 (CH), 1612 (ring C=N), 1543 (C=C), 1475 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>11</sub>ClN<sub>2</sub>: C, 70.73; H, 4.35; N, 11.00, Found: C, 70.60; H, 4.48; N, 10.89; ESI MS (m/z) = 255.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 6-chloro-2-ethyl-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4h)

White solid; Yield: 88%; mp: 103~105 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.49 (t, 3H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.19 ( q, 2H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.580-7.60 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.74-7.76 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.80 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 2.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 9$ Hz, ArH), 8.00 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 8.03 (d, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 12.9, 33.1, 121.8,

125.7, 128.8, 129.8, 130.0, 130.1, 132.2, 134.4, 136.9, 150.0, 167.7, 168.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2978 (CH), 1612 (ring C=N), 1541 (C=C), 1519 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>13</sub>ClN<sub>2</sub>: C, 71.51; H, 4.88; N, 10.42, Found: C, 71.38; H, 4.97; N, 10.31.

# 6-chloro-2,4-diphenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4j)

White solid; Yield: 87%; mp: 196~198 °C (lit. 190~192 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 7.49-7.55 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.60-7.64 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.81 (dd, 1H,  $J_1$  = 2Hz,  $J_2$  = 9Hz, ArH), 7.85-7.88 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.09-8.11 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.66-8.68 (m, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 122.2, 125.8, 128.6, 128.7, 128.8, 130.1, 130.2, 130.8, 130.9, 132.6, 134.5, 137.1, 137.8, 150.5, 160.5, 167.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3051 (ArCH), 1556 (C=C), 1530 (C=C), 1473 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>13</sub>ClN<sub>2</sub>: C, 75.83; H, 4.14; N, 8.84, Found: C, 75.67; H, 4.28; N, 8.71; ESI MS (m/z) = 317.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 6-chloro-4-(2-fluorophenyl)quinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4k)

White solid; Yield: 93%; mp: 125~127 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR(500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 7.31 (td, 1H,  $J_1 = 1$ Hz,  $J_2 = 9$ Hz, ArH); 7.39 (td, 1H,  $J_1 = 1$ Hz,  $J_2 = 7.5$ Hz, ArH), 7.58-7.62 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.80 (t, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH), 7.87 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 2.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 9$ Hz, ArH), 8.08 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 9.42 (t, 1H, J = 4.5Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 116.3, 116.5, 124.9, 125.7, 130.6, 131.5, 132.2, 133.8, 135.1, 149.2, 154.9, 158.5, 161.0, 163.7; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3033 (ArCH), 1611 (ring C=N), 1532 (C=C), 1484 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>8</sub>CIFN<sub>2</sub>: C, 65.00; H, 3.12; N, 10.83, Found: C, 64.87; H, 3.26; N, 10.68; ESI MS (m/z) = 259.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 6-chloro-4-(2-fluorophenyl)-2-methylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4l)

White solid; Yield: 86%; mp: 139~141 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.95 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.27-7.31 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.38 (td, 1H,  $J_1 = 1$ Hz,  $J_2 = 7.5$ Hz, ArH); 7.56-7.59 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.72 (t, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH), 7.81 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 2.5$ Hz,  $J_2 = 9$ Hz, ArH), 7.96 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 26.5, 116.2, 116.4, 124.9, 125.6, 129.9, 131.5, 132.0, 132.1, 132.7, 135.0, 149.5, 161.0, 163.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3059 (ArCH), 2913 (CH), 1614 (ring C=N), 1548 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>10</sub>CIFN<sub>2</sub>: C, 66.06; H, 3.70; N, 10.27, Found: C, 65.90; H, 3.81; N, 10.13; ESI MS (m/z) = 273.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 6-chloro-4-(2-fluorophenyl)-2-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>40)

White solid; Yield: 84%; mp: 190~192 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 7.31 (t, 1H, J = 7.6Hz, ArH), 7.40 (t, 1H, J = 6Hz, ArH), 7.50-7.62 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.67-7.71 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.77-7.78 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.81-7.83 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.1 (d, 1H, J = 7.2Hz, ArH), 8.62-8.65 (m, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 116.2, 116.4, 123.0, 124.7, 124.8, 124.9, 125.5, 125.6, 128.6, 128.7, 130.7, 130.8, 131.8, 131.9, 132.0, 132.8, 134.8, 137.7, 149.9, 158.6, 160.7, 161.1, 163.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3063 (ArCH), 1614 (ring C=N), 1559 (C=C), 1532 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>12</sub>ClFN<sub>2</sub>: C, 71.75; H, 3.61; N, 8.37, Found: C, 71.63; H, 3.75; N, 8.22; ESI MS (m/z) = 335.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 6-nitro-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4p)

Pale Yellow solid; Yield: 88%; mp: 121~123 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR(500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 7.69- 7.75 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.89-7.91 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.32 (d, 1H, J = 9.5 Hz, ArH), 8.73 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 2.5$  Hz,  $J_2 = 9.5$  Hz, ArH), 8.86 (d, 1H, J = 2.5 Hz, ArH), 9.56 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 122.1, 124.2, 127.1, 129.2, 130.1, 131.2, 135.8, 153.5, 157.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3049 (ArCH), 1613 (ring C=N), 1573 (C=C), 1529 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>9</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 66.93; H, 3.61; N, 16.73, Found: C, 67.17; H, 3.48; N, 16.58; ESI MS (m/z) = 252.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 2-ethyl-6-nitro-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4r)

Pale Yellow solid; Yield: 76%; mp: 127~129 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) δ: 1.43 (t, 3H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.16 (q, 2H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.68-7.73 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.88 (dt, 2H,  $J_1 = 2$ Hz,  $J_2 = 5.5$  Hz, ArH), 8.22 (d, 1H, J = 9Hz, ArH), 8.68 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 2$  Hz,  $J_2 = 9$ Hz, ArH), 8.82 (d, 1H, J = 2.5Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ: 12.1, 32.9, 119.6, 123.7, 126.3, 128.6, 129.5, 129.9, 130.4, 135.6, 144.9, 153.5, 170.0, 170.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3090 (ArCH), 2975 (CH), 2917 (CH), 2850 (CH), 1611 (ring C=N), 1578 (C=C), 1542 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 68.81; H, 4.69; N, 15.05, Found: C, 68.94; H, 4.78; N, 14.91; ESI MS (m/z) = 280.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 2-butyl-6-nitro-4-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4s)

White solid; Yield: 79%; mp: 104~107 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 0.95 (t, 3H, J = 7.5Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.39-1.46 (sextet, J = 7.5Hz, 2H, CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 1.86-1.92 (m,

2H, CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>*CH*<sub>2</sub>), 3.13 (t, 2H, *J* = 7.5Hz, Ar*CH*<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.68-7.73 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.86-7.88 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.21 (d, 1H, *J* = 9.5Hz, ArH), 8.67 (dd, 1H, *J*<sub>1</sub> = 2.5 Hz, *J*<sub>2</sub> = 9.5 Hz, ArH), 8.81 (d, 1H, *J* = 2.5Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.9, 22.7, 30.8, 40.0, 120.1, 124.2, 126.9, 129.1, 130.1, 130.4, 130.9, 136.2, 145.4, 153.9, 170.5, 170.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3059 (ArCH), 2953 (CH), 2925 (CH), 2860 (CH), 1615 (ring C=N), 1543 (C=C), 1491 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>17</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 70.34; H, 5.58; N, 13.67, Found: C, 70.50; H, 5.41; N, 13.49; ESI MS (m/z) = 308.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 4-methylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4u)

Blood Red coloured viscous liquid; Yield: 88%; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 2.94 (s, 3H), 7.73-7.79 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.99-8.03 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.26 (d, 1H, J = 8.5 Hz, ArH), 9.15 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 21.8, 124.5, 125.0, 127.6, 129.0, 133.7, 149.6, 154.6, 168.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2921, 1647 (ring C=N), 1615, 1566, 1495, 1394, 1355, 1258, 1169; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>8</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 74.98; H, 5.59; N, 19.43, Found: C, 74.79; H, 5.68; N, 19.30; ESI MS (m/z) = 145.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 2,4-dimethylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4v)

Yellow solid; Yield: 79%; mp: 290~292 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 2.71 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.87 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 7.64-7.67 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.87 (d, 1H, J = 8Hz, ArH), 7.92-7.95 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.22 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 8$ Hz,  $J_2 = 1$ Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 21.7, 26.4, 122.3, 124.9, 126.6, 128.3, 133.6, 150.0, 163.6, 168.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2923 (CH), 2855 (CH), 1618 (ring C=N), 1565 (C=C), 1494 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>10</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 75.92; H, 6.37; N, 17.71, Found: C, 75.78; H, 6.58; N, 17.53; ESI MS (m/z) = 159.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 4-methyl-2-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4w)

White solid; Yield: 81%; mp: 71~74 °C (lit 72~76 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.03 (s, 3H), 7.49-7.55 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.57-7.60 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.85-7.88 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.07-8.11 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.61-8.63 (m, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 22.03, 123.05, 125.0, 126.9, 128.6, 129.3, 130.4, 133.5, 138.4, 150.5, 160.2, 168.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3058 (ArCH), 3007, 2920, 1611 (ring C=N), 1540, 1489, 1432, 1387, 1335, 1226, 1023; Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>2</sub>: C, 81.79; H, 5.49; N, 12.72, Found: C, 81.90; H, 5.33; N, 12.65; ESI MS (m/z) = 221.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### 6,7-dimethoxy-2,4-dimethylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4y)

Light brownish solid; Yield: 82%; mp: 87~89 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.8 (s, 3H, ArCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.85 (s, 3H, ArCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.04 (s, 6H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 7.18 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.25 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 21.7, 26.2, 56.2, 56.3, 102.3, 106.7, 155.7, 164.7; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2944 (CH), 2838 (CH), 1614 (ring C=N), 1568 (C=C), 1500 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 66.04; H, 6.47; N, 12.84, Found: C, 65.93; H, 6.55; N, 12.77; ESI MS (m/z) = 219.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# 6,7-dimethoxy-4-methyl-2-phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4z)

Light Brownish solid; Yield: 84%; mp: 155~157 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.94 (s, 3H, ArCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.06 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.09 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 7.22 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.39 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.46-7.53 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.54-8.56 (m, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 22.0, 30.9, 56.2, 56.4, 102.4, 107.6, 118.4, 128.2, 128.5, 129.9, 138.7, 148.3, 149.8, 155.6, 159.3, 164.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 2952 (CH), 2919 (CH), 2854 (CH), 1613 (ring C=N), 1573 (C=C), 1545 (C=C), 1496 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 72.84; H, 5.75; N, 9.99, Found: C, 72.72; H, 5.89; N, 9.83; ESI MS (m/z) = 281.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

# methyl N-2-benzoylphenylbenzimidate (S<sub>4</sub>4ei)

Pale yellow viscous liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.52 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.76 (dd, 1H,  $J_I$ = 1.5Hz,  $J_2$  = 8Hz, ArH), 7.05 (td, 1H,  $J_I$  = 1Hz,  $J_2$  = 7.5 Hz, ArH), 7.16-7.23 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.28-7.41 (m, 5H, ArH), 7.50-7.53 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.67-7.69 (m, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 53.9, 115.5, 117.0, 122.3, 122.5, 128.0, 128.1, 129.1, 129.1, 129.8, 130.1, 131.5, 132.5, 147.3, 159.4, 197.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3059 (ArCH), 1648 (ring C=N), 1594 (C=C), 1446 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 79.98; H, 5.43; N, 4.44, Found: C, 79.92; H, 5.51; N, 4.38; ESI MS (m/z) = 338.2 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 316.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 284.2(M-OMe)<sup>+</sup>.

# methyl N-2-benzoyl-4-chlorophenylbenzimidate (S<sub>4</sub>4ji)

White solid; mp: 96~98 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.50 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.70 (d, 1H, J = 8.5Hz, ArH), 7.2 (d, 2H, J = 4 Hz, ArH), 7.28-7.33 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.40-7.43 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.53-7.56 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.7 (dd, 2H,  $J_1 = 1$ Hz,  $J_2 = 8$ Hz, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 54.0, 123.9, 127.8, 128.2, 128.3, 129.0, 129.3,

129.8, 130.4, 130.7, 131.3, 132.6, 132.9, 137.3, 145.8, 160.1, 195.8; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3059 (ArCH), 2949 (CH), 1651 (ring C=N), 1590 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for  $C_{21}H_{16}CINO_2$ : C, 72.10; H, 4.61; N, 4.00, Found: C, 71.98; H, 4.56; N, 4.11; ESI MS (m/z) = 372.2 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 350.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 318.2(M-OMe)<sup>+</sup>.

# methyl N-4-chloro-2-(2-fluorobenzoyl)phenylbenzimidate (S<sub>4</sub>4oi)

White solid; mp: 93~96 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 3.43 (s, 3H), 6.60 (d, 1H, *J* = 9Hz, ArH), 7.06-7.10 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.19-7.25 (m, 6H, ArH), 7.31-7.34 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.46-7.50 (m, 3H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 53.9, 116.1, 116.3, 123.8, 124.2, 128.2, 129.0, 129.5, 130.4, 130.5, 130.9, 132.2, 133.7, 133.8, 146.1, 159.8, 160.0, 162.3, 192.4; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3061 (ArCH), 2933 (CH), 2921 (CH), 1645 (ring C=N), 1597 (C=C), 1477 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>15</sub>ClFNO<sub>2</sub>: C, 68.58; H, 4.11; N, 3.81, Found: C, 68.47; H, 4.18; N, 3.78; ESI MS (m/z) = 390.2 (M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 368.2 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>, 336.2(M-OMe)<sup>+</sup>.

Crystal data [CCDC No. 912137]			
Empirical formula	$C_{14} H_{10} N_2$		
Formula weight	206.24		
Crystal size (mm)	0.20 x 0.20 x 0.1		
Crystal system	Orthorhombic		
Space group	Pca21		
a (Å); b (Å); c (Å)	13.666(3); 11.155(3); 6.9207(17)		
$\alpha$ (°); $\beta$ (°); $\gamma$ (°)	90; 90; 90		
Volume (Å <sup>3</sup> )	1055.0(4)		
Z	4		
Crystal density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.298		
<i>F</i> (000)	432		
Absorption coefficient	0.078		
Temperature (T)	296 (2)		
Radiation wavelength	0.71073		
Radiation type	ΜοΚα		

 Table 5.1: Crystallographic data of compound S<sub>4</sub>4a

Contd.				
Radiation source	Fine-focus sealed tube			
Radiation monochromator	Graphite			
$h_{\min}; k_{\min}; l_{\min}$	-14; -12; -7			
h <sub>max</sub> ; k <sub>max</sub> ; l <sub>max</sub>	13; 11; 7			
R-Factor (%)	5.08			

# Table 5.2: Crystallographic data of compound $S_44ji$

Crystal data [CCDC No. 912138]			
Empirical formula	$C_{21}H_{16}CINO_2$		
Formula weight	349.80		
Crystal size (mm)	1 x 0.26 x 0.24		
Crystal system	Monoclinic		
Space group	P21/c		
a (Å); b (Å); c (Å)	14.4362(4); 7.8528(2); 15.5028(3)		
$\alpha$ (°); $\beta$ (°); $\gamma$ (°)	90; 93.6940(10); 90		
Volume (Å <sup>3</sup> )	1753.82(7)		
Z	4		
Crystal density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.325		
F(000)	728		
Absorption coefficient	0.231		
Temperature (T)	296 (2)		
Radiation wavelength	0.71073		
Radiation type	ΜοΚα		
Radiation source	Fine-focus sealed tube		
Radiation monochromator	Graphite		
$h_{\min}; k_{\min}; l_{\min}$	-15; -10; -20		
$h_{max}; k_{max}; l_{max}$	19; 10; 20		
R-Factor (%)	4.85		



Department of Chemistry, NITK

0.0





1.98



#### **5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Initially, the three component reaction of 2-aminobenzophenone ( $S_41a$ ) with one equivalent of triethyl orthoformate  $(S_42a)$  and one equivalent of ammonium acetate were investigated under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions at 110 °C. The reaction was monitored with TLC (9:1 PE: EA). Partial conversion was observed after 1 h, but the complete conversion was not observed even after prolonged reaction time (Table 5.3 entry 1). However, quinazoline ( $S_44a$ ) was isolated in 52% yield and unconsumed starting material S<sub>4</sub>1a was recovered. These results encouraged to optimize the reaction conditions and hence excess amounts of triethyl orthoformate and ammonium acetate have been used in order to improve the product yield (Table 5.3 entries 2-4). The optimized ratio of  $S_41a/S_42a/NH_4OAc = 1/1.5/1.5$  was determined to be the more suitable combination for better conversion and to obtain the desired product with good yield, without any impurity formation and in moderate reaction time (Table 5.3 entry 4). Further, decrease of temperature to 90 °C resulted in poor reactant conversion even after prolonged reaction time. Subsequently, series of solvent-free reaction of 2aminobenzophenone and triethyl orthoformate have been carried out with various other ammonia sources under identical conditions in order to compare the efficiency (Table 5.3 entries 5-12) of current green protocol. Decreased yields, small amount of unidentified impurities along with unconsumed starting materials were observed when urea, ammonium chloride, ammonium fluoride, ammonium phosphate, ammonium oxalate, ammonium hydroxide and ammonium sulphate were used as ammonia source. Comparative conversion was observed when ammonium carbonate was used as ammonia source, however it requires longer reaction time. Hence ammonium acetate was found to be the most efficient ammonia source for the present three component synthesis and further reactions were carried out using ammonium acetate as a source of ammonia. In order to evaluate the scope and limitations of the present protocol, the reaction was further performed using various substituted 2-aminoaryl ketones and trialkyl orthoesters and the results are summarised in Table 5.4.

				]
ſ		Solvent-free		NI
Į	+ CH(OEt) <sub>3</sub> +	Ammonia source	N	J
Entry	Ammonia Source	2- Aminobenzophenone/Triethyl orthoformate/Ammonia source	Time <sup>a</sup> (min)	Yield <sup>b</sup> (%)
1		1:1:1	240	52
2	A mmonium costato	1:1.2:1.2	240	66
3	Ammonium acetate	1:1.2:1.5	240	70
4		1: 1.5:1.5	120	93
5	Urea	1: 1.5:1.5	180	32
6	Ammonium sulphate	1: 1.5:1.5	180	46
7	Ammonium chloride	1: 1.5:1.5	180	trace
8	Ammonium fluoride	1: 1.5:1.5	180	trace
9	Ammonium phosphate	1: 1.5:1.5	180	67
10	Ammonium oxalate	1: 1.5:1.5	180	43
11	Ammonium hydroxide	1: 1.5:1.5	180	52
12	Ammonium carbonate	1: 1.5:1.5	180	81

**Table 5.3:** Optimization of the one pot three component synthesis of quinazolines

<sup>a</sup> The reactions were monitored by TLC. <sup>b</sup> Isolated Yield

In order to evaluate the generality of the reaction, the reaction was performed with both 2-aminobenzophenones and 2'-aminoacetophenones. The reaction with 2'aminoacetophenones proceeds faster than 2-aminobenzophenones to yield corresponding quinazolines. This may be attributed to the steric factor and extended conjugation induced by the aryl substitution which reduces the reactivity of carbonyl group. The reaction worked well with both electron withdrawing and donating substituents on the aniline ring of 2-aminobenzophenones. However, poor conversion was observed with strong electron donating group on the aniline ring of 2'aminoacetophenone and unexpectedly only trace amount of product was observed when 2-amino-4',5'-dimethoxyacetophenone reacted with triethyl orthoformate, even after prolonged reaction time as shown in Table 5.4 entry **24**.

**Table 5.4:** Three component synthesis of quinazolines under solvent- and catalyst 

 free conditions

	R 0 + CB <sub>0</sub> (C	)R₂)₂ + NH₄OAc	Solvent- a	and Catal	yst-free	R N N
R <sub>1</sub> <b>S<sub>4</sub>1</b>	NH <sub>2</sub> S <sub>4</sub> 2	2 S <sub>4</sub> 3	11	0°C	R <sub>1</sub> S	N <sup></sup> R <sub>2</sub> <b>µ4</b>
Entry	2- aminoarylk etone	Trialkyl othroester	Time (min)		<b>Product</b> <sup>a</sup>	% Yield <sup>b</sup>
1		H-C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4a	N N	93
2		H <sub>3</sub> C- C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4b	N N	89
3		$H_5C_2$ - C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S44c		90
4	∽ NH <sub>2</sub>	H <sub>9</sub> C <sub>4</sub> - C(OCH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4d		86
5		H <sub>5</sub> C <sub>6</sub> - C(OCH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	150	S <sub>4</sub> 4e		90
6	~	H-C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4f		94
7		H <sub>3</sub> C- C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4g		88

#### Contd.

8		$H_5C_2$ - C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4h		88
9		H <sub>9</sub> C <sub>4</sub> - C(OCH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4i		00
10		H <sub>5</sub> C <sub>6</sub> - C(OCH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	150	S <sub>4</sub> 4j		87
11		$H-C(OC_2H_5)_3$	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4k		93
12		H <sub>3</sub> C- C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 41	CI N	86
13		H <sub>5</sub> C <sub>2</sub> - C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4 m		00
14	NH <sub>2</sub>	H <sub>9</sub> C <sub>4</sub> - C(OCH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4n		00
15		H <sub>5</sub> C <sub>6</sub> - C(OCH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	150	S440		84
16		H-C(OC <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4p		88
17	O <sub>2</sub> N NH <sub>2</sub>	$\begin{array}{c} H_3C-\\ C(OC_2H_5)_3\end{array}$	120	S <sub>4</sub> 4q		00
	-					

Contd.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Reaction conditions: 2-aminoaryl ketone (1mmol), Trialkyl orthoester (1.5 mmol), Ammonium acetate (1.5 mmol) at 110 °C. <sup>b</sup> Isolated Yield.

Furthermore, the reaction feasibility was also examined with different substituted trialkyl orthoesters. The reactivity of aliphatic orthoesters was found to be better than orthobenzoate and their order of reactivity is orthoformate > orthoalkylate (orthoacetate  $\approx$  orthopropionate  $\approx$  orthovalerate) > orthobenzoate. This may be attributed to the steric effect induced by the substituent on the orthoester functionality. It was found that, there was no remarkable effect of chain length of orthoalkylates on the present reaction. For instance, the reaction of 2-aminobenzophenone with orthoacetate, orthopropionate and orthovalerate underwent smoothly to obtain

corresponding quinazolines in good yields. The reactions of 2-aminobenzophenones with trimethyl orthobenzoate found to be very slow and took longer time to complete. This may be attributed to the formation of stabilized imidate intermediate (**I**, Scheme 5.2) due to the presence of phenyl group at 2-position and this phenomenon helps to isolate the intermediate in order to predict the mechanistic pathway.

The structures of the products were unequivocally confirmed by spectral data and elemental analysis. Further, quinazoline  $S_44a$  was selected as a representative compound and characterized by SCXRD analysis as shown in Fig. 5.7.



Fig. 5.7: ORTEP (50% probability) diagram of the crystal structure of 4phenylquinazoline (S<sub>4</sub>4a)

To elucidate the reaction mechanism, the reaction of 2-aminobenzophenone with ammonium acetate and trimethylorthobenzoate was quenched after 60 min. It was found that, the reaction was incomplete and methyl N-2-benzoylphenylbenzimidate was formed as a major product with trace amount of aromatized quinazoline  $S_44e$ .

Further, similar observation was found when the three component reaction was performed using (2-amino-5-chlorophenyl)(phenyl)methanone, and (2-amino-5-chlorophenyl)(2-fluorophenyl)methanone. The isolated intermediates  $S_44ei$ ,  $S_44oi$  and  $S_44ji$  (Fig. 5.8) were confirmed by spectral analysis and in addition N-2-benzoyl-4-chlorophenylbenzimidate ( $S_44ji$ ) was confirmed by SCXRD analysis (Fig. 5.9).







**Fig. 5.9:** ORTEP diagram of the crystal structure of N-2-benzoyl-4chlorophenylbenzimidate (**S**<sub>4</sub>**4ji**) with 50% probability.

Based on the above results and literature references, two plausible mechanistic pathways are proposed as shown in Scheme 5.2. It was unambiguously confirmed that, the initial reaction of 2-aminoketone and orthoester leads to the formation of

imidate intermediate [I] with the elimination of alcohol. The imidate intermediate [I] can undergo two different pathways to obtain the final quinazoline ( $S_44$ ). According to Panja et al. (2012) the ketone group can form an ketimine [II] by condensation with the ammonia generated, which on simultaneous intramolecular cyclization and aromatization with the elimination of alcohol yields quinazoline ( $S_44$ ). Alternatively, the imidate can react with ammonia, to form vinylamidine intermediate [IV] (Sasada et al. 2009), which can lead to formation of the final quinazoline ( $S_44$ ) product through intramolecular cyclization with the elimination of alcohol of the final quinazoline ( $S_44$ ) product through intramolecular cyclization with the elimination of the final quinazoline ( $S_44$ ) product through intramolecular cyclization with the elimination of the final quinazoline ( $S_44$ ) product through intramolecular cyclization with the elimination of the final quinazoline ( $S_44$ ) product through intramolecular cyclization with the elimination of water.



Scheme 5.2: Proposed mechanism for the formation of quinazolines  $S_44$  in current protocol

#### **5.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, a novel three component, one pot synthesis of quinazolines has been developed using 2-aminoaryl ketones, orthoesters and ammonium acetate as building blocks under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions. The mechanism has been investigated scientifically with the confirmation of the intermediate using spectral and SCXRD analysis. It was clearly found that, the first step of the reaction involves the formation of imidate intermediate. The current protocol offers easier method to synthesize both aliphatic and aromatic substitutions at 2- and 4- position of quinazolines.
**CHAPTER 6** 

A GREEN AND ONE-POT PROTOCOL FOR THE REGIOSELECTIVE SYNTHESIS OF POLYFUNCTIONALIZED PYRROLES

This Chapter describes a facile and green method for the regioselective synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles, from readily accessible 1,3-dicarbonyls, benzoin derivatives and ammonium acetate under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions. The scope of the reaction, advantages over existing protocols and possible mechanism of the current protocol have been discussed.

#### **6.1 INTRODUCTION**

Pyrroles represent an important class of nitrogen containing heterocycles, which can be found in broad range of natural products (Fujita et al. 2003; Furstner, 2003), pharmaceuticals (Walsh et al. 2006; Zeng et al. 2006), material science (Groenendaal et al. 1997; Lee et al. 2000) and widely employed as versatile building blocks in synthetic organic chemistry (Bellina and Rossi 2006; Trofimov et al. 2004). Further, substituted pyrroles found importance in molecular sensors (Sessler et al. 2006). Within diversified derivatives of pyrroles, tetrasubstituted pyrroles are of great importance due to their tremendous application in bioactive molecules (Almerico et al. 1997; Lehuede et al. 1999). Owing to their widespread applications, in addition to the classical approaches (Manley et al. 2003; Shiner and Lash 2005; Minetto et al. 2005), continuous interest has been directed to the development of new and efficient synthetic protocols for the synthesis of pyrrole nucleus under traditional and green conditions (Balme 2004; Estevez et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2010; Estevez et al. 2013; Suresh et al. 2013). However, only few reports are available in the literature for the synthesis of functionalised pyrroles under solvent- and catalyst- free conditions (Attanasi et al. 2011; Palmieri et al. 2011), which are not only beneficiary in terms of cost and efficiency but make the organic transformations environmentally benign. Hence, the development of efficient synthetic approach for the construction of polysubstituted pyrroles under solvent- and catalyst-free condition is still an attractive goal for synthetic chemists aiming for green and sustainable development.

Meanwhile, 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds have drawn much attention in the synthesis of many important heterocycles, particularly in one-pot multicomponent approach (Simon et al. 2004; Wan et al. 2012; Singh and Chowdhury 2012). Their advantages such as easy availability, unique reactivity and simple handling procedure make them privileged starting materials for structurally diversified heterocycles. On the other hand, benzoins/ $\alpha$ -hydroxy ketones have found potential value as building blocks in

the construction of various heterocycles (Sithambaram et al. 2008; Bhattacharya et al. 2012; Xue et al. 2012). Procopiou et al. (1993) developed three component synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles using benzoin derivatives, ethyl isobutyrylacetate, and ammonium acetate. However, this method requires the reaction under acetic acid reflux condition followed by solvent evoparation and tedious work-up procedure. Recently, solvent-free catalytic synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles using 1,3dicarbonyls, benzoin derivatives and ammonium acetate have been reported (Tamaddon and Farahi 2012; Tamaddon et al. 2012). Despite the satisfactory product yield, these methods require much effort in the preparation and reuse of solid acid catalyst and in the extraction of product. The repeated reuse of catalyst resulted in the decreased product yield. Further, cyclic diketones and poor reactive benzoins such as anisoin failed to yield corresponding product using these protocols. Although, the organic transformations are well known under solvent/catalytic process, their improvement in terms of reaction efficiency, substrate modification, avoidance of toxic reagents, reduction of waste have significant values in modern organic chemistry.



Scheme 6.1: One-pot three-component synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles

Considering the above factors, herein one pot, three component synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles has been developed using 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds, benzoin derivatives and ammonium acetate as an efficient ammonia source under solvent-free condition in the absence of any additional catalyst (Scheme 6.1). High product yields were obtained in moderate reaction time and after simple recrystallization with mixture of water and EtOH which are well known as ecofriendly solvents.

#### **6.2 EXPERIMENTAL**

#### 6.2.1 General

Melting points were determined with Stuart SMP3 melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. NMR spectra were recorded as a solution in CDCl<sub>3</sub>/DMSO- $d_6$  400 MHz instrument. IR spectra were recorded on a Thermo scientific Nicolet Avatar 330 Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer by Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) method. Chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) are reported in ppm with TMS as an internal standard. NMR raw data was analysed with the program MestReNova 7.0.0-8331. Elemental analysis was performed using Perkin Elmer, Series II, 2400 analyzer. The SCXRD analysis was performed on the Bruker AXS APEX II duo system. All experiments were monitored by TLC, performed on pre-coated silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> plates (Merck). Column chromatography was performed on silica gel (60-120 mesh, Merck) using EtOAc-PE as eluent.

#### 6.2.2 General Procedure for the synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles (S<sub>5</sub>4)

1,3-dicarbonyl  $S_{51}$  (1.1 mmol), benzoin derivative/ phenyl glyoxal  $S_{52}$  (1.0 mmol) and ammonium acetate  $S_{53}$  (1.5 mmol) were charged into a 10 mL round-bottom flask and the mixture was heated to 90 °C/50 °C using conventional oil bath. The reaction mixture was stirred to 120 min until the starting material  $S_{52}$  was consumed to maximum extent. The reaction mixture was then cooled and recrystallized with EtOH water 80:20 mixture to obtain pure product  $S_{54}$ . (The reaction mixture was dissolved in EtOAc (2 mL) and washed with water (2×2 mL) and the organic layer was separated and adsorbed to silica gel (60-120 mesh size) and column chromatographed using EtOAc and PE as elutants to obtain pure polyfunctionalized indoles  $S_54m$  and  $S_54n$ ).

All the newly synthesized compounds were characterized by spectral analysis and the spectral data of the final compounds are given below.

#### ethyl 2-methyl-4,5-diphenyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4a)

White solid; mp: 204~205 °C (lit. 205-206 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.02 (t, 3H, J = 7.2 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.60 (S, 3H, Pyrrole (Py)-CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.06 (q, 2H, J = 7.2 Hz,

CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.09-7.33 (m, 10H, ArH), 8.34 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.8, 13.9, 59.2, 112.7, 123.4, 126.3, 126.5, 126.7, 127.3, 127.6, 128.2, 128.5, 129.9, 130.8, 132.2, 135.4, 136.1, 165.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3305 (NH), 3055 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2983 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2927 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2927 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1675 (C=O), 1600 (C=C), 1484 (C=C), 1477 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 78.66; H, 6.27; N, 4.59, Found: C, 78.53; H, 6.21; N, 4.63; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: 306.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### ethyl 4,5-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4b)

White solid; mp: 141~142 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.09 (t, 3H, J = 7.2 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 2.58 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.75 (s, 3H, -OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.81 (s, 3H, -OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.10 (q, 2H, J = 7.2 Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>*CH*<sub>2</sub>), 6.73-6.76 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.80-6.84 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.02-7.06 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.13-7.17 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.21 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.9, 14.1, 55.1, 55.2, 59.2, 112.4, 113.1, 113.7, 113.9, 122.1, 125.0, 127.3, 128.1, 128.4, 131.1, 131.9, 134.8, 158.2, 158.3, 165.7; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3286 (NH), 3059 (ArCH<sub>arom</sub>), 2981 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2928 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2923 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1668 (C=O), 1600 (C=C), 1484 (C=C), 1477 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>4</sub>: C, 72.31; H, 6.34; N, 3.83, Found: C, 72.26; H, 6.39; N, 3.75; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>4</sub>: 366.1(M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## ethyl 4,5-di(furan-3-yl)-2-methyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4c)

White solid; mp: 118~119 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.16 (t, 3H, J = 7.2 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.57 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.15 (q, 2H, J = 7.2 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.04 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 0.8$  Hz,  $J_2 = 3.6$  Hz, ArH), 6.32-6.33 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.40 (d, 1H, J = 0.8 Hz, ArH), 6.47 (d, 1H, J = 1.6 Hz, ArH), 7.30-7.31 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.50-7.51 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.75 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.6, 14.1, 59.4, 105.1, 109.5, 110.7, 111.0, 111.8, 113.1, 122.1, 135.7, 140.6, 141.4, 145.9, 147.7, 164.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3211 (NH), 1659 (C=O), 1565 (C=C), 1521 (C=C), 1476 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>4</sub>: C, 67.36; H, 5.30; N, 4.91, Found: C, 67.43; H, 5.22; N, 4.83; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>4</sub>: 286.0 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## tert-butyl 2-methyl-4,5-diphenyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4d)

White solid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.19 (s, 9H, -CCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.50 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.11-7.39 (m, 10H, ArH), 11.48 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO-

 $d_6$ ) δ: 13.0, 27.7, 77.9, 112.9, 122.4, 125.8, 125.9, 126.4, 126.5, 127.5, 128.1, 128.2, 128.7, 129.5, 130.5, 132.3, 135.2, 137.1, 164.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3285 (NH), 3055 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2983 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2924 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2918 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1666 (C=O), 1596 (C=C), 1490 (C=C), 1480 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>: C, 79.25; H, 6.95; N, 4.20, Found: C, 79.15; H, 6.99; N, 4.11.

## tert-butyl 4,5-di(furan-3-yl)-2-methyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4f)

White solid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.32 (s, 9H, -CCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.45 (s, 3H, Py-CH3), 6.06 (d, 1H, J = 2.8Hz, ArH), 6.32 (d, 1H, J = 0.8Hz, ArH) 6.47-6.48 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.50-6.51 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.64-7.66 (m, 2H, ArH), 11.82 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 12.7, 27.9, 78.3, 105.2, 108.8, 110.6, 110.7, 111.5, 113.3, 121.1, 135.8, 141.5, 146.1, 147.9, 163.6; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3216 (NH), 1654 (C=O), 1558 (C=C), 1518 (C=C), 1482 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO<sub>4</sub>: C, 68.99; H, 6.11; N, 4.47, Found: C, 68.90; H, 6.19; N, 4.39.

# 1-(2-methyl-4,5-diphenyl-1*H*-pyrrol-3-yl)ethanone (S<sub>5</sub>4g)

White solid; mp: 172~173 °C (lit. 170-171 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.93 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.65 (s, 3H, -(CO)*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 7.15-7.43 (m, 10H, ArH) 8.69 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 14.4, 30.9, 122.8, 123.0, 126.6, 126.7, 127.0, 127.1, 128.2, 128.4, 128.5, 129.9, 130.9, 132.1, 135.1, 136.6, 197.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3304 (NH), 3046 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1632 (C=O), 1604 (C=C), 1523 (C=C).

# $1-(4,5-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-1 H-pyrrol-3-yl) ethanone \ (S_54h)$

White solid; mp: 182~183 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 1.89 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.57 (s, 3H, -(CO)*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 3.74 (s, 3H, -OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.83 (s, 3H, -OCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.73 (d, 2H, *J* = 8.8 Hz, ArH), 6.87-6.90 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.03-7.07 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.16-7.18 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.56 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 14.4, 30.8, 55.2, 113.9, 121.5, 122.8, 124.9, 127.0, 127.9, 128.8, 131.9, 134.6, 158.3, 158.7, 197.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3346 (NH), 3055 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1634 (C=O), 1596 (C=C), 1516 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>21</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: C, 75.20; H, 6.31; N, 4.18, Found: C, 75.12; H, 6.26; N, 4.11; MS (ESI-APCI) for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>21</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: 336.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 1-(4,5-di(furan-3-yl)-2-methyl-1*H*-pyrrol-3-yl)ethanone (S<sub>5</sub>4i)

White solid; mp:  $151 \sim 152^{\circ}$ C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.01 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.58 (s, 3H, -(CO)*CH*<sub>3</sub>), 5.96 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 0.8$  Hz,  $J_2 = 3.6$  Hz, ArH), 6.32 (d, 1H, J = 1.6 Hz, ArH), 6.42 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 0.8$  Hz,  $J_2 = 3.2$  Hz, ArH), 6.52 (d, 1H, J = 2 Hz, ArH), 7.30 (d, 1H, J = 2 Hz, ArH), 7.56 (dd, 1H,  $J_I = 0.8$  Hz,  $J_2 = 2$  Hz, ArH), 9.08 (s, 1H, NH), <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ :14.2, 29.2, 104.9, 110.2, 110.6, 111.2, 111.8, 122.3, 122.5, 135.8, 140.8, 142.3, 145.8, 147.5, 196.2; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3209 (NH), 1624 (C=O), 1554 (C=C), 1501 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: C, 70.58; H, 5.13; N, 5.49, Found: C, 70.52; H, 5.21; N, 5.38; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: 256.0 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

#### (2-methyl-4,5-diphenyl-1*H*-pyrrol-3-yl)(phenyl)methanone (S<sub>5</sub>4j)

White solid; mp: 221~222 °C (lit. 221-223 °C)<sup>1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.42 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.90-7.26 (m, 13H, ArH), 7.59-7.62 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.47 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.2, 121.9, 122.9, 125.9, 126.8, 127.1, 127.3, 127.6, 127.7, 128.6, 129.6, 130.5, 131.5, 132.3, 133.9, 135.0, 139.6, 194.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3283 (NH), 3054 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1609 (C=O), 1597 (C=C), 1576 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO: C, 85.43; H, 5.68; N, 4.15, Found: C, 85.38; H, 5.76; N, 4.10; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO: 338.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## (4,5-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-1*H*-pyrrol-3-yl)(phenyl)methanone (S<sub>5</sub>4k)

White solid; mp: 232~236 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.39 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.67 (s, 3H, -OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.77 (s, 3H, -OCH<sub>3</sub>), 6.55-6.58 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.77-6.80 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.92-6.94 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.15-7.18 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.26-7.30 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.60-7.62 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.32 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR(100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 13.2, 55.1, 55.2, 113.3, 113.7, 114.1, 125.0, 126.8, 127.6, 128.5, 129.6, 131.1, 131.4, 131.5, 133.3, 139.7, 157.8, 158.5, 194.3; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3281 (NH), 3048 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1606 (C=O), 1592 (C=C), 1566 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: C, 78.57; H, 5.83; N, 3.52, Found: C, 78.63; H, 5.88; N, 3.44; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: 398.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## (4,5-di(furan-3-yl)-2-methyl-1*H*-pyrrol-3-yl)(phenyl)methanone (S<sub>5</sub>4l)

Blood red coloured liquid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 2.42 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.11 (d, 1H, J = 0.8 Hz, ArH), 6.14-6.15 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.32 (d, 1H, J = 0.8 Hz, ArH), 6.38 (dd, 1H,  $J_1 = 2$  Hz,  $J_2 = 3.6$  Hz, ArH), 7.2 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.24-7.26 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.34-7.35 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.64-7.67 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.90 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ : 12.9, 105.5, 109.7, 110.9, 111.3, 111.8, 120.7, 121.4, 127.7, 129.1, 131.6, 134.2, 139.6, 140.9, 141.0, 146.1, 147.2, 193.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3283 (NH), 3054 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 1609 (C=O), 1597 (C=C), 1576 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: C, 75.70; H, 4.76; N, 4.41, Found: C, 75.62; H, 4.79; N, 4.37; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>15</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: 318.0 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## 2,3-diphenyl-6,7-dihydro-1*H*-indol-4(5*H*)-one (S<sub>5</sub>4p)

White solid; mp: 304 °C (decomposed); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 2.05-2.11 (m, 2H, -CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>-), 2.32-2.35 (m, 2H, Py-CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>-), 2.86-2.89 (m, 2H, -CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CO-), 7.15-7.27 (m, 10H, ArH), 11.7 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 22.5, 23.3, 118.0, 119.3, 126.0, 126.5, 127.2, 127.4, 128.2, 128.7, 130.5, 132.1, 135.3, 144.2, 192.5; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3297 (NH), 3052 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2986 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2932 (CH<sub>alph</sub>), 1615 (C=O), 1594 (C=C), 1512 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO: C, 83.59; H, 5.96; N, 4.87, Found: C, 83.52; H, 5.88; N, 4.81.

## 6,6-dimethyl-2,3-diphenyl-6,7-dihydro-1*H*-indol-4(5*H*)-one (S<sub>5</sub>4q)

White solid; mp: 303~306 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.10 (s, 6H), 2.25 (s, 2H), 2.76 (s, 2H), 7.16-7.27 (m, 10H), 11.62 (s, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 28.2, 34.8, 36.2, 52.9, 116.8, 119.1, 126.0, 126.5, 127.2, 127.4, 128.2, 130.5, 132.1, 135.1, 143.0, 191.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3292 (NH), 3046 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2974 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2921 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2886 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1619 (C=O), 1589 (C=C), 1510 (C=C); Anal. Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>21</sub>NO: C, 83.78; H, 6.71; N, 4.44, Found: C, 83.73; H, 6.65; N, 4.37; MS (ESI APCI) for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>21</sub>NO: 316.1 (M+H)<sup>+</sup>.

## ethyl 4-hydroxy-2-methyl-5-phenyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4r)

White solid; mp: 231~233 °C (lit. 232 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.09 (t, 3H, J = 7.2 Hz, -CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.35 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.86-3.96 (m, 2H, -CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.28-7.31 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.77-7.79 (m, 2H, ArH), 10.56 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6

MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ: 14.2, 16.2, 17.2, 58.0, 110.9 112.0, 122.8, 124.1, 127.1, 128.2, 132.4, 148.8, 162.7, 180.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3230 (NH), 3068 (CH<sub>arom</sub>), 2981 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1690 (C=O), 1518 (C=C), 1443 (C=C).

#### tert-butyl 4-hydroxy-2-methyl-5-phenyl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carboxylate (S<sub>5</sub>4s)

White solid; mp: 238~239 °C (lit. 237 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 1.30 (s, 9H, -CCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.33 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.27-7.28(m, 3H, ArH), 7.77-7.78 (m, 2H, ArH), 10.43 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$ : 14.3, 27.7, 79.8, 110.9, 112.0, 123.8, 124.8, 128.9, 132.4, 133.0, 145.7, 169.6, 180.9; IR (Neat, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3241 (NH), 3065 (CH<sub>aron</sub>), 2981 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 2931 (CH<sub>aliph</sub>), 1687 (C=O).

## 1-(4-hydroxy-2-methyl-5-phenyl-1*H*-pyrrol-3-yl)ethanone (S<sub>5</sub>4t)

White solid; mp: 233~234 °C (lit. 233 °C); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ: 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.52 (s, 3H, Py-CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.07-7.11 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.33-7.37 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.69-7.72 (m, 2H, ArH), 9.99 (s, 1H, NH), 11.27 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100.6 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ: 14.3, 28.8, 109.8, 111.1, 122.7, 124.1, 128.4, 131.6, 132.9, 144.5, 197.4; 3250, 3130, 3050. 1638, 1562, 1476

Crystal data [CCDC No. 929558]				
Empirical formula	C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>15</sub> NO <sub>4</sub>			
Formula weight	285.29			
Crystal size (mm)	0.3 x 0.2 x 0.2			
Crystal system	Monoclinic			
Space group	P21/c			
a (Å); b (Å); c (Å)	10.1036(9); 12.6989(11);			
	11.9912(10)			
$\alpha$ (°); $\beta$ (°); $\gamma$ (°)	90.00; 106.5920(10); 90.00			
Volume (Å <sup>3</sup> )	1474.5(2)			
Z	4			
Crystal density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.285			
F(000)	600			
Absorption coefficient	0.093			

 Table 6.1: Crystallographic data of compound S<sub>5</sub>4c

Department of Chemistry, NITK

Contd.			
Temperature (T)	296 (2)		
Radiation wavelength	0.71073		
Radiation type	ΜοΚα		
Radiation source	Fine-focus sealed tube		
Radiation monochromator	Graphite		
$\mathbf{h}_{\min}; \mathbf{k}_{\min}; \mathbf{l}_{\min}$	-12; -15; -14		
$h_{max}; k_{max}; l_{max}$	12; 15; 14		
R-Factor (%)	3.93		

The <sup>1</sup>H NMR <sup>13</sup>C NMR and ESI APCI MS spectra of  $S_54a$  and  $S_54q$  are shown below.



Chapter 6



Fig. 6.3: ESI APCI MS spectrum of S<sub>5</sub>4a





Fig. 6.6: ESI APCI MS spectrum of S<sub>5</sub>4q

## 6.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Initially, the one pot, three-component reaction was carried out using equimolar amounts of EAA ( $S_51a$ ), benzoin ( $S_52a$ ) and ammonium acetate ( $S_53$ ) in 10 mL RB flask and heated to 80 °C under solvent-free condition. The reaction mass slowly converted to suspension and partial conversion was observed after 60 min (the reaction was monitored by TLC). The continuation of the reaction yielded 42% of the product after 180 min. The reaction was then optimized by varying the molar ratio of starting materials and temperature of the reaction (Table 6.2). The molar ratio 1.1:1:1.5 of EAA ( $S_51a$ ), benzoin ( $S_52a$ ) and ammonium acetate at 90 °C was found to be the more suitable condition for better conversion. The reaction mass converted to homogeneous liquid in this condition and the desired product was obtained in high yield in moderate reaction time. Further, increased temperature to 100 °C resulted in decreased yield due to the formation of unknown impurities. The pure solid product was obtained after recrystallization with EtOH-water (80:20) mixture.

		Solvent-free catalyst-free	
S <sub>5</sub> 18	a S <sub>5</sub> 2a	S <sub>5</sub> 3	S <sub>5</sub> 4a
Entry	Molar ratio of S <sub>5</sub> 1a: S <sub>5</sub> 2a: S <sub>5</sub> 3	Reaction Temperatur / Time	re Yield of <b>S</b> 5 <b>4a</b> (%)
1	1:1:1	80 °C/ 180 min	42
2	1:1:1.2	80 °C/ 180 min	48
3	1:1:1.2	90 °C/ 120 min	74
4	1:1:1.5	90 °C/ 120 min	83
5	1.1:1:1.5	90 °C/ 120 min	93
6	1.1:1:1.2	90 °C/ 120 min	80
7	1.1:1:1.5	100 °C/ 120 min	84

#### **Table 6.2:** Optimization of the reaction

In order to explore the synthetic utility of the current protocol, series of reactions were carried out using various 1,3-dicarbonyls ( $S_51$ ), benzoin derivatives ( $S_52$ ) and ammonium acetate  $(S_53)$  under optimized conditions. The reaction proceeded smoothly with various 1,3-dicarbonyls. However, the reaction with dibenzoylmethane (S<sub>5</sub>1e: Table 6.3 entry 13, 14, 15) failed to yield pyrrole products through condensation with benzoin derivatives even at elevated temperature. This may be attributed to the poor reactivity of carbonyl groups due to the presence of adjacent bulky phenyl groups. Also, increased reaction temperature (>130 °C) resulted in the decomposition of starting materials. Unlike the reaction with symmetrical 1,3dicarbonyls, in case of unsymmetrical 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds, mixtures of regioisomeric products are possible. However, with all unsymmetrical 1,3-dicarbonyls (S<sub>5</sub>1a, S<sub>5</sub>1b, S<sub>5</sub>1d) used, only one regioisomer has been obtained in high yield under present reaction conditions. This may be attributed to the difference in reactivity of carbonyl groups influenced by the nature of substitution on it. The resonance stabilized effect in the ester group (Table 6.3, entry 1-6) and steric effect in the benzoyl group (Table 6.3 entry **10-12**) reduces the reactivity of carbonyl group and hence remained as side chain in the corresponding pyrroles. The structural evidence

was followed by <sup>13</sup>C NMR analysis of the pyrroles. The carbonyl signal of pyrroles  $S_54a$ -  $S_54f$  appeared ~165 ppm corresponding to ester carbonyl group and carbonyl signal of pyrroles  $S_54j$ -  $S_54l$  appeared ~ 194 ppm corresponding to benzoyl carbonyl group while carbonyl signal of pyrroles  $S_54g$ -  $S_54g$ -  $S_54i$  appeared ~197 ppm corresponding to acetyl carbonyl group. In addition, from the SCXRD analysis of  $S_54c$  (Fig. 6.7), it was clearly found that the ester group was unreacted and remained as side chain in pyrrole  $S_54c$ . Thus, the difference in reactivity of carbonyl groups of 1,3-dicarbonyls leads to the formation of single regioisomer and hence the present protocol can be considered as regeoselective.

In order to evaluate the scope of the present protocol, the solvent- and catalyst- free reaction was extended to poor reactive anisoin and heteroaromatic 2,2'-furoin. Interestingly, the poor reactive anisoin underwent smooth reaction under present heating condition to obtain corresponding pyrrole derivatives in good yield (Table 6.3 entry **2**, **8**, **11**). As a main reason for this conversion, it is assumed that, the increased temperature (90 °C) and little excess of 1,3-dicarbonyls (1.1 equivalence), induced homogeneous reaction mixture and hence increases the productive collision between the reactant molecules and the elimination rate of water molecules during the reaction progress. This was supported by the initial experiments, when equimolar ratios of EAA and benzoin were reacted at 80 °C; the reaction mixture was observed as suspension and resulted in poor product yield (42%). The three-component reaction proceeded smoothly and good product yields were obtained with heteroaromatic 2,2'-furoin (Table 6.3 entry **3,6,9,12**).

Entry	1,3- dicarbonyls	Benzoin derivatives		Product <sup>a</sup>	Yield (%) <sup>b</sup>
1		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4a		93 <sup>c</sup>
2	00	`о-{ОH о	S₅4b		89 <sup>c</sup>
3		OH OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4c	NH O	84 <sup>c</sup>
4		OH OH	<b>S</b> <sub>5</sub> 4d		85 <sup>c</sup>
5		`о-{ОH о	S <sub>5</sub> 4e		Trace
6		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4f	Xol NH O	92 <sup>c</sup>
7		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4g		90 <sup>c</sup>
8	0 0	`о-СЭ-Он ОН О-СЭ-О,	S <sub>5</sub> 4h		86 <sup>c</sup>
9		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4i	L NH O	83 <sup>c</sup>

**Table 6.3:** Three-component synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions

Contd.				
10		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4j	86 <sup>°</sup>
11		°-⟨OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4k	82 <sup>c</sup>
12		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 41	85 °
13		OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4m	00
14		°-∕_>-∕OH OH	S <sub>5</sub> 4n	00
15		CON CH	S <sub>5</sub> 40	00
16	° Contraction of the second se	OH OH	S54p	82 <sup>d</sup>
17		OH OH	S54q	76 <sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Reaction conditions: 1,3-dicarbonyls (1.1 mmol), Benzoin derivatives (1 mmol), Ammonium acetate (1.5 mmol) at 90 °C, 120 min. <sup>b</sup>Yield of pure product. <sup>c</sup>Purified by recrystallization using 80:20 EtOH water mixture. <sup>d</sup>Purified by coulumn chromatography.

The structure of the products was confirmed by spectral data and elemental analysis. The <sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR of known compounds are in agreement with the earlier reports. Further, to confirm the structure of tetrasubstituted pyrroles unambiguously,  $S_54c$  was selected as a representative compound and characterized by SCXRD analysis as shown in Fig. 6.7.



Fig. 6.7: ORTEP (50% probability) diagram of the crystal structure of S<sub>5</sub>4c

On the basis of electronic effects and regioselectivity of the reaction, two plausible pathways for the present three-component protocol are illustrated in Scheme 6.2. The reaction of benzoin carbonyl group with ammonium acetate can form  $\alpha$ -hydroxy imine **I**, which can undergo isomerisation under heating condition (Paquette and Hofferberth 2004) to form intermediate **II**. The reaction of amine group in intermediate **III** with more reactive carbonyl group of 1,3-dicarbonyls can form enaminone intermediate **III** under solvent and catalyst-free heating condition (Attanasi et al. 2011). The condensive cyclization of intermediate **III** followed by [1,5] proton shift, leads to the formation of pyrrole **S**<sub>5</sub>**4** (Path **A**, Scheme 6.2). Alternatively, Condensation of 1,3-dicarbonyls with carbonyl group of benzoin can form intermediate **V** at present heating temperature. Further, condensation of ammonium acetate with more reactive carbonyl of intermediate **V** can form intermediate **VI**, which on rearrangement and simultaneous condensive cyclization yield the product **S**<sub>5</sub>**4** (Path **B**, Scheme 6.2).

Department of Chemistry, NITK



Scheme 6.2: Possible mechanistic pathways for the formation of tetrasubstituted pyrroles

The current solvent- and catalyst- free protocol was further extended to cyclic 1,3diketones. When, dihydroresorcinol and dimedone were reacted with benzoin in the presence of ammonium acetate (Scheme 6.3), polyfunctionalized indoles were obtained in high yield after 120 min of heating at 90  $^{\circ}$ C (Table 6.3 entry **16 & 17**).



Scheme 6.3: One-pot three-component synthesis of polysubstituted indoles

In order to expand the scope of the solvent and catalyst-free, one pot protocol for the synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles, 1,3-dicarbonyls were reacted with phenylglyoxal to yield corresponding products (Table 6.4). The pure pyrrole products were obtained in high yield after recrystallization with 70:30 EtOH water mixture. It was found that, the requirement of ammonium acetate to yield the pyrrole product reduced significantly compared to the earlier water mediated protocol (Khalili et al. 2008). This may be attributed to the improved molecular interaction between ammonium acetate and other water insoluble starting materials under solvent-free

conditions compared to aqueous media. Further, only one regioisomer was obtained with unsymmetrical 1,3-dicarbonyls.

**Table 6.4:** Three-component synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions



a Reaction conditions: 1,3-dicarbonyls (1.1 mmol), Phenyl glyoxal (1 mmol), Ammonium acetate (1.5 mmol) at 50 °C, 120 min. bYield of pure product. cPurified by recrystallization using 70:30 EtOH water mixture.

#### **6.4 CONCLUSION**

In summary, an improved and greener one-pot protocol for the synthesis of tetrasubstituted pyrroles has been developed through a three-component reaction of 1,3-dicarbonyls, benzoin derivatives and ammonium acetate. Notably, this solventand catalyst-free approach leads to the formation of regioselective products from readily accessible starting materials and circumvents several limitations associated with earlier reported catalytic protocols. Further, the present environmental friendly protocol found application in the synthesis of polyfunctionalized indoles and substituted 4-hydroxy pyrroles with improved reaction efficiency and reduced waste.

CHAPTER 7

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This Chapter describes the brief summary and conclusion of the present research work. Further the scope for future work is discussed.

## 7.1 SUMMARY

The concept of Green chemistry and its principles, spread worldwide with the aim to develop environmental consciousness in chemical synthesis. Even though, the organic transformations are well known under solvent/catalytic process, their improvement in terms of substrate modification, reaction efficiency, avoidance of toxic reagents, reduction of waste have significant values in modern organic synthesis influenced by the Green Chemistry principles.

Based on the literature review, it has been aimed to develop synthetic routes for the formation of carbon-carbon and carbon-heteroatom bond formation towards diverse organic molecules under solvent- and catalyst-free reaction conditions. The summary of the current research work are listed below.

- Five different transformations have been studied under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions towards biologically privileged structures.
- Aza-Michael addition of variety of amines to crotonic acid was carried out under solvent- and catalyst-free grinding conditions.
- Φ Wide variety of amines and  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids were reacted to evaluate the scope and generality of the reaction.
- $\Phi$  To explore the potential for industrial application, gram scale reaction of *p*-toluidine with crotonic acid has been carried out.
- ✤ The condensation of salicylaldehyde with malononitrile revisited under solventand catalyst-free mechanical activation, thermal activation and direct crystallization conditions.
- The mechanism of the reaction was explored by IR spectral measurements of the reaction mixture for every 3 min time interval.

- ✤ The reaction feasibility and functional group tolerance was evaluated with variously substituted salicylaldehydes under grinding condition.
- ✤ The solvent- and catalyst- free reaction of 2-aminobenzaldehydes with malononitrile was carried out under thermal activation.
- The reaction of 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-ones with aldehydes were carried out under solvent- and catalyst-free melt condition to synthesize 3-functionalized 4hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-ones.
- ✤ The reaction was carried out under solution conditions using various solvents to evaluate the efficiency of the solvent- and catalyst-free protocol.
- $\Phi$  The three component cascade reaction was attempted by reacting 4hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one and *p*-chlorobenzaldehyde with various active methylene compounds under thermal activation.
- ✤ The three component cascade reactions of 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one, 3aminocyclohex-2-enone and various aldehydes were carried out under neat heating conditions.
- ↔ Varieties of aldehydes were reacted to explore the functional group tolerance towards product formation under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions.
- The optimization of the reaction was carried out by varying reactants ratio and ammonia source to get best results.
- Various 2-aminoaryl ketones and trialkyl orthoesters were reacted to evaluate the scope of the reaction.
- ✤ To explore the mechanism, the reaction was quenched after 1 h and intermediate was isolated and characterized for structural confirmation.

- ♦ One-pot, three-component reaction of 1,3-dicarbonyls, benzoin derivatives and ammonium acetate was carried out under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions.
- The reaction was optimized by varying the molar ratio of starting materials and temperature of the reaction.
- ✤ The feasibility of the three-component reaction with various 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds and benzoin derivatives was explored.
- All the Newly synthesised compounds have been adequately characterized for structural confirmation and selected compounds have been unambiguously confirmed by SCXRD analysis.

#### 7.2 CONCLUSIONS

Based on the experimental results, following important conclusions have been drawn.

- $\oplus$  Green synthesis of  $\beta$ -aminobutyric acids has been developed by aza-Michael addition of amines to crotonic acid under neat grinding/mixing of equimolar reactants.
- Φ Both aliphatic and aromatic, primary as well as secondary amines can be used as Michael donors to yield corresponding β-aminobutyric acids.
- Φ The aza Michael addition of amines to aromatic and sterically hindered *α*,*β*-unsaturated acids failed to produce corresponding Michael adducts under neat grinding.
- The solvent- and catalyst-free Knoevenagel condensation of benzaldehydes containing hydroxyl or amine group in ortho-position leads to the bicyclic heterocycles via six membered cyclization.
- The electron donating groups on aromatic ring of salicylaldehydes increase the reaction time with decreased product yield and vise versa.

- The solvent assisted catalyst-free reaction results either in decreased or no product formation.
- The one-pot reaction of 4-hydroxyquinolin-2(1*H*)-one and aldehydes with 3aminocyclohex-2-enone undergoes three component cascade to form corresponding 3-((2-amino-6-oxocyclohex-1-enyl)methyl)-4-hydroxy-1methylquinolin-2(1*H*)-one derivatives.
- $\Phi$  The reaction is feasible with variety of functionalized aldehydes.
- ♦ An efficient and green protocol for the synthesis of 2,4-substituted quinazolines has been developed under solvent- and catalyst-free reaction condition.
- ✤ The building blocks 2-aminoarylketones, trialkylorthoesters and ammonium acetate in the ratio 1:1.5:1.5 at 110 °C is the optimized reaction condition to obtain the quinazolines in high yield.
- ✤ The three component reaction for the construction of quinazolines follows intermediate imidate formation.
- The solvent- and catalyst-free one-pot reaction of 1,3-dicarbonyls, benzoin derivative and ammonium acetate leads to the regioselective formation of polyfunctionalised pyrroles in high yield.
- ✤ The molar ratio 1.1:1:1.5 of starting materials at 90 °C is found to be the best possible reaction condition to obtain the polyfunctionalised pyrroles.

- This protocol circumvents several limitations associated with earlier reported protocols such as tedious catalyst preparation, substate limitation, requirement of too excessive reagents etc.
- ✤ The carbon-carbon and carbon-heteroatom bond formations via condensation reactions, addition to electron deficient substrates, cyclization reactions involving condensation and intramolecular reactions can be easily achievable under solventand catalyst-free reaction conditions.

#### 7.3 SCOPE FOR FUTURE WORK

The avoidance of auxiliary substances is one of the major objectives of Green chemistry and development of solvent- and catalyst-free protocols is of great importance to accomplish this objective. The developed green protocols in the current research work have several advantages over conventional protocols. It is conceivable that the present study offers a facile and expedient way to synthesize privileged organic compounds that can be used in various field of chemistry. Further, in order to avoid auxiliary substances, it is believed that, the future synthetic chemistry research on synthesis new chemical entities and method development of known chemicals begins with solvent- and catalyst-free conditions.

REFERENCES

Abass, M., Mohamed, E.A., Ismail, M.M. and Mayas, A.S. (2011). "Substituted Quinolinones Part 16. Preparation and reactions of 3-(4-hydroxy-1-methyl-2-oxo-1,2-dihydroquinolin-3-yl)-3-oxopropanoic acid." *Eur. J. Chem.*, 2 (3), 378-387.

Abe, I., Abe, T., Wanibuchi, K. and Noguchi, H. (2006). "Enzymatic Formation of Quinolone Alkaloids by a Plant Type III Polyketide Synthase." *Org. Lett.*, 8, 6063-6065.

Akhlaghinia, B., Rahimizadeh, M., Eshghi, H., Zhaleh, S. and Rezazadeh, S. (2012). "Green synthesis of thiiranes from oxiranes under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions." *Journal of Sulfur Chemistry* 33, 351–361.

Almerico, A.M., Diana, P., Barraja, P., Dattolo, G., Mingoia, F., Putzolu, M., Perra, G., Milia, C., Musiu, C. and Marongiu, M.E. (1997). "Glycosidopyrroles. Part 2. Acyclic derivatives: 1-(1,3-dihydroxy-2-propoxy)methylpyrroles as potential antiviral agents." *Farmaco*, 52, 667-672.

Alonso, F., Moglie, Y., Radivoy, G., and Yus, M., (2012). "Solvent- and catalyst-free regioselective hydrophosphanation of alkenes." *Green Chem.*, 14, 2699-2702.

Anand, N., Reddy, K.H.P., Satyanarayana, T., Rao K.S.R. and Burri, D.R. (2012). "A magnetically recoverable  $\gamma$ -Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> nanocatalyst for the synthesis of 2-phenylquinazolines under solvent-free conditions." *Catal. Sci. Technol.*, 2, 570–574.

Anastas, P.T.; Warner, J.C. (1998). *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice* Oxford University Press: New York.

Angibaud, P.R., Venet, M.G., Filliers, W., Broeckx, R., Ligny, Y.A., Muller, P., Poncelet, V.S. and End, D.W. (2004). "Synthesis Routes towards the Farnesyl Protein Transferase Inhibitor ZARNESTRA." *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 479-486.

Ashton, W.T. and Hynes, J.B. (1973). "Synthesis of 5-substituted quinazolines as potential antimalarial agents." *J. Med. Chem.*, 16, 1233-1237.

Attanasi, O.A., Favi, G., Mantellini, F., Moscatelli, G. and Santeusanio, S. (2011). "Synthesis of Functionalized Pyrroles via Catalyst- and Solvent-Free Sequential Three-Component Enamine–Azoene Annulation." *J. Org. Chem.*, 76, 2860–2866.

Azizi, N. and Saidi, M.R. (2004). "LiClO<sub>4</sub> Accelerated Michael addition of amines to  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated olefins under solvent-free conditions." *Tetrahedron*, 60, 383–387.

Baig, R.B.N. and Varma, R.S. (2012). "Alternative energy input: mechanochemical, microwave and ultrasound-assisted organic synthesis." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 41, 1559-1584.

Balakumar, C., Lamba, P., Kishore, D.P., Narayana, B.L., Rao, K.V., Rajwinder, K., Rao, A.R., Shireesha B. and Narsaiah, B. (2010). "Synthesis, anti-inflammatory evaluation and docking studies of some new fluorinated fused quinazolines." *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 45, 4904-4913.

Ballini, R. Bazan, N.A., Bosica, G., Palmieri, A. (2008). "Uncatalyzed, anti-Michael addition of amines to  $\beta$ -nitroacrylates: practical, eco-friendly synthesis of  $\beta$ -nitro- $\alpha$ -amino esters." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 49, 3865–3867.

Balme, G. (2004). "Pyrrole Syntheses by Multicomponent Coupling Reactions." *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 43, 6238-6241.

Bandaru, M., Sabbavarapu, N.M., Bandam, A.K., Pavan, S., Akula, A.K. and Durga, N.Y.V. (2012). "Simple and straight forward synthesis of 2,4-disubstituted quinazolines in aqueous medium." *Eur. J. Chem.*, 3(2), 252-257.

Bandgar, B.P., Uppalla, L.S. and Kurule, D.S. (1999). "Solvent-free one-pot rapid synthesis of 3-carboxycoumarins using focused microwaves." *Green Chem.*, 1, 243–245.

Barr, S.A., Neville, C.F.(the late), Grundon, M.F., Boyd, D.R., Malone, J.F. and Evans, T.A. (1995). "Quinolinone Cycloaddition as a Potential Synthetic Route to Dimeric Quinoline Alkaloids." *J. CHEM. SOC. PERKIN TRANS. I*, 445-452.

Barraja, P., Caracausi, L., Diana, P., Montalbano, A., Carbone, A., Salvador, A., Brun, P., Castagliuolo, I., Tisi, S., Dall'Acqua, F., Vedaldi, D. and Cirrincione, G. (2011). "Pyrrolo[3,2-*H*]quinazolines as Photochemotherapeutic Agents." *ChemMedChem.*, 6, 1238–1248.

Bartoli, G., Bartolacci, M., Giuliani, A., Marcantoni, E., Massaccesi, M., and Torregiani, E. (2005). "Improved heteroatom nucleophilic addition to electron-poor alkenes promoted by CeCl<sub>3</sub>•7H<sub>2</sub>O/NaI system supported on alumina in solvent-free conditions." *J. Org. Chem.*, 70, 169-174.

Bellina, F. and Rossi, R. (2006). "Synthesis and biological activity of pyrrole, pyrroline and pyrrolidine derivatives with two aryl groups on adjacent positions." *Tetrahedron*, 62, 7213-7256.

Beresnevicius, Z.J., Viliunas, V. and Kantminiene, K. (2000). "Interaction of aminoquinolines with unsaturated carboxylic acids. Synthesis of N-quinolyl-  $\beta$ -alanines and their biological activity." *Chem. Heterocycl. Compd.*, 36, 432-438.

Beyer, M.K. and Clausen-Schaumann, H. (2005). "Mechanochemistry: The mechanical activation of covalent bonds." *Chem. Rev.*, 105, 2921-2944.

Bhattacharya, T., Sarma T.K. and Samanta S. (2012). "Self-assembled monolayer coated gold-nanoparticle catalyzed aerobic oxidation of  $\alpha$ -hydroxy ketones in water: an efficient one-pot synthesis of quinoxaline derivatives." *Catal. Sci. Technol.*, 2, 2216-2220.

Bhattacharyya, J., Banerjee H. and Bhattacharyya, A. (2003). "Photodecomposition of an Acaricide, Fenazaquin, in Aqueous Alcoholic Solution." *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 51, 4013-4016. and references cited therein.

Binev, Y.I., Tsenov, J.A., Juchnovski, I.N. and Binev, I.G. (2003). "Ab initio, DFT and experimental studies on the IR spectra and structure of propanedinitrile (malononitrile) and its carbanion." *J. Mol. Struct.: THEOCHEM*, 625, 207-214.

Biradar, J.S. and Sasidhar, B.S. (2011). "Solvent-free, microwave assisted Knoevenagel condensation of novel 2,5-disubstituted indole analogues and their biological evaluation." *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 46(12), 6112-6118.

Buckle, D.R., Cantello, B.C.C., Smith, H., Spicer, B.A. (1975). "4-Hydroxy-3-nitro-2-quinolones and related compounds as inhibitors of allergic reactions." *J. Med. Chem.*, 18, 726-732.

Cappelli, A., Mohr, G.la P., Gallelli, A., Rizzo, M., Anzini, M., Vomero, S., Mennuni, L., Ferrari, F., Makovec, F., Menziani, M.C., Benedetti, P.G.D. and Giorgi, G. (2004). "Design, Synthesis, Structural Studies, Biological Evaluation, and Computational Simulations of Novel Potent AT<sub>1</sub> Angiotensin II Receptor Antagonists Based on the 4-Phenylquinoline Structure." *J. Med. Chem.* 47, 2574-2586.

Cardillo, G. and Tomasini, C. (1996). "Asymmetric synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino acids and  $\alpha$ -substituted  $\beta$ -amino acids." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 25, 117–128.

Cave, G.W.V., Raston C.L. and Scott, J.L. (2001). "Recent advances in solventless organic reactions: towards benign synthesis with remarkable versatility." *Chem. Commun.*, 2159-2169.

Chaudhuri, M.K., Hussain, S., Lakshmi Kantam, M. and Neelima, B. (2005). "Boric acid: a novel and safe catalyst for aza-Michael reactions in water." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 46, 8329–8331.

Chen, W.–B., Wu, Z.-J., Pei, Q.-L., Cun, L.-F., Zhang, X.-M and Yuan, W.-C. (2010). "Highly Enantioselective Construction of Spiro(4*H*-pyran-3,3'-oxindoles) Through a Domino Knoevenagel/Michael/Cyclization Sequence Catalyzed by Cupreine." *Org. Lett.*, 12, 3132-3135.

Chiba, S., Wang, Y.F., Lapointe, G. and Narasaka, K. (2008). "Synthesis of Polysubstituted N-*H* Pyrroles from Vinyl Azides and 1,3-Dicarbonyl Compounds." *Org. Lett.*, 10, 313–316.

Chien, T.-C., Chen, C.-S., Yu, F.-H. and Chern, J.-W. (2004). "Nucleosides XI. Synthesis and Antiviral Evaluation of 5'-Alkylthio-5'-deoxy Quinazolinone
Nucleoside Derivatives as S-Adenosyl-<sub>L</sub>-homocysteine Analogs." Chem. Pharm. Bull., 52, 1422-1426.

Choudhary, G. and Peddinti R.K. (2011). "An expeditious, highly efficient, catalystfree and solvent-free synthesis of nitroamines and nitrosulfides by Michael addition." *Green Chem.*, 13, 276-282.

Climent, M.J., Corma, A. and Iborra, S. (2012). "Homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts for multicomponent reactions." *RSC Adv.*, 2, 16-58.

Correa, W.H., Papadopoulos, S., Radnidge, P., Roberts, B.A. and Scott, J.L. (2002). "Direct, efficient, solvent-free synthesis of 2-aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinazolines." *Green Chem.*, 4, 245–251.

Costa, M., Areias, F., Abrunhosa, L., Venancio, A. and Proencüa, F. (2008). "The condensation of salicylaldehydes and malononitrile revisited: Synthesis of new dimeric chromene derivatives." *J. Org. Chem.*, 73, 1954-1962.

Cravotto, G. and Cintas, P. (2006). "Power ultrasound in organic synthesis: moving cavitational chemistry from academia to innovative and large-scale applications." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, *35*, 180-196.

Cravotto, G., Gaudino, E.C. and Cintas, P. (2013). "On the Mechanochemical activation by Ultrasound." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, DOI: 10.1039/C2CS35456J.

Csaky, A.G., de la Herran, G. and Murcia, M.C. (2010). "Conjugate addition reactions of carbon nucleophiles to electron-deficient dienes." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 39, 4080–4102.

Dandia, A., Singh, R. and Laxkar, A. (2011). "A facile catalyst and solvent-free synthesis of spiro thia heterocycles on grinding." *J. Serb. Chem. Soc.*, 76, 1339–1346.

Das, B. and Chowdhury, N. (2007). "Amberlyst-15: An efficient reusable heterogeneous catalyst for aza-Michael reactions under solvent-free conditions." *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.*, 263, 212–215.

Das, S.G., Srinivasan, B., Hermanson, D.L., Bleeker, N.P., Doshi, J.M., Tang, R., Beck, W.T. and Xing, C. (2011). "Structure–activity relationship and molecular mechanisms of ethyl 2-Amino-6-(3,5-dimethoxyphenyl)-4-(2-ethoxy-2-oxoethyl)-4*H* chromene-3-carboxylate (CXL017) and its analogues." *J. Med. Chem.*, 54(16), 5937–5948.

Delgado, F., Tamariz, J., Zepeda, G., Landa, M., Miranda, R. and Garcia, J. (1995). "Knoevenagel condensation catalyzed by a Mexican bentonite using infrared irradiation." *Synth. Commun.*, 25(5), 753-759.

Dhake, K.P., Tambade, P.J., Singhal, R.S. and Bhanage, B.M. (2010). "Promiscuous Candida antarctica lipase B-catalyzed synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino esters via aza-Michael addition of amines to acrylates." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 51, 4455–4458.

Domling, A. (2006). "Recent Developments in Isocyanide Based Multicomponent Reactions in Applied Chemistry." *Chem. Rev.*, 106, 17-89.

Domling, A. and Ugi, I. (2000). "Multicomponent Reactions with Isocyanides." *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 39, 3168-3210.

Ege, M. and Wanner, K.T. (2004). "Synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino acids based on oxidative cleavage of dihydropyridone derivatives." *Org. Lett.*, 6, 3553-3556.

Elinson, M.N., Dorofeev, A.S., Feducovich, S.K., Nasybullin, R.F., Gorbunov, S.V., Nikishin, G.I. (2006). "Electrocatalytic chain transformation of salicylaldehydes and malononitrile into substituted 4*H*-chromenes." *Electrochem. Commun.*, 8, 1567–1571.

Erichsen, M.N., Huynh, T.H.V., Abrahamsen, B., Bastlund, J.F., Bundgaard, C., Monrad, O., Jensen, A.B., Nielsen, C.W., Frydenvang, K., Jensen, A.A. and Bunch, L. (2010). "Structure-activity relationship study of first selective inhibitor of excitatory amino acid transporter subtype 1: 2-amino-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-7-(naphthalen-1-yl)-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4*H*-chromene-3-carbonitrile (UCPH-101)." *J. Med. Chem.*, 53(19), 7180–7191.

Escalante, J., Morales, M.C. and Linzaga, I. (2008). "Michael additions of amines to methyl acrylates promoted by microwave irradiation." *Molecules*, 13, 340-347.

Estevez, V., Villacampa, M. and Menendez, J.C. (2013). "Three-component access to pyrroles promoted by the CAN–silver nitrate system under high-speed vibration milling conditions: a generalization of the Hantzsch pyrrole synthesis." *Chem. Commun.*, 49, 591-593.

Estévez, V., Villacampa M. and Menéndez, J.C. (2010). "Multicomponent reactions for the synthesis of pyrroles." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 39, 4402-4421.

Fang, J., Zhou, J. and Fang, Z. (2013). "Synthesis of 2-substituted quinazolines via iridium catalysis." *RSC Adv.*, 3, 334-336.

Feroci, M., Orsini, M., Palombib, L. and Inesi, A. (2007). "Electrochemically induced Knoevenagel condensation in solvent- and supporting electrolyte-free conditions." *Green Chem.*, 9, 323–325.

Fontaine, P., Masson, G. and Zhu, J. (2009). "Synthesis of Pyrroles by Consecutive Multicomponent Reaction/[4 + 1] Cycloaddition of  $\alpha$ -Iminonitriles with Isocyanides." *Org. Lett.*, 11, 1555–1558.

Foster, B.A., Coffey, H.A., Morin, M.J. and Rastinejad, F. (1999). "Pharmacological Rescue of Mutant p53 Conformation and Function." *Science*, 286, 2507-2510.

Fringuelli, F., Piermatti, O. and Pizzo, F. (2003). "One-pot synthesis of 3-Carboxycoumarins via consecutive Knoevenagel and Pinner reactions in water." *Synthesis*, 15, 2331-2334.

Fry, D.W., Kraker, A.J., McMichael, A., Ambroso, L.A., Nelson, J.M., Leopold, W.R., Connors, R.W., Bridges, A.J. (1994). "A specific inhibitor of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase." *Science*, 265, 1093–1095.

Fujita, M., Nakao, Y., Matsunaga, S., Seiki, M., Itoh, Y., Yamashita, J., van Soest,
R.W.M. and Fusetani, N. (2003), "Ageladine A: An Antiangiogenic Matrixmetalloproteinase Inhibitor from the Marine Sponge Agelas nakamurai." *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 125, 15700-15701.

Furstner, A. (2003). "Chemistry and Biology of Roseophilin and the Prodigiosin Alkaloids: A Survey of the Last 2500 Years." *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 42(31), 3582-3603.

Ganem, B. (2009). "Strategies for Innovation in Multicomponent Reaction Design." *Acc. Chem. Res.*, 42, 463-472.

Glasnov, T.N., Stadlbauer, W. and Kappe, C.O. (2005). "Microwave-Assisted Multistep Synthesis of Functionalized 4-Arylquinolin-2(1*H*)-ones Using Palladium-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Chemistry." *J. Org. Chem.*, 70, 3864-3870.

Grigg, R., Whitney, S., Sridharan, V., Keep, A. and Derrick, A. (2009). "Iridium catalysed alkylation of 4-hydroxy coumarin, 4-hydroxy-2-quinolones and quinolin-4(1H)-one with alcohols under solvent free thermal conditions." *Tetrahedron*, 65, 7468–7473.

Groenendaal, L., Meijer, E.–W. and Vekemans, J.A.J.M. (1997) "Electronic materials: The oligomer approach." Wiley- VCH, Weinheim.

Gunasekaran, P., Prasanna, P., Perumal, S. and Almansour, A.I. (2013). "ZnCl<sub>2</sub>catalyzed three-component domino reactions for the synthesis of pyrano[3,2c]quinolin-5(6*H*)-ones." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 54, 3248-3252.

Gundla, R., Kazemi, R., Sanam, R., Muttineni, R., Sarma, J.A.R.P., Dayam, R. and Neamati, N. (2008). "Discovery of Novel Small-Molecule Inhibitors of Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-2: Combined Ligand and Target-Based Approach." *J. Med. Chem.*, 51(12), 3367–3377.

Han, B., Wang, C., Han, R.F., Yu, W., Duan, X.Y., Fang R. and Yang, X.L. (2011). "Efficient aerobic oxidative synthesis of 2-aryl quinazolines via benzyl C–H bond aminationcatalyzed by 4-hydroxy-TEMPO." *Chem. Commun.*, 47, 7818-7820.

Hepworth, J.D. (2002). Aromatic Chemistry, The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge.

Department of Chemistry NITK,

Hewawasam, P., Fan, W., Ding, M., Flint, K., Cook, D., Goggings, G.D., Myers, R.A., Gribkoff, V.K., Boissard, C.G., Dworetzky, S.I., Starret, J.E. and Lodge, N.J. (2003), "4-Aryl-3-(hydroxyalkyl)quinolin-2-ones: Novel Maxi-K Channel Opening Relaxants of Corporal Smooth Muscle Targeted for Erectile Dysfunction." *J. Med. Chem.*, 46, 2819-2822.

Hong, B.-C., Dange, N.-S., Xing, C.-F. and Ciao, J.-H. (2012). "Organocatalytic Michael-Knoevenagel-Hetero-Diels-Alder Reactions: An Efficient Asymmetric One-Pot Strategy to Isochromene Pyrimidinedione Derivatives." *Org. Lett.*, 14, 448-451.

Horton, B. (1999). "Green chemistry puts down roots." Nature, 400, 797-799.

Jampilek, J., Musiol, R., Pesko, M., Kralova, K., Vejsova, M., Carroll, J., Coffey, A., Finster, J., Tabak, D., Niedbala, H., Kozik, V., Polanski, J., Csollei J. and Dohnal, J. (2009). "Ring-substituted 4-Hydroxy-1*H*-quinolin-2-ones: Preparation and Biological Activity." *Molecules*, 14, 1145-1159.

Jiang, R., Li, D.H., Jiang, J., Xu, X.P., Chen, T., Ji, S.J. (2011). "Green, efficient and practical Michael addition of arylamines to  $\alpha$ , $\beta$  -unsaturated ketones." *Tetrahedron*, 67, 3631-3637.

Jones, G. (1967). Org. React., 15, 204 - 599

Joule, J.A. and Mills, K. (2007). *Heterocyclic Chemistry at a glance*, Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 22.

Ju, J., Hua R. and Su, J. (2012), "Copper-catalyzed three-component one-pot synthesis of quinazolines." *Tetrahedron*, 68, 9364-9370.

Kabri, Y., Azas, N., Dumetre, A., Hutter, S., Laget, M., Verhaeghe, P., Gellis, A. and Vanelle, P. (2010). "Original quinazoline derivatives displaying antiplasmodial properties." *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 45, 616–622.

Kamperdick, C., Van, N.H., Sung, T.V. and Adam, G. (1999). "Bisquinolinone alkaloids from Melicope ptelefolia." *Phytochemistry*, 50, 177-181.

Karle, J.M., Bhattacharjee, A.K. and Vennerstrom, J.L. (2002). "Crystal structure of the potent bisquinoline antimalarial agent  $(\pm)$ -*trans*- $N^1$ , $N^2$ -bis(7-chloroquinolin-4-yl) cyclohexane-1,2-diamine dimethanesulfonate salt hydrate in relation to its biological properties." *J. Chem. Crystallogr.*, 32, 133-139.

Karmakar, B., Nayak, A. and Banerji, J. (2012). "Sulfated titania catalyzed water mediated efficient synthesis of dicoumarols - a green approach." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 53, 4343–4346.

Karnakar, K., Shankar, J., Murthy, S.N., Ramesh, K. and Nageswar, Y.V.D. (2011). "An Efficient Protocol for the Synthesis of 2-Phenylquinazolines Catalyzed by Ceric Ammonium Nitrate (CAN)." *Synlett*, 1089-1096.

Kaupp G. (2003). "Solid-state molecular syntheses: complete reactions without auxiliaries based on the new solid-state mechanism." *Cryst Eng Commun.*, 5, 117–133.

Kaupp, G. (2001). Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 40, 4506-4508.

Kaupp, G. (2005). "Organic Solid-State Reactions with 100% Yield." Top. Curr. Chem., 254, 95-183.

Kaupp, G. (2006). "Waste-free large-scale syntheses without auxiliaries for sustainable production omitting purifying workup." *CrystEngComm.*, 8, 794–804.

Kaupp, G., Jamal, M.R.N. and Schmeyers, J. (2002). "Quantitative Reaction Cascades of Ninhydrin in the Solid State." *Chem. Eur. J.* 8, 594-600.

Kaupp, G., Naimi-Jamal, M.R. and Schmeyers, J. (2003). "Solvent-free Knoevenagel condensations and Michael additions in the solid state and in the melt with quantitative yield." *Tetrahedron*, 59, 3753–3760.

Kaupp, G., Schmeyers, J. and Boy, J. (2001). "Waste-free solid-state syntheses with quantitative yield." *Chemosphere*, 43, 55-61.

Khalili, B., Jajarmi, P., Sis, B.E. and Hashemi, M.M. (2008). "Novel One-Pot, Three-Component Synthesis of New 2-Alkyl-5-aryl-(1*H*)-pyrrole-4-ol in Water." *J. Org. Chem.*, 73, 2090–2095.

Kiran B.M. and Mahadevan, K.M. (2006). "Rediscovered synthesis of 3cyanoquinoline derivatives." *Heterocycl. Commun.*, 12, 481-484.

Knoevenagel, E. (1898). "Condensationen zwischen malonester und aldehyden unter dem einfluss von ammoniak und organischen aminen." *Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft*, 31(3), 2585-2595.

Kumar A. and Sharma, S. (2011). "A grinding-induced catalyst- and solvent-free synthesis of highly functionalized 1,4-dihydropyridines *via* a domino multicomponent reaction." *Green Chem.*, 13, 2017-2020.

Kumar, A., Sharma, P., Kumari, P. and Kalal, B.L. (2011a). "Exploration of antimicrobial and antioxidant potential of newly synthesized 2,3-disubstituted quinazoline-4(3*H*)-ones." *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 21, 4353–4357.

Kumar, R.R., Perumal, S., Menendez, J.C., Yogeeswari, P. and Sriram, D. (2011b). "Antimycobacterial activity of novel 1,2,4-oxadiazole-pyranopyridine/chromene hybrids generated by chemoselective 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of nitrile oxides." *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 19(11), 3444-3450.

Kumar, S., Sharma, P., Kapoor, K.K., Hundal, M.S. (2008). "An efficient, catalystand solvent-free, four-component, and one-pot synthesis of polyhydroquinolines on grinding." *Tetrahedron*, 64, 536-542.

Kumar, V., Mohan, C., Gupta M. and Mahajan, M.P. (2005). "A catalyst- and solventfree selective approach to biologically important quinazolines and benzo[g]quinazoline." *Tetrahedron*, 61, 3533-3538.

Kunes, J., Bazant, J., Pour, M., Waisser, K., Slosarek, M. and Janota, J. (2000). "Quinazoline derivatives with antitubercular activity." *Il Farmaco*, 55, 725-729. Lancaster, M. (2002). *Green Chemistry: An Introductory Text*, Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK.

Lee, C.F., Yang, L.M., Hwu, T.Y., Feng, A.S., Tseng, J.C. and Luh, T.Y. (2000). "One-Pot Synthesis of Substituted Furans and Pyrroles from Propargylic Dithioacetals. New Annulation Route to Highly Photoluminescent Oligoaryls." *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 122, 4992-4993.

Lehuede, J., Fauconneau, B., Barrier, L., Ourakow, M., Piriou, A. and Vierfond, J.M. (1999). "Synthesis and antioxidant activity of new tetraarylpyrroles." *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 34, 991-996.

Li, D.P., Zhang, G.L., An, L.T., Zou, J.P. and Zhang, W. (2011). "Solvent- and catalyst-free synthesis of 2,3-dihydro-1*H*-benzo[*d*]imidazoles." *Green Chem.*, 13, 594-597.

Liu, W., Jiang, H. and Huang, L. (2010). "One-Pot Silver-Catalyzed and PIDA-Mediated Sequential Reactions: Synthesis of Polysubstituted Pyrroles Directly from Alkynoates and Amines." *Org. Lett.*, 12, 312-315.

Loupy, A. (2006). *Microwaves in Organic Synthesis* 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Wiley-VCH.

Lu, L.-Q., Chen, J.-R. and Xiao, W.-J. (2012). "Development of Cascade Reactions for the Concise Construction of Diverse Heterocyclic Architectures." *Acc. Chem. Res.*, 45, 1278-1293.

Makarem, S., Mohammadi, A.A. and Fakhari, A. R. (2008). "A multi-component electro-organic synthesis of 2-amino-4H-chromenes." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 49, 7194–7196.

Manley, J.M., Kalman, M.J., Conway, B.G., Ball, C.C., Havens, J.L. and Vaidyanathan, R. (2003). "Early Amidation Approach to 3-[(4-Amido)pyrrol-2-yl]-2-indolinones." *J. Org. Chem.*, 68, 6447-6450.

Martins, M.A.P., Frizzo, C.P., Moreira, D.N., Buriol, L. and Machado, P. (2009) "Solvent-free heterocyclic synthesis." *Chem. Rev.*, 109, 4140–4182.

Mashkouri, S. and Naimi-Jamal, M.R. (2009). "Mechanochemical Solvent-Free and Catalyst-Free One-Pot Synthesis of Pyrano[2,3-d]Pyrimidine-2,4(1H,3H)-Diones with Quantitative Yields." *Molecules*, 14, 474-479.

Matar, H.M.A., Khalil, K.D. Adam, A.Y. and Elnagdi, M.H. (2010). "Green One Pot Solvent-Free Synthesis of Pyrano[2,3-*c*]-Pyrazoles and Pyrazolo[1,5-*a*]Pyrimidines." *Molecules*, 15, 6619-6629.

Mickevicius, V. and Patupaite, A. (2000). "Cyclization of N-(2,4,6-trimethylphenyl)β-alanines." *Chem. Heterocycl. Compd.*, 36, 837-840.

Mickevicius, V., Mickevicius, M. and Vaickelioniene, R. (2004). "Sythesis and cyclization of N-(4-phenoxyphenyll)- $\beta$ -alanines." *Chem. Heterocycl. Compd.*, 40, 781-787.

Millar, R.W., Philbin, S.P., Claridge R.P. and Hamid, J. (2004). "Studies of Novel Heterocyclic Insensitive High Explosive Compounds: Pyridines, Pyrimidines, Pyrazines and Their Bicyclic Analogues." *Propellants, Explos., Pyrotech.*, 29, 81-92.

Minetto, G., Raveglia, L.F. and Taddei, M. (2004). "Microwave-Assisted Paal–Knorr Reaction. A Rapid Approach to Substituted Pyrroles and Furans." *Org. Lett.*, 6, 389– 392.

Mitra, A.K., De, A. and Karchaudhuri, N. (1999) "Solvent-Free microwave enhanced Knoevenagel condensation of ethyl cyanoacetate with aldehydes." *Synth. Commun.*, 29(16), 2731-2739.

Moghadam K.R. and Samavi, L. (2006). "One-pot Three-component Synthesis of 2-Substituted 4-Aminoquinazolines." *J. Heterocyclic Chem.*, 43, 913-916.

Mohamed, E.A., Ismail, M.M., Gabr, Y., Abass, M. and Farrag, H.A. (1995). "Synthesis and Biological Activity of Some 3-heterocyclyl-4-hydroxy-6-methyl-2(1H)-quinolones." *Indian J. Chem.*, 34B, 21-26. Movassagh, B. and Beigi, M.S. (2008) "Synthesis of Thiocarbamates from Thiols and Isocyanates Under Catalyst- and Solvent-Free Conditions." *Monatsh. Chem.*, 139, 137–140.

Mulla, S.A.R., Sudalai, A., Pathan, M.Y., Siddique, S.A., Inamdar, S.M., Chavan, S.S. and Reddy, R.S. (2012). "Efficient, rapid synthesis of bis(indolyl)methane using ethyl ammonium nitrate as an ionic liquid." *RSC Adv.*, *2*, 3525–3529.

Nicolaou, K.C. and Chen, J.S. (2009). "The art of total synthesis through cascade reactions." *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 38, 2993-3009.

Nicolaou, K.C., Edmonds, D.J. and Bulger, P.G. (2006). "Cascade Reactions in Total Synthesis." *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 45, 7134–7186.

Noolvi, M.N., Patel, H.M., Bhardwaj, V. and Chauhan, A. (2011). "Synthesis and in vitro antitumor activity of substituted quinazoline and quinoxaline derivatives: Search for anticancer agent." *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 46, 2327–2346.

Obrador, E., Castro, M., Tamariz, J., Zepeda, G., Miranda, R. and Garcia, J. (1998). "Knoevenagel condensation in heterogeneous phase catalyzed by IR radiation and tonsil actisil FF" *Synth. Commun.*, 28(24), 4649-4663.

O'Callaghan, C.N., McMurry T.B.H., and O'Brien, J.E. (1995). "Synthetic reactions of 2-(2-amino-3-cyano-LZH-[l]benzopyran-4-yl)propane-1.3-dinitrile with reactive methylene compounds." *J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. I.*, 417-420.

Palmieri, A., Gabrielli, S., Cimarelli, C. and Ballini, R. (2011). "Fast, mild, ecofriendly synthesis of polyfunctionalized pyrroles from  $\beta$ -nitroacrylates and  $\beta$ enaminones." *Green Chem.*, 13, 3333-3336.

Panja, S.K., Dwivedi N. and Saha, S. (2012). "I<sub>2</sub>- Catalyzed three-component protocol for the synthesis of quinazolines." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 53, 6167-6172.

Paquette, L.A. and Hofferberth, J.E. (2004). "The  $\alpha$ -Hydroxy Ketone ( $\alpha$ -Ketol) and Related Rearrangements." *Organic Reactions*, 477-567.

Polshettiwar, V. and Varma, R.S. (2010). "Nano-organocatalyst: magnetically retrievable ferrite-anchored glutathione for microwave-assisted Paal–Knorr reaction, aza-Michael addition, and pyrazole synthesis." *Tetrahedron*, 66, 1091–1097.

Procopiou, P.A., Draper, C.D., Hutson, J.L., Inglis, G.G.A., Ross, B.C. and Watson, N.S. (1993). "Inhibitors of cholesterol biosynthesis. 2. 3,5-Dihydroxy-7-(N-pyrrolyl)-6-heptenoates, a novel series of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors." *J. Med. Chem.*, 36, 3658-3662.

Ramachari, D.B. and Kishor, M. (2007), "Organocatalytic Sequential One-Pot Double Cascade Asymmetric Synthesis of Wieland-Miescher Ketone Analogues from a Knoevenagel/Hydrogenation/Robinson Annulation Sequence: Scope and Applications of Organocatalytic Biomimetic Reductions." *J. Org. Chem.* 72, 5056-5068.

Ranu, B.C. and Hajra, A. (2002). "A simple and green procedure for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -aminophosphonate by a one-pot three-component condensation of carbonyl compound, amine and diethyl phosphite without solvent and catalyst." *Green Chem.*, 4, 551–554.

Ranu, B.C. and Banerjee, S. (2007). "Significant rate acceleration of the aza-Michael reaction in water." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 48, 141–143.

Ranu, B.C., Dey, S.S. and Hajra, A. (2002). "Solvent-free, catalyst-free Michael-type addition of amines to electron-deficient alkenes." *ARKIVOC*, *7*, 76–81.

Ranu, B.C., Dey, S.S. and Hajra, A. (2003). "Highly efficient acylation of alcohols, amines and thiols under solvent-free and catalyst-free conditions." *Green Chem.*, 5, 44–46.

Rao, P.S. and Venkataratnam, R.V. (1991). "Zinc chloride as a new catalyst for Knoevenagel condensation." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 32(41), 5821-5822.

Raynes, K. (1999). "Bisquinoline antimalarials: their role in malaria chemotherapy." *International Journal for Parasitology*, 29, 367-379.

Reboule, I., Gil, R. and Collin, J. (2005). "Aza-Michael reactions catalyzed by samarium diiodide." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 46, 7761–7764.

Reddy, B.M., Patil, M.K. and Reddy, B.T. (2008). "An efficient protocol for aza-Michael addition reactions under solvent-free condition employing sulfated zirconia catalyst." *Catal. Lett.*, 126, 413–418.

Reddy, G.R., Reddy, T.R., Joseph, S.C., Reddy K.S. and Pal, M. (2012). "Iodine catalyzed four-component reaction: a straightforward one-pot synthesis of functionalized pyrroles under metal-free conditions." *RSC Adv.*, 2, 3387-3395.

Reddy, K.H.V. and Leelavathi, P. (2013). "Green approach Synthesis of Bis(indolyl)methanes Under Solvent Free, Catalyst Free Conditions." *Indian Journal of Advances in Chemical Science*, 1(2), 84-87.

Reddy, T.R., Reddy, L.S., Reddy, G.R., Nuthalapati, V.S., Lingappa, Y., Sandra, S., Kapavarapu, R., Misra P. and Pal, M. (2011). "A Pd-mediated new strategy to functionalized 2-aminochromenes: Their in vitro evaluation as potential anti tuberculosis agents." *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 21(21), 6433-6439.

Ren, Z., Cao W. and Tong, W. (2002). "The Knoevenagel condensation reaction of aromatic aldehydes with malononitrile by grinding in the absence of solvents and catalysts." *Synth. Commun.*, 32, 3475-3479.

Rodriguez, B., Bruckmann, A., Rantanen, T. and Bolm, C. (2007). "Solvent-Free Carbon-Carbon Bond Formations in Ball Mills." *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 349, 2213 – 2233.

Rothenberg, G., Downie, A.P., Raston, C.L., and Scott, J.L. (2001). "Understanding solid/solid organic reactions." *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 123, 8701-8708.

Saari, R., Törmä, J.-C. and Nevalainen, T. (2011). "Microwave-assisted synthesis of quinoline, isoquinoline, quinoxaline and quinazoline derivatives as CB2 receptor agonists." *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 19, 939–950.

Sabitha, G., Reddy, B.V.S., Babu, R.S. and Yadav, J.S. (1998). "LiCl Catalyzed Knoevenagel condensation: Comparative study of conventional method vs microwave irradiation." *Chem. Lett.*, 27, 773-774.

Saidi, M.R., Pourshojaei, Y. and Aryanasab, F. (2009). "Highly efficient Michael addition reaction of amines catalyzed by silica- supported aluminum chloride." *Synth. Commun.*, 39, 1109–1119.

Sakurai, A., Motomura, Y. and Midorikawa, H. (1972). "Substituted benzopyranopyridopyrimidine ring syntheses by the ternary condensation of malononitrile, salicylaldehyde, and aromatic ketones in the presence of ammonium acetate." *J. Org. Chem.*, 37(10), 1523-1526.

Samai, S., Nandi, G.C., Kumar, R. and Singh, M.S. (2009). "Multicomponent one-pot solvent-free synthesis of functionalized unsymmetrical dihydro-1*H*-indeno[1,2-*b*]pyridines." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 50, 7096–7098.

Sanderson, K. (2011). "It's not easy being green." Nature, 469, 18-20.

Sasada, T., Kobayashi, F., Sakai, N., and Konakahara, T. (2009). "An Unprecedented Approach to 4,5-Disubstituted Pyrimidine Derivatives by a ZnCl<sub>2</sub>-Catalyzed Three-Component Coupling Reaction." *Org. Lett.*, 11, 2161-2164.

Schneider, F., Szuppa, T., Stolle, A., Ondruschka B. and Hopf, H. (2009). "Energetic assessment of the Suzuki–Miyaura reaction: a curtate life cycle assessment as an easily understandable and applicable tool for reaction optimization" *Green Chem.*, 11, 1894–1899.

Schnurch, M., Holzweber, M., Mihovilovic M.D. and Stanetty, P. (2007). "A facile and green synthetic route to boronic acid esters utilizing Mechanochemistry." *Green Chem.*, 9, 139–145.

Selvam T.P. and Kumar, P.V. (2011). "Quinazoline Marketed drugs – A Review." *Research in Pharmacy*, 1, 1-21.

Seo, H.N., Choi, J.Y., Choe, Y.J., Kim, Y., Rhim, H., Lee, S.H., Kim, J., Joo, D.J. and Lee, J.Y. (2007). "Discovery of potent T-type calcium channel blocker." *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 17, 5740-5743.

Sessler, J.L., Pantos, G.D., Gale, P.A. and Light, M.E. (2006). "Synthesis and Anion Binding Properties of N,N'-Bispyrrol-2-yl-2,5-diamidopyrrole." *Org. Lett.* 8, 1593-1596.

Sessler, J.L.G., Pantos, D., Gale, P.A., and Light, M.E. (2006). "Synthesis and Anion Binding Properties of *N*,*N*<sup>4</sup>-Bispyrrol-2-yl-2,5-diamidopyrrole." *Org. Lett.*, 8 1593–1596.

Sharma, R. and Prajapati, D. (2011). "Microwave-promoted efficient synthesis of dihydroquinazolines." *Green Chem.*, 13, 718-722.

Shen, L., Cao, S., Wu, J., Zhang, J., Li, H., Liu N. and Qian, X. (2009). "A revisit to the Hantzsch reaction: Unexpected products beyond 1,4-dihydropyridines." *Green Chem.*, 11, 1414–1420.

Shindalkar, S.S., Madje, B.R. and Shingare, M.S. (2005). "Ultrasonically accelerated Knoevenagel condensation reaction at room temperature in distilled water." *Indian J. of Chem., Sec B*, 44, 1519-1521.

Shiner, C.M. and Lash, T.D. (2005). "Porphyrins with exocyclic rings. Part 21: Influence of pyrrolic and carbocyclic ring alkyl substituents on the synthesis of porphyrins bearing six-membered exocyclic rings." *Tetrahedron*, 61, 11628-11640.

Silverstein, R.M. (2007). *Spectrometric Identification of Organic Compounds*, Wiley, New Delhi, 81-104.

Simon, C., Contantieux, T. and Rodriguez, J. (2004). "Utilisation of 1,3-Dicarbonyl Derivatives in Multicomponent Reactions." *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 4957-4980.

Singh, M.S. and Chowdhury, S. (2012). "Recent developments in solvent-free multicomponent reactions: a perfect synergy for eco-compatible organic synthesis." *RSC Adv.*, 2, 4547-4592.

Sithambaram, S., Ding, Y., Li, W., Shen, X., Gaenzler F. and Suib, S.L. (2008). "Manganese octahedral molecular sieves catalyzed tandem process for synthesis of quinoxalines." *Green Chem.*, 10, 1029-1032.

Sotoca, E., Constantieux, T., Rodriguez, J. (2008). "Solvent- and Catalyst-Free Three-Component Reaction with  $\beta$ -Ketoamides for the Stereoselective One-Pot Access to 1,4-Diazepines." *Synlett*, 1313-1316.

Sridevi, C., Shanthi, G. and Velraj, G. (2012). "Structural, vibrational, electronic, NMR and reactivity analyses of 2-amino-4*H*-chromene-3-carbonitrile (ACC) by ab initio HF and DFT calculations." *Spectrochim. Acta, Part A*, 89, 46-54.

Stadlbauer, W., Badawey, E., Hojas, G., Roschger, P. and Kappe T. (2001). "Malonates in Cyclocondensation Reactions." *Molecules*, 6, 338-352.

Stolle, A., Szuppa, T., Leonhardt, S.E.S. and Ondruschka, B. (2011). "Ball milling in organic synthesis: solutions and challenges." 40, 2317-2329.

Stuart, B. H. (2004). *Infrared Spectroscopy: Fundamentals and Applications*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, 71-88.

Surendra, K., Krishnaveni, N.S., Sridhar, R. and Rao R.K. (2006). "β-Cyclodextrin promoted aza-Michael addition of amines to conjugated alkenes in water." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 47, 2125–2127.

Suresh, R., Muthusubramanian, S., Nagaraj, M. and Manickam, G. (2013). "Indium trichloride catalyzed regioselective synthesis of substituted pyrroles in water." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 54, 17791784.

Talukdar, D. and Thakur, A.J. (2013). "A green synthesis of symmetrical bis(indol-3yl)methanes using phosphate-impregnated titania catalyst under solvent free grinding conditions." *Green Chem. Lett. Rev.*, 6, 55-61.

Tamaddon, F. and Farahi, M. (2012). "A New Three-Component Reactions Catalysed by Silica Sulfuric Acid: Synthesis of Tetrasubstituted Pyrroles." *Synlett* 23, 1379-1383.

Tamaddon, F., Farahi, M. and Karami, B. (2012). "Molybdate sulfuric acid as a reusable solid catalyst in the synthesis of 2,3,4,5-tetrasubstituted pyrroles via a new one-pot [2+2+1] strategy." *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.*, 356, 85-89.

Tan, J.-N. Li, M. and Gu, Y. (2010). "Multicomponent reactions of 1,3-disubstituted 5-pyrazolones and formaldehyde in environmentally benign solvent systems and their variations with more fundamental substrates." *Green Chem.*, 12, 908–914.

Tanaka, K. (2003). Solvent-free Organic Synthesis, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.

Tanaka, K. and Toda, F. (2000). "Solvent-Free Organic Synthesis." *Chem. Rev.*, 100, 1025-1074.

Tietze, L.F., Beifuss, U.(1991) *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis* Trost, B.M. and Fleming, I. eds., Pergamon Press, Oxford, 341 – 394.

Tiwari, R. and Chhabra, G. (2010). "Evaluation of Antibacterial Activity of Novel Quinazoline Derivatives." *Asian J. Chem.*, 22, 5981–5986.

Toda, F. (1995). "Solid state organic chemistry: Efficient reactions, remarkable yields, and stereoselectivity." *Acc. Chem. Res.*, 28(12), 480-486.

Toda, F. (2005). "Thermal and Photochemical Reactions in the Solid State." *Top. Curr. Chem.*, 254, 1-40.

Trofimov, B.A., Sobenina, L.N., Demenev A.P. and Mikhaleva, A.I. (2004). "*C*-Vinylpyrroles as Pyrrole Building Blocks." *Chem. Rev.*, 104, 2481-2506.

Trotzki, R., Hoffmann M.M. and Ondruschka, B. (2008a). "Studies on the solvent-free and waste-free Knoevenagel condensation." *Green Chem.*, 10, 767–772.

Trotzki, R., Hoffmann M.M. and Ondruschka, B. (2008b). "The Knoevenagel condensation at room temperature." *Green Chem.*, 10, 873–878.

Vaghei, R.G., Semiromi, Z.T. and Nami, R.K. (2011). "One-pot synthesis of 4*H*-Chromene and dihydropyrano[3,2-*c*]chromene derivatives in hydroalcoholic media." *J. Braz. Chem. Soc.*, 22, 905-909.

Vaickelioniene, R., Mickevicius, V. and Mikulskiene, G. (2005). "Synthesis and cyclizations of N-(2,3-, 3,4- and 3,5-dimethylphenyl)- $\beta$ -alanines." *Molecules*, 10, 407-416.

Verma, R.K., Verma, G.K., Shukla, G., Nagaraju, A. and Singh, M.S. (2012). "4-Dimethylamino Pyridine-Promoted One-Pot Three-Component Synthesis of Highly Functionalized 4*H*-Thiopyrans via Heteroannulation of  $\beta$ -Oxodithioesters." *ACS Comb. Sci.*, 14, 224-230.

Verma, S., Jain, S.L. and Sain, B. (2011). "An efficient biomaterial supported bifunctional organocatalyst (ES-SO<sub>3</sub>- C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>5</sub>NH<sup>+</sup>) for the synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino carbonyls." *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 9, 2314–2318.

Vuluga, D., Legros, J., Crousse, B. and Delpon, D.B. (2009). "Synthesis of pyrazoles through catalyst-free cycloaddition of diazo compounds to alkynes." *Green Chem.*, 11, 156–159.

Wabnitz, T.C. and Spencer, J.B. (2003). "A general, bronsted acid-catalyzed hetero-Michael addition of nitrogen, oxygen, and sulfur nucleophiles." *Org. Lett.*, 5, 2141-2144.

Wada, S. and Suzuki, H. (2003). "Calcite and fluorite as catalyst for the Knoevenagel condensation of malononitrile and methyl cyanoacetate under solvent-free conditions." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 44, 399-401.

Waisser, K., Gregor, J., Dostal, H., Kunes, J., Kubicova, L., Klimesova, V. and Kaustova, J. (2001). "Influence of the replacement of the oxo function with the thioxo group on the antimycobacterial activity of 3-aryl-6,8-dichloro-2*H*-1,3-benzoxazine-2,4(3*H*)-diones and 3-arylquinazoline-2,4(1*H*,3*H*)-diones." *Il Farmaco*, 56, 803.

Walsh, C.T., Tsodikova, G.S., Jones, H.A. (2006). "Biological formation of pyrroles: Nature's logic and enzymatic machinery." *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 23, 517-531.

Wan, J.–P. and Liu, Y. (2012). "Recent advances in new multicomponent synthesis of structurally diversified 1,4-dihydropyridines." *RSC. Advances*, 2, 9763-9777.

Xie, J.-W., Yue, L., Chen, W., Du, W., Zhu, J., Deng, J.-G. and Chen, Y.-C. (2007). "Highly Enantioselective Michael Addition of Cyclic 1,3-Dicarbonyl Compounds to  $\alpha,\beta$ -Unsaturated Ketones." *Org. Lett.*, 9, 413-415.

Xie, Z.-B., Wang, N., Wu, M.-Y., He, T., Le, Z.-G. and Yu, X.-Q. (2012). "Catalystfree and solvent-free Michael addition of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds to nitroalkenes by a grinding method." *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.*, 8, 534–538.

Xu, L.W., Li, J.W., Zhou, S.L. and Xia, C.G. (2004). "A green, ionic liquid and quaternary ammonium salt-catalyzed aza-Michael reaction of  $\alpha,\beta$ -ethylenic compounds with amines in water." *New J. Chem.*, 28, 183–184.

Xue, W.-J., Li, Q., Zhu, Y.-P., Wang, J.-G. and Wu, A.-X. (2012). "Convergent integration of two self-labor domino sequences: a novel method for the synthesis of oxazole derivatives from methyl ketones and benzoins." *Chem. Commun.*, 48, 3485-3487.

Yadav, J.S., Reddy, B.V.S., Gupta, M.K., Prathap, I. and Pandey, S.K. (2007). "Amberlyst A-21: an efficient, cost-effective and recyclable catalyst for the synthesis of substituted 4H-chromenes." *Catal. Commun.*, 8, 2208–2211.

Yan, S., Chen, Y., Liu, L., He, N. and Lin, J. (2010). "Three-component solvent-free synthesis of highly substituted bicyclic pyridines containing a ring-junction nitrogen." *Green Chem.*, 12, 2043–2052.

Yang, L., Xu, L.W., Zhou, W., Li, L. and Xia, C.G. (2006). "Highly efficient aza-Michael reactions of aromatic amines and N-heterocycles catalyzed by a basic ionic liquid under solvent-free conditions." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 47, 7723–7726.

Yu, F., Yan, S., Huang, R., Tang, Y. and Lin, J. (2011). "Three-component solvent-free synthesis of highly substituted tetrahydroimidazo[1,2-*a*]pyridines." *RSC Adv.*, 1, 596-601.

Zeng, L., Miller, E.W., Pralle, A., Isacoff, E.Y. and Chang, C.J. (2006). "A Selective Turn-On Fluorescent Sensor for Imaging Copper in Living Cells." *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 128, 10-11.

Zhang, J., Cui, Z., Wang, F., Wang, Y., Miao, Z. and Chen, R. (2007). "Mannich type reactions of chlorophosphites, phosphoramides and aldehydes (ketones) under solvent-free and catalyst-free conditions—synthesis of N-phosphoramino  $\alpha$ -aminophosphonates." *Green Chem.*, 9, 1341–1345.

Zhang, J.T., Zhu, D.P., Yu, C.M., Wan C.F. and Wang, Z.Y. (2010). "A Simple and Efficient Approach to the Synthesis of 2-Phenylquinazolines via sp<sup>3</sup> C–H Functionalization." *Org. Lett.*, 12, 2841-2843.

Zhang, Z.H., Zhang, X.N., Mo, L.P., Li Y.X. and Ma, F.P. (2012). "Catalyst-free synthesis of quinazoline derivatives using low melting sugar–urea–salt mixture as a solvent." *Green Chem.*, 14, 1502-1506.

Zhang, Z.-Z., Zhang, N.-T., Hu, L.-M., Wei, Z.-Q., Zeng, C.-C., Zhong, R.-G. and She, Y.-B. (2011). "Electrochemically induced cascade Knoevenagel–Michael reactions of tetronic acid and aldehydes: synthesis of methylenebistetronic acids." *RSC Adv.*, 1, 1383–1388.

Zhu, J. and Bienayme, H. (2005). *Multicomponent Reactions*, Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany.

Zilkha, A. and Rivlin, J. (1957). "Syntheses of DL-p-aminobutyric acid and its N-alkyl derivatives." J. Org. Chem., 23, 94-96.

## LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Papers communicated/ accepted in international journals.

- Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R. "A Facile, Solvent and Catalyst-Free Synthesis of N-Substituted β-Aminobutyric Acids By Aza-Michael Addition." *Environ. Chem. Lett.*, 11, 91-97.
- Bhat, S.I., Choudhury, A.R. and Trivedi, D.R. (2012). "Condensation of malononitrile with salicylaldehydes and *o*-aminobenzaldehydes revisited: Solvent- and catalyst-free synthesis of 4*H*-chromenes and quinolines." *RSC Advances*, 2, 10556-10563.
- Bhat, S.I., Das, U.K. and Trivedi, D.R. "An efficient three component, one-pot synthesis of quinazolines under solvent-free and catalyst-free condition."
  Manuscript under review.
- Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R. (2013) "A catalyst- and solvent-free threecomponent reaction for the regioselective one-pot access to polyfunctionalized pyrroles." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 54, 5577-5582.
- Bhat, S.I and Trivedi, D.R. "A highly efficient and green cascade synthesis of 3-methyl-substituted-4-hydroxy-1-methyl-quinolin-2(1*H*)-ones under solventand catalyst-free conditions."

-Manuscript under revision.

## Paper presented in national and international conferences

Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R. (2011). "Microwave Assisted Knoevenagel Condensation Under Solvent- and Catalyst-Free Conditions." Paper presented in "International Conference on Futuristic Science and Technology in Frontier Areas & 2<sup>nd</sup> Annual Conference of Indian JSPS Alumni Association." August 05-06, (Organised by JSPS Alumni Association & SCTIMST), Tiruvantapuram.

## **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Subrahmanya Ishwar Bhat Subrahmanya.ib@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9741644898

# Education

01/2010-present	PhD (Organic Chemisrty)
	Department of Chemistry
	National Institute of Technology Karnataka, India
	Title: "Deveopment of Synthetic Routes for Carbon-
	Carbon and Carbon-Heteroatom Bond Formation Under
	Solvent- and Catalyst- Free conditions."
	Supervisor: Dr. Darshak R. Trivedi
06/2005-12/2007	M. Sc. (Industrial Chemistry: 80.1%)
	Department of Industrial Chemistry
	Jnana Sahyadri Shankaraghatta
	Kuvempu University, Shimoga, Karnataka, India
06/2003-12/2005	<b>B. Sc.</b> (Physics Chemistry, Mathematics: 73.4%)
	Dr. A. V. Baliga College of A & Sc. Kumta
	(Affiliated to Karnataka University, Dharwad,
	Karnataka, India)

# **Research Experience**

01/2010-present	Research Scholar		
	Department of Chemistry		
	National Institute of Technology Karnataka, India		
	Research Area: Green Synthesis of Biologically		
	Important Organic Molecules		
06/2007-01/2010	Scientist		
	Syngene International Ltd. (Synthetic Chemistry		
	department)		
	Biocon, India. (http://www.syngeneintl.com)		
	Research Area: Synthesis, Purification and		
	Characterization of New Chemical Entities.		

## Skills

#### > Synthetic Skills

- Good knowledge of handling and work-up procedures of *poisonous reagents* like cyanide (up to 200 G)
- Handled *Hazardous/flammable reagents* like Borane dimethyl sulphide, DIBAL-H, BBr<sub>3</sub>, BuLi, sodium triacetoxy borohydride etc.
- Hydrogenation using Pd/C, Adams catalyst
- Performed various reactions like Suzuki, Grignard, Vilsmeier-Haack, Mitsunobu, Knoevenagel, Michael etc.
- Developed solvent free methods in one-pot multicomponent synthesis of some biologically important heterocycles

#### Purification Techniques handled

- Column chromatography (from 5 mg 300 G scale)
- Biotage (Parallel column purifier and Isolera)
- Single and multichannel combiflash

#### > Analytical Techniques handled

- Single crystal X-ray diffractometer (Bruker Apex duo)
- IR (Thermo scientific, Nicolet AVATAR)
- UV-VIS spectrometer (Analytikjena Specord)
- Spectrofluorometer (JASCO)

### > Other Sophisticated Instruments handled

- Biotage microwave reactor
- Buchi Rotavapor (Container size 8 ml to 20 L)
- Gene Vac Multivapor (EZ- 2 AND HT- 4X)
- Radley's Parallel synthesizer (heating and cooling unit)
- Mettler Toledo auto vial weighing system
- Retsch vibratory shaker

### Computer knowledge

- MS OFFICE
- MestReNova (NMR processing software)
- APEX2; Mercury (SCXRD softwares)
- Chemistry software packages like Chemdraw, ISIS draw, Chemsketch

#### **Research Publications**

#### Papers published/ communicated in international journals.

- 1. Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R. (2013). "A Facile, Solvent and Catalyst-Free Synthesis of N-Substituted  $\beta$ -Aminobutyric Acids By Aza-Michael Addition." *Environ. Chem. Lett.* 11, 91-97.
- 2. Bhat, S.I., Choudhury, A.R. and Trivedi, D.R. (2012). "Condensation of malononitrile with salicylaldehydes and *o*-aminobenzaldehydes revisited: Solvent and catalyst free synthesis of 4*H*-chromenes and quinolines." *RSC Advances*, 2, 10556-10563.
- Bhat, S.I., Das, U.K. and Trivedi, D.R. "An efficient three component, one-pot synthesis of quinazolines under solvent-free and catalyst-free condition."
   Manuscript under review (J. Heterocycl. Chem.).
- 4. Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R. (2013) "A catalyst- and solvent-free three-component reaction for the regioselective one-pot access to polyfunctionalized pyrroles." *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 54, 5577-5582.
- 5. Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R."A highly efficient and green cascade synthesis of 3methyl-substituted-4-hydroxy-1-methyl-quinolin-2(1*H*)-ones under solvent- and catalyst-free conditions."

- Manuscript under revision (RSC Advances).

#### Paper presented in international conference

1. Bhat, S.I. and Trivedi, D.R. (2011). "Microwave Assisted Knoevenagel Condensation Under Solvent and Catalyst Free Conditions." Paper presented in "International Conference on Futuristic Science and Technology in Frontier Areas." August 05-06, (Organised by JSPS Alumni Association & SCTIMST), Tiruvantapuram.

#### **Personal details**

Permanent Address	Subrahmanya Ishwar Bhat
	S/o Ishwar Narayan Bhat,
	Kandavalli, Kallabbe Post,
	Kumta Taluk, (U. K. 581362)
	Karnataka, India.
E-mail	subrahmanya.ib@gmail.com
Mobile	+91-9741644898

#### Reference

Dr. Darshak R. Trivedi	Mr. Krishne Gowda M.	
Asst. Professor	Associate scientific manager,	
Dept. of Chemistry	Syngene International Limited,	
NITK-Surathkal,	Biocon park, Plot No. 2&3,	
Mangalore 575025	Bangalore-560 099.	
Karnataka, India.	Karnataka, India.	